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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial
position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “goals,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue” and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:
 

 •  our plans to develop and commercialize our product candidates based on our proprietary bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform;
 

 

•  our ongoing and planned clinical trials, including our third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA™ for the treatment of post-surgical ocular
inflammation and pain, our Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis, our Phase 2 clinical trial of
DEXTENZA for inflammatory dry eye disease and our Phase 2b clinical trial and additional clinical trials of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma
and ocular hypertension;

 

 
•  the timing of and our ability to submit applications for, obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for DEXTENZA, including the New Drug

Application we submitted to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain, OTX-TP and our other
product candidates;

 

 •  our commercialization of ReSure Sealant;
 

 •  the potential advantages of ReSure Sealant and our product candidates;
 

 •  the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our products and our ability to secure reimbursement for our products;
 

 •  the preclinical development of our intravitreal depot with protein-based or small molecule drugs, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors, or TKIs, for
the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration and other back-of-the-eye diseases;

 

 •  our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity for DEXTENZA, OTX-TP, ReSure Sealant and our other product candidates;
 

 •  our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing plans, capabilities and strategy;
 

 •  the costs of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization efforts with respect to ReSure Sealant and any additional
products, including DEXTENZA, for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;

 

 •  our intellectual property position;
 

 •  our ability to identify additional products, product candidates or technologies with significant commercial potential that are consistent with our
commercial objectives;

 

 •  our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
 

 •  our plans to raise additional capital, including through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements
and marketing and distribution arrangements;

 

 •  the impact of government laws and regulations; and
 

 •  our competitive position.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on
our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking
statements we make. We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the “Risk
Factors” section, that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements
do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q completely
and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We do not assume any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
 

1



Table of Contents

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements.

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
 
   

June 30,
2016   

December 31,
2015  

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 48,170   $ 30,784  
Marketable securities    35,717    74,280  
Accounts receivable    223    193  
Inventory    149    134  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    715    1,592  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    84,974    106,983  
Property and equipment, net    3,199    3,095  
Restricted cash    1,728    228  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 89,901   $ 110,306  
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 1,611   $ 1,957  
Accrued expenses and deferred rent    2,342    3,379  
Deferred revenue    —     42  
Notes payable, net of discount, current    2,466    —   

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    6,419    5,378  
Deferred rent, long-term    42    68  
Notes payable, net of discount, long-term    12,992    15,272  

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    19,453    20,718  
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, no shares issued
or outstanding at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015    —     —   

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, 24,821,530
and 24,750,281 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively    2    2  

Additional paid-in capital    221,897    218,830  
Accumulated deficit    (151,461)   (129,176) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    10   (68) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    70,448    89,588  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 89,901   $ 110,306  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2016   2015   2016   2015  
Revenue:    

Product revenue   $ 441   $ 334   $ 857   $ 572  
Collaboration revenue    —      125    42    313  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenue:    441    459    899    885  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Costs and operating expenses:    
Cost of product revenue    105    80    204    136  
Research and development    6,978    6,743    14,051    11,462  
Selling and marketing    1,492    1,041    2,881    1,911  
General and administrative    2,973    2,230    5,379    4,124  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total costs and operating expenses    11,548    10,094    22,515    17,633  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (11,107)   (9,635)   (21,616)   (16,748) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Other income (expense):    
Interest income    80    28    167    68  
Interest expense    (418)   (405)   (836)   (910) 
Other income (expense), net    —      3    —      3  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total other expense, net    (338)   (374)   (669)   (839) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net loss    (11,445)   (10,009)   (22,285)   (17,587) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.46)  $ (0.45)  $ (0.90)  $ (0.81) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted    24,770,059    22,167,274    24,761,498    21,765,087  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Comprehensive loss:      
Net loss   $ (11,445)  $ (10,009)  $ (22,285)  $ (17,587) 

Other comprehensive income (loss):      
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities    10    (8)   78    (8) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)    10    (8)   78    (8) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total comprehensive loss   $ (11,435)  $ (10,017)  $ (22,207)  $ (17,595) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 
   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2016   2015  
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net loss   $(22,285)  $(17,587) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities    

Stock-based compensation expense    2,864    2,073  
Non-cash interest expense    71    74  
Depreciation and amortization expense    412    360  
Gain on disposal of property and equipment    —     (3) 
Purchase of (premium) discount on marketable securities    (12)   25  
Amortization of premium on marketable securities, net    153    39  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable    (30)   165  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    877    (749) 
Inventory    (15)   (12) 
Accounts payable    (462)   651  
Accrued expenses and deferred rent    (589)   (380) 
Deferred revenue    (42)   (63) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (19,058)   (15,407) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Purchases of property and equipment    (370)   (1,229) 
Purchases of investments    (11,500)   (17,500) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment    —     7  
Change in restricted cash    (1,500)   —   
Maturities of investments    50,000    9,826 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    36,630    (8,896) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options    75    144  
Proceeds from issuance of public offerings, net    —     65,646  
Proceeds from issuance common stock pursuant to employee stock purchase plan    128   148  
Payments of insurance costs financed by a third-party    (389)   (342) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (186)   65,596  
    

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    17,386    41,293  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    30,784    37,393  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 48,170   $ 78,686  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:    
Additions to property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 188   $ 134  
Deferred offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses    —     5  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 12, 2006 under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company is a
biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of innovative therapies for diseases and conditions of the eye using its
proprietary hydrogel platform technology. The Company’s bioresorbable hydrogel-based product candidates are designed to provide sustained delivery of
therapeutic agents to the eye. Since inception, the Company’s operations have been primarily focused on organizing and staffing the Company, acquiring rights to
intellectual property, business planning, raising capital, developing its technology, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and
clinical trials, manufacturing initial quantities of its products and product candidates and building the initial sales and marketing infrastructure for the
commercialization of the Company’s approved product and product candidates.

The Company’s most advanced product candidate, DEXTENZA, is in Phase 3 clinical development for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation
and pain, and in September 2015, the Company submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) a New Drug Application, or NDA, for DEXTENZA for
the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain. On July 25, 2016, the Company announced that it had received a Complete Response Letter, or CRL, from the FDA
regarding the NDA for DEXTENZA. In the CRL, the concerns raised by the FDA pertain to deficiencies in manufacturing process and controls identified during
a pre-NDA approval inspection of the Company’s manufacturing facility. The FDA’s letter did not provide any details as to which manufacturing deficiencies
identified during the facility inspection remained open since the last response submitted by the Company. The satisfactory resolution of the manufacturing
deficiencies identified during the FDA facility inspection is required before the NDA may be approved. The FDA’s letter did not identify any efficacy or safety
concerns with respect to the clinical data provided in the NDA nor any need for additional clinical trials for the approval of the NDA. On August 3, 2016, the
Company announced that it had received a letter from the FDA New England District Office (District Office) providing additional details pertaining to the
manufacturing facility inspection observations. The FDA District Office letter stated that the corrective actions included in the Company’s prior responses appear
as a whole to adequately address the ten inspectional observations raised in the Form 483 letter the Company received in February 2016 from the FDA, with one
exception which relates to the proposed process for identity testing of an incoming inert gas component used in the Company’s manufacturing process. The FDA
District Letter also requested evidence (e.g., a final report) when the planned migration of analytical testing from manual to an automatic integration is
complete. There were no other issues identified in the FDA District Letter. The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry
including, but not limited to, new technological innovations, protection of proprietary technology, dependence on key personnel, compliance with government
regulations, regulatory approval, uncertainty of market acceptance of products and the need to obtain additional financing. Product candidates currently under
development will require significant additional research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory approval,
prior to commercialization.

As of June 30, 2016, the Company’s lead product candidates were in development. There can be no assurance that the Company’s research and
development will be successfully completed, that adequate protection for the Company’s intellectual property will be obtained, that any products developed will
obtain necessary government regulatory approval and adequate reimbursement or that any approved products will be commercially viable. Even if the Company’s
product development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will generate significant revenue from product sales. The Company
operates in an environment of rapid change in technology and substantial competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. In addition,
the Company is dependent upon the services of its employees and consultants. The Company does not expect to generate significant revenue from sales of any
product for several years, if at all. Accordingly, the Company will need to obtain additional capital to finance its operations. If the Company is unable to raise
capital when needed or on attractive terms, the Company could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate its research and development programs or any future
commercialization efforts or to relinquish valuable rights to its technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on
terms that may not be favorable to the Company. Although management continues to pursue these plans, there is no assurance that the Company will be
successful in obtaining sufficient funding on terms acceptable to the Company to fund continuing operations, if at all. The Company believes that its existing cash
and cash equivalents and marketable securities will enable it to fund its operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital expenditure requirements through
the third quarter of 2017.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”).
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Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The balance sheet at December 31, 2015 was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP. The
accompanying unaudited financial statements as of June 30, 2016 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 have been prepared by the
Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, (“SEC”), for interim financial statements. Certain information and
footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and
regulations. However, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. These financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2015 included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K on file with the SEC. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments
necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2016 and results of operations and cash flows for the six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015 have been made. The results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that
may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include, but are not limited to, revenue
recognition, the accrual of research and development expenses and the valuation of common stock and stock-based awards. Estimates are periodically reviewed in
light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Actual results could differ from the Company’s estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on
the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the
first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:
 

 •  Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 

 
•  Level 2—Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices) such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices

in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data.

 

 •  Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or
liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The Company’s cash equivalents and marketable securities at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, were carried at fair value determined according to the
fair value hierarchy described above (see Note 3). The carrying value of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair value
due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. The carrying value of the Company’s outstanding notes payable (see Note 7) approximates fair value
reflecting interest rates currently available to the Company.

Marketable Securities

The Company’s marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than
temporary are included as a component of other income (expense), net based on the specific identification method. Fair value is determined based on quoted
market prices.
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At June 30, 2016, marketable securities by security type consisted of:
 

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Estimated
Fair

Value  
United States treasury notes   $ 33,518    $ 10    $ —      $ 33,528  
Agency bonds    2,189     —      —      2,189  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 35,707    $ 10    $ —      $ 35,717  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

At December 31, 2015, marketable securities by security type consisted of:
 

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Estimated
Fair

Value  
United States treasury notes   $ 44,587    $ —     $ (53)   $ 44,534  
Agency bonds    29,761     —      (15)    29,746  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 74,348    $ —     $ (68)   $ 74,280  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, marketable securities consisted of investments that mature within one year.

Restricted Cash

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company held a certificate of deposit of $1,728 and $228, respectively, as security deposits for the lease
of the Company’s future and current corporate headquarters. In June 2016, the Company opened an additional certificate of deposit of $1,500 as a security deposit
for the new lease related to the Company’s future corporate headquarters. (see Note 11) The Company has classified these as long-term restricted cash on its
balance sheet.

Segment Data

The Company manages its operations as a single segment for the purposes of assessing performance and making operating decisions. The Company’s
singular focus is on advancing its bioresorbable hydrogel-based product candidates exclusively for ophthalmology. All tangible assets are held in the United
States.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) that result from transactions and economic events other than
those with stockholders.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the diluted net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares, including
potential dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options, unvested restricted common shares and common stock warrants, as
determined using the treasury stock method. For periods in which the Company has reported net losses, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per
share, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

The Company reported a net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. The following common stock equivalents outstanding as of
June 30, 2016 and 2015 were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, because
they had an anti-dilutive impact:
 

   As of June 30,  
   2016    2015  
Options to purchase common stock    3,008,890     2,098,388  
Non-vested restricted stock    —      14,219  
Warrants for the purchase of common stock    18,939     18,939  

    
 

    
 

Total options, warrants and restricted stock    3,027,829     2,131,546  
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Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-15, Presentation of Financial
Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40). The new guidance addresses management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. Management’s evaluation should be based on relevant conditions and
events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial statements are issued. The standard will be effective for the first interim period
within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting
this new accounting guidance will have on its financial statements and footnote disclosure.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 outlines a new,
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition
guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a five-step analysis in determining when and how revenue is
recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of Effective Date. The amendments in ASU 2015-14 defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for all entities by
one year. The standard will be effective for public entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those
periods. Early adoption is permitted, but it cannot be any earlier than 2017 for calendar year-end entities. Companies may use either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach to adopt ASU 2014-09. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on
its financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASC 842) (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize most leases on the
balance sheet. This is expected to increase both reported assets and liabilities. The new lease standard does not substantially change lessor accounting. For public
companies, the standard will be effective for the first interim reporting period within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, although early adoption
is permitted. Lessees and lessors will be required to apply the new standard at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which
they first apply the new guidance, using a modified retrospective transition method. The requirements of this standard include a significant increase in required
disclosures. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on its financial statements and footnote
disclosures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue
Gross versus Net) (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. The guidance includes
indicators to assist an entity in determining whether it controls a specified good or service before it is transferred to the customers. The effective date and
transition requirements for the amendments in this update are the same as the effective date and transition requirements for ASU 2014-09. The Company is
currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on its financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 identifies areas for
simplification involving several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as
either equity or liabilities, an option to recognize gross stock compensation expense with actual forfeitures recognized as they occur, as well as certain
classifications on the statement of cash flows. The amendments in this update will be effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will
have on its financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In April 2016, the FASB, issued ASU No. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (Topic 606), (“ASU 2016-10”) which amends
certain aspects of the FASB’s new revenue standard, ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-10 identifies performance obligations and provides licensing implementation
guidance. The effective date for ASU 2016-10 is the same as the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09. The standard will be effective for public entities for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those periods. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting this
new accounting guidance will have on its financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical
Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”). ASU 2016-12 provides for amendments to ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, amending the guidance on
transition, collectability, noncash consideration and the presentation of sales and other similar taxes. Specifically, ASU 2016-12 clarifies that, for a contract to be
considered completed at transition, all (or substantially all) of the revenue must have been recognized under legacy GAAP. In addition, ASU 2016-12 clarifies
how an entity should evaluate the collectability threshold and when an entity can recognize nonrefundable consideration received as revenue if an arrangement
does not meet the standard’s contract criteria. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on its
financial statements and footnote disclosures.
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3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015 and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair value:
 

   
Fair Value Measurements as of

June 30, 2016 Using:  
   Level 1   Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Assets:         

Cash equivalents:         
Money market funds   $ —     $ 47,805    $ —     $ 47,805  

Marketable securities:         
United States treasury notes    —      33,528     —      33,528  
Agency bonds    —      2,189     —      2,189  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ —     $ 83,522    $ —     $ 83,522  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   
Fair Value Measurements as of

December 31, 2015 Using:  
   Level 1   Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Assets:         

Cash equivalents:         
Money market funds   $ —     $ 29,879    $ —     $ 29,879  

Marketable securities:         
United States treasury notes    —      44,534     —      44,534  
Agency bonds    —      29,746     —      29,746  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ —     $104,159    $ —     $104,159  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

4. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
 

   
June 30,

2016    
December 31,

2015  
Accrued payroll and related expenses   $1,003    $ 1,582  
Accrued professional fees    577     471  
Accrued research and development expenses    193     430  
Accrued insurance    —      389  
Accrued other    569     507  

    
 

    
 

  $2,342    $ 3,379  
    

 

    

 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company’s accrued insurance represents premiums for the period from July 2015 through June 2016 which the Company
financed with a third-party.

5. Income Taxes

The Company did not provide for any income taxes in its statement of operations for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2016 or 2015. The
Company has provided a valuation allowance for the full amount of its net deferred tax assets because, at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, it was more
likely than not that any future benefit from deductible temporary differences and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards would not be realized.

The Company has not recorded any amounts for unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2016 or December 31, 2015. As of June 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, the Company had no accrued interest or tax penalties recorded related to income taxes. The Company’s income tax return reporting periods
since December 31, 2012 are open to income tax audit examination by the federal and state tax authorities. In addition, because the Company has net operating
loss carryforwards, the Internal Revenue Service is permitted to audit earlier years and propose adjustments up to the amount of net operating losses generated in
those years.
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6. Feasibility Agreements

The Company had a feasibility agreement with a biotechnology company, entered into in 2014. Under this agreement, the biotechnology company would
pay up to $700, of which $250 was a non-refundable payment due upon contract execution and $450 was due upon the achievement of certain milestones. The
Company recognized the total expected payments under the contract which included only the non-refundable payments on a straight-line basis over the estimated
performance period. When a contingent milestone payment was earned, the additional consideration to be received was added to the total expected payments
under the contract then recognized over the estimated performance period. In January 2015, the first milestone under the feasibility agreement was achieved
triggering a non-refundable payment due of $250 such that the total non-refundable payments that were recognized over the estimated performance period totaled
$500. This agreement was terminated in the second quarter of 2016 and the Company does not have any further obligations. The Company recognized no revenue
and $125 of revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company recognized $42 and $313 of revenue for the six months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of June 30, 2016, the Company had no deferred revenue. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had deferred
revenue of $42.

7. Notes Payable

The Company has outstanding borrowings under a credit and security agreement entered into in 2014 and amended in December 2015 (the “Amended 2014
Credit Facility”) totaling $15,600, which is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s personal property, other than its intellectual property. The
Company is obligated to make monthly interest-only payments under the Amended 2014 Credit Facility until December 31, 2016 and, thereafter, is required to
make monthly payments of principal and interest from January 1, 2017 through December 1, 2019. The stated interest rate under the Amended 2014 Credit
Facility is 8.25%. In addition, a final payment equal to 3.75% of amounts drawn under the Amended 2014 Credit Facility is due upon the new maturity date. The
effective annual interest rate of the outstanding debt under the Amended 2014 Credit Facility is 10.6%.

There are no financial covenants associated with the Amended 2014 Credit Facility; however, there are negative covenants restricting the Company’s
activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering its intellectual property; incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividends;
making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions. The obligations under the Amended 2014 Credit Facility are subject to
acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in the Company’s business, operations or financial or other
condition.

On June 20, 2016, the Company entered into a First Amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the Amended 2014 Credit Facility to revise the definition of
“Permitted Liens” to include a security deposit letter of credit as a permitted lien. There were no other changes to the Amended 2014 Credit Facility.

As of June 30, 2016, the annual repayment requirements for the Amended 2014 Credit Facility, inclusive of the final payment of $585 due at expiration,
were as follows:
 

Year Ending December 31,   Principal    

Interest and
Final

Payment    Total  
2016   $ —     $ 656    $ 656  
2017    5,200     1,105     6,305  
2018    5,200     670     5,870  
2019    5,200     820     6,020  

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $15,600    $ 3,251    $18,851  
    

 

    

 

    

 

8. Common Stock and Preferred Stock

On July 30, 2014, the Company completed its IPO, which resulted in the sale of 5,000,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $13.00
per share resulting in net proceeds of approximately $57,337 after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering costs. Upon closing the IPO, all
outstanding shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 12,440,205 shares of common stock. Additionally
upon closing the IPO, the Company adopted an amended and restated certificate of incorporation increasing the number of its authorized shares of its common
stock to 100,000,000 shares. In conjunction with the IPO and the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000
shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, all of which is undesignated.
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On August 19, 2014, the Company completed the sale of an additional 750,000 shares of common stock at the initial public offering price of $13.00 per
share to the underwriters of the Company’s IPO pursuant to the exercise of their over-allotment option. The Company received additional net proceeds of
approximately $9,068 after deducting underwriting discounts.

In June 2015, the Company completed a follow-on offering of its common stock at a public offering price of $22.00 per share. The offering consisted of
4,600,000 shares of common stock, of which 3,200,000 shares were issued and sold by the Company and 1,400,000 shares were sold by certain stockholders of
the Company, including those shares sold in connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. The Company received
net proceeds from the follow-on offering of approximately $65,612 after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses.

9. Warrants

Warrants for the purchase of 18,939 shares of common stock remain outstanding at June 30, 2016 at a weighted average exercise price of $7.92 per share
and an expiration date of April 17, 2021. No warrants were exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2016. During the six months ended June 30, 2015,
warrants covering 70,769 shares were exercised via net share settlement and the Company issued 54,010 shares of common stock as a result of the exercise.

10. Stock-Based Awards

2014 Stock Incentive Plan

The 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards,
restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other stock-based awards. The number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2014 Plan is
subject to increase on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning on January 1, 2015 and ending on December 31, 2024 in an amount equal to the lesser of a pre-
determined formula or as determined by the Company’s board of directors. On January 1, 2016, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan
increased by 990,012. As of June 30, 2016, 1,493,039 shares remained available for issuance under the 2014 Plan.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has a 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the ESPP will
automatically increase on the first day of each fiscal year, commencing on January 1, 2015 and ending on December 31, 2024 in an amount equal to the lesser of
a pre-determined formula or as determined by the Company’s board of directors. On January 1, 2016, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2014
Plan increased by 123,752. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, 30,501 shares of common stock were issued for total proceeds of $128. As of June 30,
2016, 299,342 shares remained available for issuance under the ESPP.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted common stock in the following expense categories of its
statements of operations:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30.  
   2016    2015    2016    2015  
Research and development   $ 522    $ 415    $ 975    $ 717  
Selling and marketing    128     95     235     158  
General and administrative    865     642     1,654     1,198  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 1,515    $ 1,152    $2,864    $2,073  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

As of June 30, 2016, the Company had an aggregate of $12,604 of unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 2.53 years.

As of June 30, 2016, there were outstanding unvested service-based stock options held by nonemployees for the purchase of 9,156 shares of common
stock.
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11. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases office, laboratory and manufacturing space in Bedford, Massachusetts and certain office equipment under non-cancelable operating
leases that expire in June 2017, June 2018 and July 2027.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2016 for its operating leases that expire in June 2017 and June 2018 are as follows:
 

Years Ending December 31,     
2016   $ 414  
2017    676  
2018    262  

    
 

Total   $1,352  
    

 

During the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized $194 and $195, respectively, of rental expense, related to its office,
laboratory and manufacturing space and office equipment. During the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized $388 and $390,
respectively, of rental expense, related to its office, laboratory and manufacturing space and office equipment.

On June 17, 2016, the Company entered into a lease agreement for approximately 70,712 square feet of general office, research and development
and manufacturing space in Bedford, Massachusetts. The lease term will commence on February 1, 2017 and expire on July 31, 2027. No base rent will be due
under the lease until August 1, 2017. The initial annual base rent is approximately $1,200 and will increase annually beginning on February 1 of each year. The
Company is obligated to pay all real estate taxes and costs related to the premises, including costs of operations, maintenance, repair, and replacement and
management of the new leased premises. The Company posted a customary letter of credit in the amount of approximately $1,500 as a security deposit. The
Company intends to relocate its corporate headquarters to the new leased premises beginning in 2017 and intends to relocate all of its operations to the new leased
premises by 2018. The lease agreement allows for a construction allowance not to exceed approximately $2,800 to be applied to the total construction costs of the
new leased premises. The construction allowance must be used on or before December 31, 2017, or it will be deemed forfeited with no further obligation by the
landlord of the new leased premises.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2016 for its operating lease expiring in July 2027 are as follows:
 

Years Ending December 31,     
2016   $ —   
2017    486  
2018    1,199  
2019    1,235  
2020    1,270  
Thereafter    9,245  

    
 

Total   $13,435  
    

 

Intellectual Property Licenses

The Company has a license agreement with Incept, LLC (“Incept”) (Note 12) to use and develop certain patent rights (the “Incept License”). Under the
Incept License, as amended and restated, the Company was granted a worldwide, perpetual, exclusive license to develop and commercialize products that are
delivered to or around the human eye for diagnostic, therapeutic or prophylactic purposes relating to ophthalmic diseases or conditions. The Company is
obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on net sales of commercial products developed using the licensed technology, commencing with the date of the first
commercial sale of such products and until the expiration of the last to expire of the patents covered by the license. Any of the Company’s sublicensees also
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will be obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a low single-digit percentage of net sales made by it and will be bound by the terms of the agreement to the same
extent as the Company. The Company is obligated to reimburse Incept for its share of the reasonable fees and costs incurred by Incept in connection with the
prosecution of the patent applications licensed to the Company under the Incept License. Through June 30, 2016, royalties paid under this agreement related to
product sales were $67.

Indemnification Agreements

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnification of varying scope and terms to vendors, lessors, business partners, and other
parties with respect to certain matters including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements or from intellectual property infringement
claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with members of its board of directors that will require the
Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers. The
maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is, in many cases, unlimited. To
date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications. The Company does not believe that the outcome of any claims under
indemnification arrangements will have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows, and it has not accrued any liabilities related
to such obligations in its financial statements as of December 31, 2015 or June 30, 2016.

Purchase Commitments

Purchase commitments represent non-cancelable contractual commitments associated with certain clinical trial activities within the clinical research
organization.

Manufacturing Commitments

Manufacturing contracts generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore are cancelable contracts but are contracts that the Company is likely to
continue, regardless of the fact that they are cancelable.

12. Related Party Transactions

The Company has a license agreement with Incept to use and develop certain patent rights that it entered into in 2007. Incept and certain owners of Incept
are shareholders of the Company. In addition, certain employees of the Company are shareholders of Incept. The Company’s President and Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) is a general partner of Incept.

In April 2014, the Company granted 28,437 shares of restricted common stock to its CEO, which grant was in lieu of $250 of the CEO’s 2015 base salary.
During 2015, due to an administrative error, the Company did not appropriately adjust the base salary to reflect this reduction. As a result, the Company paid the
full base salary for 2015. Upon discovery of the error, the CEO promptly repaid the full $250 to the Company on April 1, 2016. The Company recorded a
reduction to payroll expense in the first quarter of 2016. The effect of this error on the statement of operations was considered immaterial for all related periods.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 10, 2016. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result
of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual results could differ materially
from the results described, in or implied, by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of innovative therapies for diseases and conditions of the eye
using our proprietary hydrogel platform technology. Our bioresorbable hydrogel-based product candidates are designed to provide sustained delivery of
therapeutic agents to the eye. Our lead product candidates are DEXTENZA, for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, allergic
conjunctivitis and dry eye, and OTX-TP, for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension, which are sustained-release, drug-eluting depots that are inserted
into the canaliculus through a natural opening called the punctum located in the inner portion of the eyelid near the nose. Our intracanalicular depots combine our
hydrogel technology with U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved therapeutic agents with the goal of providing sustained delivery of drug to the
eye. We also have an intravitreal hydrogel depot which is in preclinical development for the treatment of diseases and conditions of the back of the eye including
wet age-related macular degeneration, or wet AMD. Our intravitreal depot is designed to be delivered via intravitreal injection to release therapeutic agents, such
as antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor, or VEGF, over a sustained period. In addition to our ongoing product development, we have launched our first
commercial product, ReSure Sealant, a hydrogel-based ophthalmic wound sealant approved by the FDA in January 2014 to seal corneal incisions following
cataract surgery. ReSure Sealant is the first and only surgical sealant to be approved by the FDA for ophthalmic use.

Our most advanced product candidate, DEXTENZA, incorporates the FDA-approved corticosteroid dexamethasone as an active pharmaceutical ingredient
into a hydrogel-based drug-eluting intracanalicular depot. DEXTENZA is in Phase 3 clinical development for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation
and pain, and, in September 2015, we submitted to the FDA a New Drug Application, or NDA, for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain. On
July 25, 2016, we announced that we had received a Complete Response Letter, or CRL, from the FDA regarding our NDA for DEXTENZA. In the CRL, the
concerns raised by the FDA pertain to deficiencies in manufacturing process and controls identified during a pre-NDA approval inspection of our manufacturing
facility. The FDA’s letter did not provide any details as to which manufacturing deficiencies identified during the facility inspection remained open since the last
response submitted by us. The satisfactory resolution of the manufacturing deficiencies identified during the FDA facility inspection is required before the NDA
may be approved. The FDA’s letter did not identify any efficacy or safety concerns with respect to the clinical data provided in the NDA nor any need for
additional clinical trials for the approval of the NDA. On August 3, 2016, we announced that we received a letter from the FDA New England District Office, or
the District Office, providing additional details pertaining to the manufacturing facility inspection observations. The FDA District Office letter stated that the
corrective actions included in our prior responses as a whole appear to adequately address the ten inspectional observations raised in the Form 483 letter we
received in February 2016 from the FDA, with one exception which relates to the proposed process for identity testing of an incoming inert gas component used
in our manufacturing process. The FDA District Letter also requested evidence (e.g., a final report) when the planned migration of analytical testing from manual
to an automatic integration is complete, which is anticipated during the third quarter of 2016. There were no other issues identified in the FDA District Letter.

We have completed two Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain. The data from these two completed Phase 3
clinical trials and a prior Phase 2 clinical trial are being used to support our NDA for post-surgical ocular pain. In October 2015, we initiated a third Phase 3
clinical trial for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain and we have completed enrollment of 436 patients in this trial. We anticipate having
topline efficacy data available from this third trial in the fourth quarter of 2016. If the results of our third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA are favorable and
subject to receiving approval for the pain indication pursuant to the initial NDA, we plan to submit an NDA supplement for DEXTENZA for the treatment of
post-surgical ocular inflammation.

DEXTENZA is also in Phase 3 clinical development for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis. In October 2015, we announced topline results of our first
Phase 3 clinical trial for allergic conjunctivitis and in June 2016 we announced topline results of our second Phase 3 clinical trial for this indication. We met the
primary efficacy endpoint for ocular itching in the first Phase 3 trial but did not meet the primary efficacy endpoint for conjunctival redness in this trial. We did
not meet the sole primary endpoint for ocular itching in the second Phase 3 trial. The single primary endpoint of the second Phase 3 trial was the difference in the
mean scores in ocular itching between the treatment group and the placebo comparator group at three time points 7 days following insertion of the depots.
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While mean ocular itching was seen to be numerically lower (more favorable) in the DEXTENZA treatment group compared to the placebo group measured 7
days following insertion of the depots, at 3, 5, and 7 minutes by -0.18, -0.29, and -0.29 units, respectively, on a five point scale, this difference did not reach
statistical significance. In addition, the second Phase 3 trial did not achieve the requirement of at least a 0.5 unit difference at all three time points 7 days
following insertion of the depots and at least a 1.0 unit difference at the majority of the three time points between the treatment group and the placebo group 7
days following insertion of the depots. The second Phase 3 trial also assessed conjunctival redness as a secondary endpoint. The differences in the mean scores in
conjunctival redness between the DEXTENZA treatment group and the placebo group 7 days following insertion of the depots at 7, 15 and 20 minutes were
-0.35, -0.39 and -0.42, respectively, compared with values of -0.26, -0.32 and -0.41, respectively, at the same time points 7 days following insertion of the depots
in the first Phase 3 trial. The results from the second Phase 3 trial contrast with those achieved in the first Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for the treatment
of allergic conjunctivitis in which the primary endpoint of treatment of ocular itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis was successfully achieved, with mean
ocular itching scores being lower in the DEXTENZA group at 3, 5, and 7 minutes by -1.02, -0.87, and -1.04 units, respectively (p<0.0001), 7 days following
insertion of the depots.

We performed additional post hoc analyses that were not pre-specified in the trial protocol for this second Phase 3 trial. Although post-hoc analyses
performed using an unlocked clinical trial database can result in the introduction of bias, we believe that these analyses provide important information regarding
DEXTENZA and are helpful in understanding the results of this trial and determining the appropriate criteria for future clinical trials. In the second Phase 3 trial,
there was a greater variability in ocular itching exhibited by patients over the multiple allergen challenges 7, 14 and 28 days following insertion of the depots,
compared to the first Phase 3 trial. In a post hoc analysis, when ocular itching scores were averaged over these multiple visits, a statistically significant reduction
of symptoms over the entire one month intended duration of sustained release, single dose therapy was observed in the DEXTENZA treatment group relative to
the placebo vehicle group. Furthermore, other post hoc analyses have led us to believe that a placebo depot which is present through the timepoints chosen as the
primary efficacy endpoints may enhance the performance of the placebo. As such, a fast-resorbing placebo depot may lessen this placebo response. In the second
Phase 3 clinical trial, as well as other DEXTENZA clinical trials completed to date regardless of indication, DEXTENZA has exhibited a strong safety profile and
has been generally well-tolerated. There were no serious adverse events observed in the second Phase 3 clinical trial.

Finally, DEXTENZA is in Phase 2 clinical development for the treatment of inflammatory dry eye disease. We announced topline results from an
exploratory Phase 2 clinical trial for this indication in December 2015. We are formulating our plans for the design of future clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the
treatment of dry eye. We are considering as a potential long term strategy for our dry eye program the use of DEXTENZA either as an initial mode of therapy or
for the treatment of episodic acute flare-ups of dry eye followed by an intracanalicular depot containing an immunosuppressant drug.

If our NDA for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain is approved by the FDA by the end of 2016, we expect to commercially launch
this product in the United States in the first half of 2017. We expect to sell DEXTENZA in the United States through a direct sales force although we may initially
use a contract sales organization, or CSO, to hire and deploy this sales force. We intend to prepare for the commercialization process by conducting surgical
demonstrations to key surgeons and then expanding our sales force through the hiring of additional regional managers and representatives in the second half of
2017.We may also supplement the sales force with a co-promotional arrangement with another ophthalmology company with an existing sales force. We expect to
apply for a transitional pass-through reimbursement status code from the Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, for DEXTENZA for the treatment
of post-surgical ocular pain. We would expect pass-through reimbursement status to remain in effect for up to three years depending on the timing of when we
apply for and if we receive this status code. CMS has recently proposed to provide up to three full years of pass-through payments for eligible products regardless
of when the pass-through code is issued. Currently, CMS provides pass-through payments for no less than two years but no more than three years, depending
upon when in a given calendar year a pass-through application is approved. This recent proposal by CMS, if approved, is expected to become effective in January
2017. We expect to submit to CMS for a standard J code for DEXTENZA for the treatment of other indications, including allergic conjunctivitis, if we receive
marketing approval from the FDA for these indications.

Our second product candidate, OTX-TP, incorporates travoprost, an FDA-approved prostaglandin analog that reduces elevated intraocular pressure, or IOP,
as its active pharmaceutical ingredient, into a hydrogel-based drug-eluting intracanalicular depot. OTX-TP is being developed as a treatment for glaucoma and
ocular hypertension. We reported topline results from a Phase 2b clinical trial for this indication in October 2015. We completed End-of-Phase 2 review with the
FDA in April 2016 and plan to initiate the first of two Phase 3 clinical trials of OTX-TP in the third quarter of 2016. Based on the feedback from the FDA, the
Phase 3 clinical trial design will include an OTX-TP treatment arm and a placebo-controlled comparator arm that will use a non-drug eluting hydrogel-based
intracanalicular depot. There will not be a requirement for either a timolol comparator or a validation arm. No eye drops, placebo or active, will be administered
in either the treatment or the placebo-controlled arm. The primary efficacy endpoint will be superiority in the reduction of IOP from baseline in the OTX-TP
treatment arm compared to the placebo arm at all of the nine diurnal time points at day 15, 45 and 90 visits.
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In addition to DEXTENZA and OTX-TP, we are engaged in the preclinical development of our intravitreal depot administered via intravitreal injection to
address the large and growing markets for diseases and conditions of the back of the eye. Our initial development efforts are focused on the use of our sustained-
release hydrogel depot in combination with anti-angiogenic drugs, such as protein-based anti-VEGF drugs or small molecule anti-angiogenic drugs, such as
tyrosine kinase inhibitors, or TKIs, for the treatment of wet age related macular degeneration, or wet AMD. Our initial goal for this program is to provide
sustained release of an anti-VEGF drug or a TKI drug over a four to six month period following administration of a bioresorbable hydrogel incorporating the drug
by an injection into the vitreous humor, thereby reducing the frequency of the current monthly or bi-monthly intravitreal injection regimen for wet AMD and
other back-of-the-eye diseases. We also have a pipeline of earlier stage intracanalicular depot product candidates, including OTX-MP, which has completed a
Phase 1 clinical trial evaluating safety and pharmacokinetics in patients following cataract surgery. We are not currently advancing any development efforts on the
OTX-MP program.

Following our receipt of FDA approval for ReSure Sealant, we commercially launched this product in the United States in 2014 through a network of
ophthalmology focused distributors. ReSure Sealant is approved to seal corneal incisions following cataract surgery and is the first and only surgical sealant to be
approved by the FDA for ophthalmic use. In the pivotal clinical trials that formed the basis for FDA approval, ReSure Sealant provided superior wound closure
and a better safety profile than sutured closure.

We have generated limited revenue to date. All of our sustained release drug delivery products are in various phases of clinical and preclinical
development. We do not expect sales of ReSure Sealant to generate revenue that is sufficient for us to achieve profitability. Instead, our ability to generate product
revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on our obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing products with greater market
potential, including one or both of DEXTENZA and OTX-TP. Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our net loss was $11.4 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2016 and $22.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016. As of June 30, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of $151.5
million.

Our total costs and operating expenses were $11.5 million and $22.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, including $1.5
million and $2.9 million, respectively, in non-cash stock-based compensation expense. We anticipate that our operating expenses will increase substantially as we
pursue the clinical development of our most advanced product candidates, DEXTENZA and OTX-TP, continue the research and development of our other
product candidates, continue the internal development of our intravitreal hydrogel depot for the sustained delivery of protein-based or small molecule anti-
angiogenic drugs, such as anti-VEGF drugs and TKI drugs for the treatment of wet AMD and other back-of-the-eye diseases and seek marketing approval for any
such product candidate for which we obtain favorable pivotal clinical trial results. We expect to continue to incur substantial additional expenses for product
manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution for our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, we will continue to incur
additional costs associated with operating as a public company.

We do not expect to generate significant revenue from sales of any product for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we may need to obtain substantial
additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts or to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future
revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.

In July 2014, we completed an initial public offering, or IPO, of our common stock, and in August 2014 the underwriters in our IPO exercised their over-
allotment option in full. We received total net proceeds of approximately $66.4 million from the issuance and sale of 5,750,000 shares of common stock,
including in connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering costs. In
June 2015, we completed a follow-on offering of our common stock at a public offering price of $22.00 per share. The offering consisted of 4,600,000 shares of
common stock, of which 3,200,000 shares were issued and sold by us and 1,400,000 shares were sold by certain of our stockholders, including those shares sold
in connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds from the follow-on offering of
approximately $65.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. We believe that our existing cash and cash
equivalents and marketable securities, will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital expenditure requirements through the
third quarter of 2017. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Financial Operations Overview

Revenue

From our inception through June 30, 2016, we have generated limited amounts of revenue from the sales of our products. Our ReSure Sealant product
received premarket approval, or PMA, from the FDA in January 2014. We commenced sales of ReSure Sealant in the first quarter of 2014, have received only
limited revenues from ReSure Sealant to date and anticipate only limited sales for 2016. ReSure Sealant is currently our only source of revenue from product
sales. We may generate revenue in the future if we successfully develop one or more of our product candidates and receive marketing approval for any such
product candidate or if we enter into longer-term collaboration agreements with third parties.
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In October 2014, we entered into a feasibility agreement with a biotechnology company relating to our intravitreal drug delivery depot. Under this
agreement, the biotechnology company had agreed to pay us up to $0.7 million, of which $0.3 million was a non-refundable up-front payment due upon contract
execution and $0.4 million was due upon the achievement of certain milestones. We recognized the total expected payments under the contract which included
only the non-refundable payments on a straight-line basis over the estimated performance period. When a contingent milestone payment was earned, the
additional consideration received was added to the total expected payments under the contract and then recognized over the estimated performance period. In
January 2015, we achieved the first milestone under the feasibility agreement triggering a payment due of $0.3 million. Through June 30, 2016, we have
recognized revenue of $0.5 million related to this agreement. The agreement is terminated and there are no additional performance obligations or milestones that
will be recognized.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the development of our product candidates, which include:
 

 •  employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits and payroll taxes, travel and stock-based compensation expense for employees
engaged in research and development, clinical and regulatory and other related functions;

 

 •  expenses incurred in connection with the clinical trials of our product candidates, including with the investigative sites that conduct our clinical trials
and under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs;

 

 •  expenses relating to regulatory activities, including filing fees paid to the FDA for our submissions for product approvals;
 

 •  expenses associated with developing our pre-commercial manufacturing capabilities and manufacturing clinical study materials;
 

 •  ongoing research and development activities relating to our core bioresorbable hydrogel technology and improvements to this technology;
 

 •  facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and supplies;
 

 •  costs relating to the supply and manufacturing of product inventory, prior to approval by the FDA or other regulatory agencies of our products;
 

 •  expenses associated with preclinical development activities; and
 

 •  patent legal fees payable made under our licensing agreement with Incept, LLC, or Incept.

We expense research and development costs as incurred. We recognize external development costs based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of
specific tasks using information provided to us by our vendors and our clinical investigative sites.

Our direct research and development expenses are tracked on a program-by-program basis and consist primarily of external costs, such as fees paid to
investigators, consultants, central laboratories and CROs in connection with our clinical trials and regulatory fees. We do not allocate employee and contractor-
related costs, costs associated with our platform technology, costs related to manufacturing or purchasing clinical trial materials, and facility expenses, including
depreciation or other indirect costs, to specific product development programs because these costs are deployed across multiple product development programs
and, as such, are not separately classified. We use internal resources, including clinical monitors and clinical research associates, to manage our clinical trials,
monitor patient enrollment and perform data analysis for many of our clinical trials, rather than utilizing third-party CROs. These employees work across multiple
development programs and, therefore, we do not track their costs by program.

The table below summarizes our research and development expenses incurred by product development program:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2016    2015    2016    2015  
   (in thousands)  
ReSure Sealant   $ 94    $ 82    $ 171    $ 133  
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain    842     202     1,693     742  
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis    1,323     1,494     2,801     1,594  
DEXTENZA for inflammatory dry eye    43     364     84     485  
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Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2016    2015    2016    2015  
   (in thousands)  
OTX-TP for glaucoma    263     494     580     1,048  
Unallocated expenses    4,413     4,107     8,722     7,460  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total research and development expenses   $ 6,978    $ 6,743    $ 14,051    $ 11,462  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

We expect that our expenses will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities including costs related to clinical trials and other research
and development activities for our DEXTENZA and OTX-TP product candidates and other research and development activities.

The successful development and commercialization of our product candidates is highly uncertain. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with product development and commercialization, including the uncertainty of:
 

 •  the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our clinical trials and other research and development activities;
 

 •  the efficacy and potential advantages of our product candidates compared to alternative treatments, including any standard of care;
 

 •  the market acceptance of our product candidates;
 

 •  obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
 

 •  significant and changing government regulation; and
 

 •  the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals.

Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates in clinical and preclinical development
could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of these product candidates. For example, if the FDA or another
regulatory authority were to require us to conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently expect or if we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical
development of that product candidate.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in executive, finance
and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include facility-related costs and professional fees for legal, patent, consulting and
accounting and audit services.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support our continued development
and commercialization of our product candidates. We also anticipate to continue to incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance, director and
officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for personnel in selling and marketing functions as well as consulting and
advertising and promotion costs. In addition, we invested in sales and marketing resources in anticipation of an earlier approval of our surgical sealant product in
the United States than we ultimately received from the FDA, as a result of a change in designation from a 510(k) to a PMA regulatory path. During the three and
six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, we incurred selling and marketing expenses in connection with ReSure Sealant, which we commercialized in the first
quarter of 2014.

We expect selling and marketing expenses to increase in preparation for the potential commercial launch of our DEXTENZA product candidate for the
treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, subject to approval of our NDA by the FDA and the potential label expansion to include post-surgical
ocular inflammation, subject to submission and approval of an NDA supplement.
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Other Income (Expense)

Interest Income. Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities.

Interest Expense. Interest expense consists of interest expense on our debt. We borrowed $15.0 million in aggregate principal amount in April 2014 with an
interest only period that extended through September 2015. In December 2015, we amended our credit facility to increase the aggregate principal amount to $15.6
million, extend the interest-only payment period through December 2016, and extend the maturity date to December 1, 2019.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of our financial statements and
related disclosures requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses,
and related disclosures. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, there were no material changes to our critical accounting policies. Our critical accounting
policies are described under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Critical Accounting
Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 10, 2016 and the notes to the financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We believe that of our critical accounting policies, the following accounting policies
involve the most judgment and complexity:
 

 •  revenue recognition
 

 •  accrued research and development expenses; and
 

 •  stock-based compensation

Accordingly, we believe the policies set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K are critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial condition
and results of operations. If actual results or events differ materially from the estimates, judgments and assumptions used by us in applying these policies, our
reported financial condition and results of operations could be materially affected.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    Increase
(Decrease)    2016    2015    

   (in thousands)  
Revenue:       

Product revenue   $ 441    $ 334    $ 107  
Collaboration revenue    —       125     (125) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenue    441     459     (18) 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Costs and operating expenses:       
Cost of product revenue    105     80     25  
Research and development    6,978     6,743     235  
Selling and marketing    1,492     1,041     451  
General and administrative    2,973     2,230     743  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total costs and operating expenses    11, 548     10,094     1,454  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Loss from operations    (11,107)    (9,635)    (1,472) 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Other income (expense):       
Interest income    80     28     52  
Interest expense    (418)    (405)    (13) 
Other income (expense), net    —       3     (3) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other expense, net    (338)    (374)    36  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net loss   $(11,445)   $(10,009)   $ (1,436) 
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Revenue

We generated no revenue from our feasibility agreements during the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared to $0.1 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2015. We generated $0.4 million of revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2016 from sales of our ReSure Sealant product compared to
$0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015.

Research and Development Expenses
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    Increase
(Decrease)    2016    2015    

   (in thousands)  
Direct research and development expenses by program:       

ReSure Sealant   $ 94    $ 82    $ 12  
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain    842     202     640  
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis    1,323     1,494     (171) 
DEXTENZA for inflammatory dry eye    43     364     (321) 
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension    263     494     (231) 

Unallocated expenses:       
Personnel costs (including stock-based compensation)    2,777     2,397     380  
All other costs    1,636     1,710     (74) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total research and development expenses   $ 6,978    $ 6,743    $ 235  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Research and development expenses were $7.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $6.7 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2015. Research and development costs increased by $0.2 million primarily due to an increase of $0.4 million in unallocated personnel costs offset in part
by a decrease of $0.1 million in costs incurred in connection with the clinical trials of our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of post-surgical ocular
inflammation and pain, our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis, our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of
dry eye and our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension and a decrease of $0.1 million in unallocated all other costs.

For the three months ended June 30, 2016, we incurred $2.5 million in direct research and development expenses for our sustained release drug delivery
product candidates for the front of the eye, including $0.8 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation
and pain which was in Phase 3 clinical trials, $1.3 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis which was in a Phase
3 clinical trial, $43,000 for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of inflammatory dry eye disease which was in an exploratory Phase 2 clinical
trial and $0.3 million for our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which was in Phase 2b clinical trials. For the
three months ended June 30, 2015, we incurred $2.6 million in direct research and development expenses for our sustained release drug delivery product
candidates for the front of the eye, including $0.2 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following
cataract surgery which was in Phase 3 clinical trials, $1.5 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis, $0.4 million
for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of inflammatory dry eye disease which was in an exploratory Phase 2 clinical trial and $0.5 million for
our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which is in Phase 2b clinical trials. Unallocated research and development
expense increased $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2015, due to an increase in personnel
costs of $0.4 million due to additional hiring primarily in our clinical, regulatory and quality department and an increase in stock-based compensation expense
offset by a decrease of $0.1 million in unallocated all other costs.

Selling and Marketing Expenses
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    Increase
(Decrease)    2016    2015    

   (in thousands)      
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)   $ 581    $ 373    $ 208  
Professional, advertising and promotion costs    583     493     90  
Facility-related and other    328     175     153  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total selling and marketing expenses   $ 1,492    $ 1,041    $ 451  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
20



Table of Contents

Selling and marketing expenses were $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $1.0 million for the three months ended June 30,
2015. The increase of $0.5 million was primarily due to an increase of $0.2 million in personnel costs relating to additional hiring and additional stock-based
compensation expense, an increase of $0.1 million in professional fees including consulting, trade shows and conferences and advertising and promotion costs
relating to the ReSure Sealant, and an increase of $0.2 million in facility-related and other costs.

General and Administrative Expenses
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    Increase  
   2016    2015    (Decrease) 
   (in thousands)      
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)   $ 1,580    $ 1,265    $ 315  
Professional, insurance and consultant fees    1,107     666     441  
Facility-related and other    286     299     (13) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total general and administrative expenses   $ 2,973    $ 2,230    $ 743  
    

 

    

 

    

 

General and administrative expenses were $3.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $2.2 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2015. The increase of $0.7 million was primarily due an increase of $0.3 million in personnel relating to additional hiring and stock-based compensation
expense and an increase of $0.4 million in professional, insurance and consultant fees. Professional, insurance and consultant fees increased primarily due to an
increase in consulting fees relating to activities to support our operating as a public company including legal and professional services.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other expense, net was $338,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $374,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2015. The decrease
was related to an increase in interest income of $52,000 offset by an increase in interest expense of $13,000.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,    Increase  
   2016    2015    (Decrease) 
   (in thousands)  
Revenue:       

Product revenue   $ 857    $ 572    $ 285  
Collaboration revenue    42     313     (271) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenue    899     885     14  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Costs and operating expenses:       
Cost of product revenue    204     136     68  
Research and development    14,051     11,462     2,589  
Selling and marketing    2,881     1,911     970  
General and administrative    5,379     4,124     1,255  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total costs and operating expenses    22,515     17,633     4,882  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Loss from operations    (21,616)    (16,748)    (4,868) 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Other income (expense):       
Interest income    167     68     99  
Interest expense    (836)    (910)    74  
Other income (expense), net    —       3     (3) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other expense, net    (669)    (839)    170  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net loss   $(22,285)   $(17,587)   $ (4,698) 
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Revenue

We generated $42,000 of revenue from our feasibility agreements during the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to $0.3 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2015. We generated $0.9 million of revenue during the six months ended June 30, 2016 from sales of our ReSure Sealant product compared to
$0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015.

Research and Development Expenses
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,    Increase  
   2016    2015    (Decrease) 
   (in thousands)  
Direct research and development expenses by program:       

ReSure Sealant   $ 171    $ 133    $ 38  
DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain    1,693     742     951  
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis    2,801     1,594     1,207  
DEXTENZA for inflammatory dry eye    84     485    (401) 
OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension    580     1,048     (468) 

Unallocated expenses:       
Personnel costs (including stock-based compensation)    5,566     4,584     982  
All other costs    3,156     2,876     280  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total research and development expenses   $14,051    $11,462    $ 2,589  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Research and development expenses were $14.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $11.5 million for the six months ended June
30, 2015. Research and development costs increased by $2.6 million primarily as a result of an increase of $1.3 million in costs incurred in connection with the
clinical trials of our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, our DEXTENZA product candidate for the
treatment of allergic conjunctivitis, our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of dry eye and our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of
glaucoma and ocular hypertension and an increase of $1.0 million in unallocated personnel costs and $0.3 million in all other costs.

For the six months ended June 30, 2016, we incurred $5.2 million in direct research and development expenses for our sustained release drug delivery
product candidates for the front of the eye, including $1.7 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation
and pain which was in Phase 3 clinical trials, $2.8 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis which was in a Phase
3 clinical trial, $0.1 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of inflammatory dry eye disease which was in an exploratory Phase 2
clinical trial and $0.6 million for our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which was in Phase 2b clinical trials. For
the six months ended June 30, 2015, we incurred $3.9 million in direct research and development expenses for our sustained release drug delivery product
candidates for the front of the eye, including $0.7 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of ocular inflammation and pain following
cataract surgery which was in Phase 3 clinical trials, $1.6 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis which entered
into a Phase 3 clinical trial, $0.5 million for our DEXTENZA product candidate for the treatment of inflammatory dry eye disease which was in an exploratory
Phase 2 clinical trial and $1.1 million for our OTX-TP product candidate for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension which is in Phase 2b clinical
trials. Unallocated research and development expense increased $1.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the six months ended June 30,
2015, due to an increase in personnel costs of $1.0 million due to additional hiring primarily in our clinical, regulatory and quality department and an increase in
stock-based compensation expense and an increase of $0.3 million due to higher testing and laboratory costs.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,    Increase  
   2016    2015    (Decrease) 
   (in thousands)      
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)   $1,177    $ 716    $ 461  
Professional, advertising and promotion costs    1,149     899     250  
Facility-related and other    555     296     259  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total selling and marketing expenses   $2,881    $1,911    $ 970  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Selling and marketing expenses were $2.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $1.9 million for the six months ended June 30,
2015. The increase of $1.0 million was primarily due to an increase of $0.5 million in personnel costs relating to additional hiring and additional stock-based
compensation expense, an increase of $0.2 million in professional fees including consulting, trade shows and conferences and advertising and promotion costs
relating to the ReSure Sealant, and an increase of $0.3 million in facility-related and other costs.

General and Administrative Expenses
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,    Increase
(Decrease)    2016    2015    

   (in thousands)      
Personnel related (including stock-based compensation)   $2,817    $2,464    $ 353  
Professional, insurance and consultant fees    1,976     1,154     822  
Facility-related and other    586     506     80  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total general and administrative expenses   $5,379    $4,124    $ 1,255  
    

 

    

 

    

 

General and administrative expenses were $5.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $4.1 million for the six months ended June 30,
2015. The increase of $1.3 million was primarily due to an increase of $0.4 million in personnel costs relating to additional hiring and additional stock-based
compensation expense, an increase of $0.8 million in professional, insurance and consultant fees and an increase of $0.1 million in facility-related and other costs.
Professional, insurance and consultant fees increased primarily due to an increase in consulting fees of $0.8 million relating to activities to support our operating
as a public company including legal and professional services.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other expense, net was $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The
decrease was related to an increase in interest income of $0.1 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. We have generated limited revenue to date. In the first quarter of 2014, we began
recognizing revenue from sales of ReSure Sealant. All of our sustained drug delivery products are in various phases of clinical and preclinical development. We
do not expect sales of ReSure Sealant to generate revenue that is sufficient for us to achieve profitability. Instead, our ability to generate product revenue
sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on our obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing products with greater market potential,
including one or both of DEXTENZA and OTX-TP.

Through June 30, 2016, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock, public offerings of our common
stock and borrowings under credit facilities. In July 2014, we closed our IPO, and in August 2014 the underwriters in our IPO exercised their over-allotment
option in full. We received total net proceeds of approximately $66.4 million from the issuance and sale of 5,750,000 shares of common stock, including in
connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering costs. In June 2015, we
completed a follow-on offering of our common stock at a public offering price of $22.00 per share. The offering consisted of 4,600,000 shares of common stock,
of
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which 3,200,000 shares were issued and sold by us and 1,400,000 shares were sold by certain stockholders, including those shares sold in connection with the
exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds from the follow-on offering of approximately $65.6 million
after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, and offering expenses.

As of June 30, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $83.9 million. In April 2014, we borrowed $15.0 million in aggregate
principal amount under a new credit facility and used $1.9 million of this amount to repay $1.7 million aggregate principal amount of indebtedness and pay
$0.2 million of other amounts due in connection with our termination of a prior credit facility. In December 2015, we amended our credit facility to increase the
aggregate principal amount to $15.6 million, extend the interest-only payment period through December 2016, and extend the maturity date to December 1, 2019.
The outstanding borrowings under this facility bear interest at an annual rate equal to 8.25%. See “—Contractual Obligations and Commitments” for additional
information.

Cash Flows

As of June 30, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $83.9 million. Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested in
accordance with our investment policy, primarily with a view to liquidity and capital preservation.

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2016    2015  
   (in thousands)  
Cash used in operating activities   $(19,058)   $(15,407) 
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    36,630     (8,896) 
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (186)    65,596  

    
 

    
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   $ 17,386    $ 41,293  
    

 

    

 

Operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $19.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, primarily resulting from our net loss
of $22.3 million partially offset by non-cash charges of $3.3 million. Our net loss was primarily attributed to research and development activities and our general
and administrative expenses, as we had minimal product revenue in the period. Our net non-cash charges during the six months ended June 30, 2016 consisted
primarily of $2.9 million of stock-based compensation expense. Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities during the six months ended June
30, 2016 consisted primarily of a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.1 million and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets
of $0.9 million. The changes in prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses were due to increased product development
activities and the timing of vendor invoicing and payments.

Net cash used in operating activities was $15.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015, primarily resulting from our net loss of $17.6 million and
net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $0.4 million partially offset by non-cash charges of $2.5 million. Our net loss was primarily
attributed to research and development activities and our general and administrative expenses, as we had minimal product revenue in the period. Our net non-cash
charges during the six months ended June 30, 2015 consisted primarily of $2.1 million of stock-based compensation expense. Net cash used by changes in our
operating assets and liabilities during the six months ended June 30, 2015 consisted primarily of an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $0.3
million and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.7 million. The changes in prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable
and accrued expenses were due to increased product development activities and the timing of vendor invoicing and payments.

Investing activities. Net cash provided by investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 totaled $36.6 million and net cash used in investing
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 totaled $8.9 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, net cash provided is primarily due to the sale of
marketable securities of $50.0 million offset by the purchase of marketable securities of $11.5 million and an increase in restricted cash of $1.5 million. For the
six months ended June 30, 2016, the purchases of property and equipment, primarily laboratory equipment was $0.4 million. For the six months ended June 30,
2015, net cash used is primarily due to the purchase of marketable securities of $17.5 million offset by the sale of marketable securities of $9.8 million. For the
six months ended June 30, 2015, the purchases of property and equipment, primarily laboratory equipment and additional investment in a manufacturing clean
room was $1.2 million. In June 2016, we entered into a lease agreement for approximately 70,712 square feet of general office, research and development and
manufacturing space. We expect to spend approximately $6.0 million to $7.5 million including a construction allowance of up to $2.8 million on improvements to
this newly leased space.
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Financing activities. Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $0.2 million and net cash provided by financing
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 was $65.6 million. Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 consisted of
payments of $0.4 million for insurance costs financed by a third party offset by proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to our employee stock
purchase plan of $0.1 million and $0.1 million from the exercise of common stock options. Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 consisted primarily of proceeds of $65.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and other offering expenses, related to our follow-on offering,
proceeds from the exercise of common stock options of $0.1 million; and proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan
of $0.1 million partially offset by payments of $0.3 million for insurance costs financed by a third party.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance the clinical trials of our products in
development and increase our sales and marketing resources.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:
 

 •  pursue the clinical development of our most advanced intracanalicular depot product candidates, DEXTENZA and OTX-TP;
 

 •  continue the research and development of our other product candidates;
 

 •  seek to identify and develop additional product candidates, including through preclinical development activities associated with our back-of-the-eye
program;

 

 •  seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical development;
 

 •  develop and expand our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any of our product candidates, including potentially DEXTENZA, for
which we obtain marketing approval;

 

 
•  scale up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support sales of commercial products, our ongoing clinical trials of our product candidates

and commercialization of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval, and expand our facilities to accommodate this scale
up and the expected growth in personnel;

 

 •  maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
 

 •  expand our operational, financial and management systems and personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing
and commercialization efforts and our operations as a public company;

 

 •  increase our product liability and clinical trial insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and commercialization efforts; and
 

 •  operate as a public company.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and
capital expenditure requirements through the third quarter of 2017. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our
capital resources sooner than we currently expect.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  the level of product sales from any additional products for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;
 

 •  the costs of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization efforts with respect to ReSure Sealant and any additional
products, including potentially DEXTENZA, for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;

 

 •  the costs of expanding our facilities to accommodate our manufacturing needs and expected growth in personnel;
 

 •  the progress, costs and outcome of the clinical trials of our intracanalicular depot product candidates, in particular DEXTENZA and OTX-TP;
 

 •  the costs of advancing our internal development efforts for the back-of-the-eye program through the remaining preclinical steps and potentially into
an initial clinical trial;

 

 •  the scope, progress, costs and outcome of preclinical development and clinical trials of our other product candidates;
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 •  the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates by the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities, including the
current NDA;

 

 •  the extent to which we choose to establish collaboration, distribution or other marketing arrangements for our products and product candidates;
 

 •  the costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
any intellectual property-related claims; and

 

 •  the extent to which we acquire or invest in other businesses, products and technologies.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination
of revenue from sales of ReSure Sealant, equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing
arrangements and marketing and distribution arrangements. We do not have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital
through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, each security holder’s ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect each security holder’s rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if
available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends. The covenants under our existing credit facility, the pledge of our assets as collateral and the negative pledge of
intellectual property limit our ability to obtain additional debt financing. If we raise additional funds through government or other third-party funding,
collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements or marketing and distribution arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise
additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Since our inception in 2006, we have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the net losses we have incurred in each year or our
earned research and development tax credits, due to our uncertainty of realizing a benefit from those items. As of December 31, 2015, we had federal net
operating loss carryforwards of $60.8 million, which begin to expire in 2026, and state net operating loss carryforwards of $50.5 million, which begin to expire in
2029. As of December 31, 2015, we also had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $3.0 million and state research and development tax
credit carryforwards $1.6 million, which begin to expire in 2026 and 2025, respectively. We have not completed a study to assess whether an ownership change,
generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in the equity ownership of our corporate entity over a three-year period, has occurred or whether there
have been multiple ownership changes since our inception, due to the significant costs and complexities associated with such studies. Accordingly, our ability to
utilize our tax carryforwards may be limited. Additionally, U.S. tax laws limit the time during which these carryforwards may be utilized against future taxes. As
a result, we may not be able to take full advantage of these carryforwards for federal and state tax purposes.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at June 30, 2016 and the effects such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash
flow in future periods:
 
   Total    

Less Than
1 Year    

1 to 3
Years    

3 to 5
Years    

More than
5 Years  

   (in thousands)  
Operating lease commitments   $14,787    $ 828    $ 2,825    $2,540   $ 8,594 
Purchase commitments    4,697     3,014     1,683     —      —   
Manufacturing commitments    1,680     1,260     420     —      —   
Debt obligations    18,851     3,860     11,742     3,249     —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $40,015    $ 8,962    $16,670    $5,789    $ 8,594 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

In the table above, we set forth our enforceable and legally binding obligations and future commitments at June 30, 2016, as well as obligations related to
contracts that we are likely to continue, regardless of the fact that they may be cancelable at June 30, 2016. Some of the figures that we include in this table are
based on management’s estimates and assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions
are necessarily subjective, the obligations we will actually pay in future periods may vary from those reflected in the table.

Operating lease commitments represent payments due under our leases of office, laboratory and manufacturing space in Bedford, Massachusetts and certain
office equipment under operating leases that expire in June 2017, June 2018 and July 2027.
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On June 17, 2016, we entered into a lease agreement for approximately 70,712 square feet of general office, research and development and
manufacturing space. The lease term will commence on February 1, 2017 and expire on July 31, 2027. No base rent will be due under the lease until August 1,
2017. The initial annual base rent is approximately $1.2 million and will increase annually beginning on February 1 of each year. We are obligated to pay all real
estate taxes and costs related to the premises, including costs of operations, maintenance, repair, and replacement and management of the new leased
premises. We posted a customary letter of credit in the amount of $1.5 million as a security deposit. We intend to relocate our corporate headquarters to the new
leased premises beginning in 2017 and expect to relocate all of our operations to the new leased premises by 2018. The lease agreement allows for a construction
allowance not to exceed approximately $2.8 million to be applied to the total construction costs of the new leased premises. The construction allowance must be
used on or before December 31, 2017, or it will be deemed forfeited with no further obligation by the landlord of the new leased premises.

Purchase commitments represent non-cancelable contractual commitments associated with certain clinical trial activities with our CROs and design fees for
our future corporate headquarters.

Manufacturing commitments generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore are cancelable contracts but are contracts that we are likely to
continue, regardless of the fact that they are cancelable.

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business to assist in the performance of our research and development activities and other services and
products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore are cancelable contracts and not included in the table
of contractual obligations and commitments.

We have an amended credit facility with an aggregate principal amount of $15.6 million that provides for monthly, interest-only payments on outstanding
borrowings through December 2016. Thereafter, we are required to pay thirty-six consecutive, equal monthly installments of principal and interest through
December 1, 2019. There are no financial covenants associated with the credit facility. There are negative covenants restricting our activities, including
limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering our intellectual property; incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividends; making
investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions. The obligations under the credit facility are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of
specified events of default, including a material adverse change in our business, operations or financial or other condition. The credit facility is secured by
substantially all of our assets except for our intellectual property, which is subject to a negative pledge.

We have in-licensed a significant portion of our intellectual property from Incept, an intellectual property holding company, under an amended and restated
license agreement that we entered into with Incept in January 2012. We are obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a low single-digit percentage of net sales
made by us or our affiliates of any products covered by the licensed technology. Any sublicensee of ours also will be obligated to pay Incept a royalty equal to a
low single-digit percentage of net sales made by it and will be bound by the terms of the agreement to the same extent as we are. We are obligated to reimburse
Incept for our share of the reasonable fees and costs incurred by Incept in connection with the prosecution of the patent applications licensed to us under the
agreement. Our share of these fees and costs is equal to the total amount of such fees and costs divided by the total number of Incept’s exclusive licensees of the
patent application. We have not included in the table above any payments to Incept under this license agreement as the amount, timing and likelihood of such
payment are not known.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission, such relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, which are often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, established for the purpose of facilitating financing transactions that are not required to be reflected on our balance sheets.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2014-15, Presentation of Financial
Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40). The new guidance addresses management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. Management’s evaluation should be based on relevant conditions and
events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial statements are issued. The standard will be effective for the first interim period
within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently assessing the impact that adopting this new
accounting guidance will have on our financial statements and footnote disclosure.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), or ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09 outlines a new,
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
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customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a five-
step analysis in determining when and how revenue is recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of Effective Date. The amendments in ASU 2015-14 defer the
effective date of ASU 2014-09 for all entities by one year. The standard will be effective for public entities for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those periods. Early adoption is permitted, but it cannot be any earlier than 2017 for calendar year-end entities.
Companies may use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adopt ASU 2014-09. We are currently assessing the impact that adopting
this new accounting guidance will have on our financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASC 842), or ASU 2016-02. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize most leases on the
balance sheet. This is expected to increase both reported assets and liabilities. The new lease standard does not substantially change lessor accounting. For public
companies, the standard will be effective for the first interim reporting period within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, although early adoption
is permitted. Lessees and lessors will be required to apply the new standard at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which
they first apply the new guidance, using a modified retrospective transition method. The requirements of this standard include a significant increase in required
disclosures. We are currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on our financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue
Gross versus Net), or ASU 2016-08. ASU 2016-08 clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. The guidance includes
indicators to assist an entity in determining whether it controls a specified good or service before it is transferred to the customers. The effective date and
transition requirements for the amendments in this update are the same as the effective date and transition requirements for ASU 2014-09. We are currently
assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on our financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation, or ASU 2016-09. ASU 2016-09 identifies areas for
simplification involving several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as
either equity or liabilities, an option to recognize gross stock compensation expense with actual forfeitures recognized as they occur, as well as certain
classifications on the statement of cash flows. The amendments in this update will be effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently assessing the impact that adopting this new accounting guidance will have on
our financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In April 2016, the FASB, issued ASU No. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (Topic 606), or ASU 2016-10, which amends
certain aspects of the FASB’s new revenue standard, ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-10 identifies performance obligations and provides licensing implementation
guidance. The effective date for ASU 2016-10 is the same as the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09. The standard will be effective for public entities for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those periods. We are currently assessing the impact that adopting this new
accounting guidance will have on our financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical
Expedients. ASU 2016-12 provides for amendments to ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, amending the guidance on transition,
collectability, noncash consideration and the presentation of sales and other similar taxes. Specifically, ASU 2016-12 clarifies that, for a contract to be considered
completed at transition, all (or substantially all) of the revenue must have been recognized under legacy GAAP. In addition, ASU 2016-12 clarifies how an entity
should evaluate the collectability threshold and when an entity can recognize nonrefundable consideration received as revenue if an arrangement does not meet
the standard’s contract criteria. We are currently assessing the impact of ASU 2016-12, but it does not expect the adoption of ASU 2016-12 to have a material
impact on its financial statements.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. As of June 30, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $83.9
million, which consisted of money market funds, United States treasury notes and government agency notes. We have policies requiring us to invest in high-
quality issuers, limit our exposure to any individual issuer, and ensure adequate liquidity. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate sensitivity, which is
affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly because our investments are in short-term securities. Due to the short-term duration of
our investment portfolio and the low risk profile of our investments, an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the
fair market value of our portfolio.

 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of June 30, 2016. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2016, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date,
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the
quarter ended June 30, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be carefully considered. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less
significant may also impair our business operations. Please see page 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of some of the forward-looking
statements that are qualified by these risk factors. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth
prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need For Additional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We expect to incur losses over the next several years and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our net losses were $28.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, $39.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2015 and $22.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016. As of June 30, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of $151.5
million. Through June 30, 2016, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock, public offerings of our common
stock and borrowings under credit facilities. In June 2015, we completed a follow-on offering of our common stock, which resulted in the sale of 4,600,000 shares
consisting of 3,200,000 shares being sold by us and 1,400,000 shares being sold by certain stockholders of the Company, including those shares sold in
connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds from the follow-on offering of
approximately $65.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and offering costs. In the first quarter of 2014, we began recognizing revenue from sales of
ReSure Sealant, which was approved in January 2014 by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, to seal clear corneal incisions following cataract
surgery. We have devoted substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to research and development, including preclinical studies and clinical trials and,
beginning in the first quarter of 2014, commercialization of ReSure Sealant. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses over the
next several years. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:
 

 •  pursue the clinical development of our most advanced intracanalicular depot product candidates, DEXTENZA and OTX-TP;
 

 •  continue the research and development of our other product candidates; including through preclinical development activities associated with our
back-of-the-eye program;

 

 •  seek to identify and develop additional product candidates;
 

 •  seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical development;
 

 •  develop and expand our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any of our product candidates, including potentially DEXTENZA, for
which we may obtain marketing approval;

 

 
•  scale up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support sales of commercial products, our ongoing clinical trials of our product candidates

and commercialization of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval, and expand our facilities to accommodate this scale
up and the expected growth in personnel;

 

 •  maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
 

 •  expand our operational, financial and management systems and personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing
and commercialization efforts and our operations as a public company;

 

 •  increase our product liability and clinical trial insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and commercialization efforts; and
 

 •  continue to operate as a public company.
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or
amount of increased expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability. Our expenses will increase if:
 

 •  we are required by the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, to perform trials or studies in addition to those currently expected;
 

 •  there are any delays in receipt of regulatory clearance to begin our planned clinical programs; or
 

 •  there are any delays in enrollment of patients in or completing our clinical trials or the development of our product candidates.

ReSure Sealant is currently our only source of revenue from product sales. We do not expect sales of ReSure Sealant to generate revenue that is sufficient
for us to achieve profitability. Instead, for us to become and remain profitable, we will need to succeed in developing and commercializing products with greater
market potential. This will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including:
 

 •  successfully completing clinical development of our product candidates;
 

 •  obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates;
 

 •  manufacturing at commercial scale, marketing, selling and distributing those products for which we obtain marketing approval;
 

 •  achieving an adequate level of market acceptance of and obtaining and maintaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors
for our products; and

 

 •  protecting our rights to our intellectual property portfolio.

We may never succeed in these activities and may never generate revenue that is sufficient or great enough to achieve profitability. In July 2016, we
received a Complete Response Letter, or CRL, from the FDA regarding our NDA for DEXTENZA. In the CRL, the concerns raised by the FDA pertain to
deficiencies in manufacturing process and controls identified during a pre-NDA approval inspection of our manufacturing facility. More recently, we received a
letter from the FDA New England District Office providing additional details pertaining to the manufacturing facility inspection observations. We will need to
resolve the issues in the CRL and obtain approval of our NDA before we can commercialize and begin to generate revenue from sales of DEXTENZA. Even if
we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable
would depress the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts,
diversify our product offerings or even continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause our stockholders to lose all or part of their
investment.

We may need substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product
development programs or commercialization efforts.

We expect to devote substantial financial resources to our ongoing and planned activities, particularly as we conduct late stage clinical trials for our
sustained-release drug delivery product candidates, in particular DEXTENZA and OTX-TP, and seek marketing approval for any such product candidate for
which we obtain favorable pivotal clinical results. We also expect to devote significant financial resources to conducting research and development and
potentially seeking regulatory approval for our other product candidates. In addition, we plan to devote substantial financial resources to our commercialization
efforts, including product manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution for ReSure Sealant and any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval. Accordingly, we may need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when
needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts.

As of June 30, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $83.9 million. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities will enable us to fund our operating expenses, debt service obligations and capital expenditure requirements through the third quarter of
2017. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our
future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  the level of product sales from any additional products for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;
 

 •  the costs of manufacturing, sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization efforts with respect to ReSure Sealant and any additional
products, including potentially DEXTENZA, for which we obtain marketing approval in the future;
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 •  the costs of expanding our facilities to accommodate our manufacturing needs and expected growth in personnel;
 

 •  the progress, costs and outcome of the clinical trials of our sustained-release drug delivery product candidates, in particular DEXTENZA and OTX-
TP;

 

 •  the costs of advancing our internal development efforts for the back-of-the-eye program through the remaining preclinical steps and potentially into
an initial clinical trial;

 

 •  the scope, progress, costs and outcome of preclinical development and clinical trials of our other product candidates;
 

 •  the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates by the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities, including the
current NDA;

 

 •  the extent to which we choose to establish collaboration, distribution or other marketing arrangements for our products and product candidates;
 

 •  the costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
any intellectual property-related claims; and

 

 •  the extent to which we acquire or invest in other businesses, products and technologies.

Conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete. We may never generate
the necessary data or results required to obtain regulatory approval of products with the market potential sufficient to enable us to achieve profitability. We do not
expect to generate significant revenue from sales of any product for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we may need to obtain substantial additional financing to
achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we may seek additional
capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product
candidates.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination
of revenue from sales of ReSure Sealant, equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements and marketing and
distribution arrangements. We do not have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or
convertible debt securities, our stockholders’ ownership interests will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences
that adversely affect our existing stockholders’ rights as holders of our common stock. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve
agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or
declaring dividends. Our pledge of our assets as collateral to secure our obligations under our credit facility may limit our ability to obtain additional debt
financing.

If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements or marketing and distribution arrangements, we may have to
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate
our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer
to develop and market ourselves.

Our substantial indebtedness may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. In April 2014, we entered into a credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank and MidCap Financial SBIC, LP. In
December 2015, we amended this facility to increase the aggregate principal amount to $15.6 million and extend both the interest-only payment period and the
maturity date. Our obligations under this facility are secured by all of our assets other than our intellectual property. Our intellectual property rights are subject to
a negative pledge arrangement under the facility. We could in the future incur additional indebtedness beyond such amounts.

Our substantial debt combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse consequences, including:
 

 
•  requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities to the payment of interest on, and principal of,

our debt, which will reduce the amounts available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product development efforts and other general
corporate purposes;
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 •  obligating us to negative covenants restricting our activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions, encumbering our
intellectual property, incurring indebtedness or liens, paying dividends, making investments and engaging in certain other business transactions;

 

 •  limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry; and
 

 •  placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, revenue from
sales of ReSure Sealant and funds from external sources. However, we may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to pay
the amounts due under our existing debt. Funds from external sources may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, a failure to comply with the
conditions of our credit facility could result in an event of default under those instruments. In the event of an acceleration of amounts due under our credit facility
as a result of an event of default, including upon the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business,
operations, properties, assets or condition or a failure to pay any amount due, we may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional
financing to repay our indebtedness or to make any accelerated payments, and the lenders could seek to enforce security interests in the collateral securing such
indebtedness. In addition, the covenants under our existing credit facility, the pledge of our assets as collateral and the negative pledge of our intellectual property
limit our ability to obtain additional debt financing.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for our stockholders to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

We are an early-stage company. Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, acquiring rights to intellectual property,
business planning, raising capital, developing our technology, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials,
manufacturing initial quantities of our products and product candidates and, beginning in the first quarter of 2014, commercializing ReSure Sealant.
Consequently, any predictions about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history.

In addition, as a new business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown factors. We will
need to transition from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in
such a transition.

We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year due to a variety of
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, our stockholders should not rely upon the results of any quarterly or annual periods as indications of
future operating performance.

We have broad discretion in the use of our available cash and other sources of funding and may not use them effectively.

Our management has broad discretion in the use of our available cash and other sources of funding and could spend those resources in ways that do not
improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could result in
financial losses that could cause the price of our common stock to decline and delay the development of our product candidates. Pending their use, we may invest
our available cash in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value.

Risks Related to Product Development

We depend heavily on the success of our intracanalicular depot and our other product candidates, in particular DEXTENZA and OTX-TP. Clinical trials of
our product candidates may not be successful. If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development of and obtain marketing approvals for our
product candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, or if after obtaining marketing approvals, we fail to commercialize these product candidates,
our business will be materially harmed.

We have devoted a significant portion of our financial resources and business efforts to the development of our drug-eluting intracanalicular depot product
candidates for diseases and conditions of the front of the eye. In particular, we are investing substantial resources to complete the development of DEXTENZA
for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, allergic conjunctivitis and dry eye and OTX-TP for glaucoma and ocular hypertension. We cannot accurately
predict when or if any of our product candidates will prove effective or safe in humans or whether these product candidates will receive marketing approval. Our
ability to generate product revenues sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on our obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing one or
both of DEXTENZA and OTX-TP.
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The commercial success of our intracanalicular depot and our other product candidates will depend on many factors, including the following:
 

 •  successful completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials;
 

 •  applying for and receiving marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities for our product candidates;
 

 •  scaling up our manufacturing processes and capabilities to support additional or larger clinical trials of our product candidates and commercialization
of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval;

 

 •  developing, validating and maintaining a commercially viable manufacturing process that is compliant with current good manufacturing practices, or
cGMP;

 

 •  developing and expanding our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for ReSure Sealant and successfully launching commercial sales of any
of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval;

 

 •  developing and expanding our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when
approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

 

 •  acceptance of our products, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;
 

 •  effectively competing with other therapies;
 

 •  maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our products following approval;
 

 •  obtaining and maintaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
 

 •  obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity; and
 

 •  protecting our rights in our intellectual property portfolio.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates, which would materially harm our business.

If clinical trials of our intracanalicular depot product candidates or any other product candidate that we develop fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy
to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities or do not otherwise produce favorable results, we may incur additional costs or
experience delays in completing, or ultimately be delayed or unable to complete, the development and commercialization of such product candidate.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, including our intracanalicular depot product
candidates, we must complete preclinical development and then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates
in humans. Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or
more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later stage
clinical trials, interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results and results from one completed clinical trial may not be replicated in a
subsequent clinical trial with a similar study design. Some of our completed studies, including our pilot studies for OTX-TP and our Phase 1 clinical trial of
OTX-MP, were conducted with small patient populations, making it difficult to predict whether the favorable results that we observed in such studies will be
repeated in larger and more advanced clinical trials. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many
companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing
approval of their products.

In general, the FDA requires two adequate and well controlled clinical trials to support the effectiveness of a new drug for marketing approval. In a Phase 2
clinical trial of DEXTENZA that we completed in 2013 in which we were evaluating DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, DEXTENZA
did not meet the primary efficacy endpoint for inflammation with statistical significance at the pre-specified time point at day 8. However, we did achieve
statistical significance for this inflammation endpoint at days 14 and 30. Accordingly, we measured the primary efficacy endpoint for inflammation in our two
completed Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA at day 14. In the first of these two Phase 3 clinical trials, DEXTENZA met both primary endpoints for post-
surgical ocular inflammation and pain with statistical significance. However, in the second Phase 3 clinical trial, DEXTENZA met only one of the two primary
efficacy endpoints with statistical significance. In this second trial, DEXTENZA did not meet the primary endpoint relating to absence of inflammatory cells in
the study eye at day 14.

According to the trial protocols, the two primary efficacy endpoints in our completed Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials are fixed sequence endpoints. As
such, a statistical analysis of the trial results required that we first assess the primary endpoint regarding absence of inflammatory cells in the study eye. The
protocol and statistical analysis plan for the trial did not contemplate assessing the primary endpoint regarding absence of pain in the study eye in the event the
clinical trial of DEXTENZA did not meet the first primary endpoint with statistical significance. The FDA has informed us that the hierarchy of the two primary
endpoints for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain is applicable in connection with their review of our NDA seeking approval for DEXTENZA for
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an ocular pain indication. However, the FDA has also informed us that pain endpoints from the Phase 2 and two Phase 3 trials, with respect to which we received
favorable data, would support the NDA submission. Therefore, in September 2015, we submitted to the FDA an NDA for DEXTENZA for an ocular pain
indication using the existing data from our completed Phase 2 and two Phase 3 clinical trials notwithstanding the FDA’s comment regarding the applicability of
the hierarchy of the two primary endpoints in our completed Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials. In July 2016, we received a CRL from the FDA regarding our
NDA for DEXTENZA. In the CRL, the concerns raised by the FDA pertain to deficiencies in manufacturing process and controls identified during a pre-NDA
approval inspection of our manufacturing facility. When we submit our response regarding these deficiencies, we will also need to furnish to the FDA a safety
update regarding all completed trials of DEXTENZA, regardless of indication, dosage form or dose level. Subsequently, we received a letter from the FDA New
England District Office providing additional details pertaining to the manufacturing facility inspection observations. The satisfactory resolution of the
manufacturing deficiencies raised in the CRL is required before our NDA can be approved.

We have also initiated enrollment in a third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENA for post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain to support the potential
labeling expansion of DEXTENZA’s indications for use to include inflammation. We have modified the design of this third Phase 3 clinical trial compared to our
two completed Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA based on our learnings from these prior trials. However, these modifications may not have the intended
effect or yield favorable trial results. If the results of our third Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA are favorable and subject to receiving approval for the pain
indication pursuant to the initial NDA, we plan to submit an NDA supplement for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation. Although
we believe our planned approach for seeking marketing approval of DEXTENZA is supported by our discussions with the FDA, and by the acceptance by the
FDA, by the absence of any efficacy or safety concerns identified by the FDA in the CRL with respect to the clinical data provided in the NDA, the FDA could
nonetheless not grant marketing approval of DEXTENZA for the pain indication until we obtain favorable results from the third Phase 3 clinical trial on both
primary efficacy endpoints, or at all. If we complete the third Phase 3 clinical trial prior to a final decision by the FDA with respect to approval of our pending
NDA and we do not obtain favorable results in the third Phase 3 clinical trial, in particular with respect to the primary efficacy endpoint for pain, the FDA could
refuse to grant marketing approval of DEXTENZA for the pain indication.

Post-hoc analyses that we performed on the results of our two completed Phase 3 clinical trials may not be predictive of success in our third Phase 3
clinical trial. Although we believe that the collective data from these trials, including the post-hoc analyses, provide support for our decision to conduct a third
Phase 3 clinical trial and provide additional information regarding our platform technology, post-hoc analyses performed using an unlocked clinical trial database
can result in the introduction of bias and are given less weight by regulatory authorities than pre-specified analyses.

In our first Phase 3 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, DEXTENZA met one of the two primary endpoints. DEXTENZA achieved the
primary endpoint for ocular itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis but not the primary endpoint for conjunctival redness, in each case measured on day 7
after insertion of the depot. The difference in the mean scores for ocular itching between the DEXTENZA group and the placebo group was greater than 0.5 units
on a five point scale at all time points on day 7 post-insertion and was greater than 1.0 unit at a majority of the time points on day 7 post-insertion. The
DEXTENZA group did not achieve these pre-specified endpoints on day 7 post-insertion with respect to conjunctival redness. In our second Phase 3 clinical trial
of DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, DEXTENZA did not meet the sole primary endpoint for ocular itching. The single primary endpoint of the second
Phase 3 clinical trial was the difference in the mean scores in ocular itching between the treatment group and the placebo comparator group at three time points on
day 7 following insertion of the depots. While mean ocular itching was seen to be numerically lower (more favorable) in the DEXTENZA treatment group
compared to the placebo group measured on day 7 following insertion of the depots, at 3, 5, and 7 minutes by -0.18, -0.29, and -0.29 units, respectively, on a five
point scale, this difference did not reach statistical significance. In addition, the trial did not achieve the requirement of at least a 0.5 unit difference at all three
time points on day 7 following insertion of the depots and at least a 1.0 unit difference at the majority of the three time points between the treatment group and the
placebo group on day 7 following insertion of the depots. Further, in our prior Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA in which we were evaluating DEXTENZA for
allergic conjunctivitis, DEXTENZA met one of the two primary efficacy measures. The DEXTENZA treatment group achieved a mean difference compared to
the vehicle control group of more than 0.5 units on a five point scale on day 14 for all three time points measured in a day for both ocular itching and conjunctival
redness. The DEXTENZA group did not achieve a mean difference compared to the vehicle control group of 1.0 unit for the majority of the three time points
measured on day 14 for either ocular itching or conjunctival redness. Even if we obtain favorable clinical trial results in any additional Phase 3 clinical trial of
DEXTENZA for allergic conjunctivitis, including meeting all primary efficacy measures, we may not obtain approval for DEXTENZA to treat allergic
conjunctivitis or ocular itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis, or the FDA may require that we conduct additional clinical trials.

We designed our Phase 2 clinical trials of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension to assess clinically meaningful response to
treatment, and did not power these trials to measure any efficacy endpoints with statistical significance. We reported topline efficacy results from our Phase 2b
clinical trial of OTX-TP for the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension in October 2015. In this trial, on day 60 at the 8:00 a.m. time point, the OTX-TP
group experienced a mean intraocular pressure lowering effect of 4.7 mmHg, compared with intraocular pressure lowering of 6.4 mmHg for the timolol arm. On
day 90 at the 8:00 a.m. time point, the OTX-TP group experienced an intraocular pressure lowering effect of 5.1 mmHg, compared with an intraocular pressure
lowering effect of 7.2 mmHg in the timolol arm. We expect that our planned Phase 3 clinical trials for OTX-TP, one of which we
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intend to initiate during the third quarter of 2016, will be powered with an appropriate number of patients to measure with statistical significance the superiority
of OTX-TP as compared to a placebo vehicle intracanalicular depot in the reduction of mean IOP from baseline at all of the nine diurnal time points at day 15, 45
and 90 visits. The trial design will not have eye drops, placebo or active, administered in either the treatment or the placebo-controlled arm. However, results
from our Phase 2 clinical trials may not necessarily predict a likelihood of achieving our primary endpoint in the Phase 3 clinical trials with statistical
significance, including as a result of differences in trial design. If we do not achieve our primary endpoint in the Phase 3 clinical trials with statistical significance,
we may not obtain marketing approval for OTX-TP.

In addition, post-hoc analyses that we performed on the results of our completed Phase 2b clinical trial may not be predictive of success in our planned
Phase 3 clinical trials. Post-hoc analyses performed using an unlocked clinical trial database can result in the introduction of bias and are given less weight by
regulatory authorities than pre-specified analyses.

The success of our intracanalicular depot product candidates is dependent upon retention following insertion and during the course of intended therapy. As
such, we continue to conduct non-significant risk Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) medical device, or NSR, studies in the United States for our
intracanalicular depots in an effort to increase the rate of retention. All NSR studies that we have performed to date have involved placebo vehicle control
intracanalicular depots without active drug. If we determine to make any future changes to the design or composition of our depots, such changes could affect the
outcome of any subsequent clinical trials using these updated depots. For example, in our Phase 2b clinical trial of OTX-TP, we are using a different version of
intracanalicular depot than either of the depots that we used in our Phase 2a clinical trial of OTX-TP. Based on the results of our completed Phase 2a clinical trial,
we designed the OTX-TP depot that was used in our Phase 2b clinical trial to deliver drug over a 90 day period at the same daily rate as the two-month version of
the depot used in the Phase 2a clinical trial. To achieve this, we modified the design of the OTX-TP depot to enlarge it in order to enable the depot to carry a
greater amount of drug. In addition, we incorporated minor structural changes to improve retention rates. In our Phase 2b clinical trials, OTX-TP depots could be
visualized in approximately 88% of eyes by the day 60 visit. By the day 90 visit, the ability to visualize OTX-TP had declined to approximately 42% of eyes as
the hydrogel softened, liquefied and had either advanced further down in the canaliculus or had cleared through the nasolacrimal duct. We plan to conduct
additional non-significant risk studies on additional modified depot designs, including a polyethylene glycol, or PEG, tip on the proximal end of the depot, as we
design our Phase 3 trials for OTX-TP. If in our Phase 3 clinical trials the retention rates for our depots are inadequate to ensure that the patient is receiving
appropriate therapy, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approvals or, even if approved, achieve market acceptance of our sustained-release drug delivery
products.

The protocols for our clinical trials and other supporting information are subject to review by the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the United States.
For our intracanalicular depot product candidates, we have typically conducted our initial and earlier stage clinical trials outside the United States. We generally
plan to conduct our later stage and pivotal clinical trials of our intracanalicular depot product candidates in the United States. The FDA, however, could require us
to conduct additional studies or require us to modify our planned pivotal clinical trials to receive clearance to initiate such trials in the United States or to continue
such trials once initiated. For example, in connection with our initial development of ReSure Sealant, in June 2010 the FDA requested that we withdraw an
application that we had submitted under Section 510(k) of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, for the marketing of an earlier version of ReSure Sealant
as an ocular bandage because the FDA believed that the technical characteristics of the earlier version of ReSure Sealant were not substantially equivalent to a
predicate device. In particular, unlike predicate devices that could be removed if there is discomfort, our product candidate adhered to the corneal surface and was
not easily removable by the patient. As a result of this determination by the FDA, we needed to pursue a different regulatory approval pathway and conduct
additional clinical development of our product candidate to demonstrate safety and effectiveness. After withdrawing our 510(k) application, we filed an
investigational device exemption application to conduct a pivotal clinical trial to support approval of ReSure Sealant as an ocular sealant. The results of this
pivotal trial ultimately supported the marketing approval of ReSure Sealant in January 2014, although not in the time frame we had initially expected. The FDA is
not obligated to comment on our trial protocols within any specified time period or at all or to affirmatively clear or approve our planned pivotal clinical trials.
Subject to a waiting period of 30 days, we could choose to initiate our pivotal clinical trials in the United States without waiting for any additional period for
comments from the FDA.

We intend to conduct, and may in the future conduct, clinical trials for product candidates at sites outside the United States, and the FDA may not accept data
from trials conducted in such locations.

We have conducted, and may in the future choose to conduct, one or more of our clinical trials outside the United States. We have typically conducted our
initial and earlier stage clinical trials for our product candidates, including our intracanalicular depot product candidates, outside the United States. We generally
plan to conduct our later stage and pivotal clinical trials of our intracanalicular depot product candidates in the United States.

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States, acceptance of this data is subject to conditions imposed by the
FDA. For example, the clinical trial must be well designed and conducted and performed by qualified investigators in accordance with ethical principles. The trial
population must also adequately represent the U.S. population, and the
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data must be applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice in ways that the FDA deems clinically meaningful. In addition, while these clinical trials
are subject to the applicable local laws, FDA acceptance of the data will depend on its determination that the trials also complied with all applicable U.S. laws
and regulations. If the FDA does not accept the data from any trial that we conduct outside the United States, it would likely result in the need for additional
trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and would delay or permanently halt our development of the applicable product candidates.

Other risks inherent in conducting international clinical trials include:
 

 •  foreign regulatory requirements that could restrict or limit our ability to conduct our clinical trials
 

 •  administrative burdens of conducting clinical trials under multiple sets of foreign regulations;
 

 •  failure of enrolled patients to adhere to clinical protocols as a result of differences in healthcare services or cultural customs;
 

 •  foreign exchange fluctuations;
 

 •  diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries; and
 

 •  political and economic risks relevant to foreign countries.

If we experience any of a number of possible unforeseen events in connection with our clinical trials, potential marketing approval or commercialization of
our product candidates could be delayed or prevented.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval
or commercialize our sustained-release drug delivery product candidates or any other product candidates that we may develop, including:
 

 •  clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct
additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

 

 •  the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may
be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

 

 •  our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;
 

 •  regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

 

 •  we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols with prospective trial
sites;

 

 •  we may decide, or regulators or institutional review boards may require us, to suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including
noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

 

 •  the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate; and
 

 •  the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or
inadequate.

For example, we applied for a deferral from the FDA for the requirement to conduct pediatric studies for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical
ocular inflammation and pain following cataract surgery until after approval of such product in adult populations for that indication. While the FDA ultimately
approved our request, if the FDA had required us to conduct pediatric studies in advance of FDA approval in adult populations, we would have experienced
significant delays in our ability to obtain marketing approval for DEXTENZA for this indication. We will face a similar risk if we seek a comparable deferral for
other product candidates or indications.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are
unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not favorable or are only modestly
favorable or if there are safety concerns, we may:
 

 •  be delayed in obtaining or unable to obtain marketing approval for our product candidates;
 

 •  obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;
 

 •  obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings;
 

37



Table of Contents

 •  be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or
 

 •  have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals. We do not know whether any of our preclinical
studies or clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant preclinical or clinical trial delays
also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products
to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates.

If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or
prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our sustained-release drug delivery product candidates or our other product candidates that we
may develop if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA, the EMA or similar
regulatory authorities outside the United States. Although there is a significant prevalence of disease in the areas of ophthalmology in which we are focused, we
may nonetheless experience unanticipated difficulty with patient enrollment.

Patient enrollment is affected by a variety of factors, including:
 

 •  the prevalence and severity of the ophthalmic disease or condition under investigation;
 

 •  the eligibility criteria for the study in question;
 

 •  the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;
 

 •  the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;
 

 •  the patient referral practices of physicians;
 

 •  the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;
 

 •  the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;
 

 •  the conduct of clinical trials by competitors for product candidates that treat the same indications as our product candidates; and
 

 •  the lack of adequate compensation for prospective patients.

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials would result in significant delays, could require us to abandon one or more
clinical trials altogether and could delay or prevent our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals. Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased
development costs for our product candidates, which would cause the value of our company to decline and limit our ability to obtain additional financing.

If serious adverse or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our sustained-release drug delivery product candidates or any other
product candidates that we may develop, we may need to abandon or limit our development of such product candidates.

If our sustained-release drug delivery product candidates or any of our other product candidates are associated with serious adverse events or undesirable
side effects in clinical trials or have characteristics that are unexpected, we may need to abandon their development or limit development to more narrow uses or
subpopulations in which the serious adverse events, undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-
benefit perspective. In our recent Phase 3 clinical trials of DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain, there were two serious
adverse events in the DEXTENZA group in each of our two trials, none of which were ocular in nature or considered by the investigator to be related to the study
treatment. There was one ocular serious adverse event in the vehicle control group in the two completed Phase 3 clinical trials, which was hypopyon, or
inflammatory cells in the anterior chamber. In our earlier Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA for the same indication, there were three serious adverse events,
none of which was considered by the investigator to be related to the study treatment. In the DEXTENZA group of this Phase 2 clinical trial of DEXTENZA, the
only adverse event that occurred more than once was reduced visual acuity, which occurred twice. In our two pilot studies of OTX-TP for the treatment of
glaucoma and ocular hypertension and our Phase 2a clinical trial of OTX-TP for the same indication, the most common adverse event was inflammatory reaction,
which was noted in three patients in our pilot studies and in five patients in our Phase 2a clinical trial. No hyperemia-related adverse events were noted in any of
the patients treated with OTX-TP in our Phase 2b clinical trial. Further, there have been no serious adverse events in the Phase 2b clinical trial. However, a
complete analysis of all safety data is pending study completion.
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Adverse events noted to date including punctal stenosis, punctal trauma and canaliculitis. All adverse events have been transient in nature and resolved by the end
of the applicable trial. However, many compounds that initially showed promise in clinical or early stage testing for treating ophthalmic disease have later been
found to cause side effects that prevented further development of the compound. In addition, adverse events which had initially been considered unrelated to the
study treatment may later be found to be caused by the study treatment.

We may not be successful in our efforts to develop product candidates based on our bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform other than ReSure Sealant or
expand the use of our bioresorbable hydrogel technology for treating additional eye diseases and conditions.

We are currently directing all of our development efforts towards applying our proprietary bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform to product
candidates that are designed to provide sustained delivery of therapeutic agents to the eye using active pharmaceutical ingredients that are currently used in FDA-
approved ophthalmic drugs. We have a number of product candidates at various stages of development based on our bioresorbable hydrogel technology platform
and are exploring the potential use of our platform for other front-of-the-eye diseases and conditions. We are also developing a hydrogel-based drug delivery
depot designed to release therapeutic antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor, or VEGF, over a sustained period following administration by an
intravitreal injection for the treatment of diseases and conditions of the back of the eye, including wet age related macular degeneration, or wet AMD. Our
existing product candidates and any other potential product candidates that we identify may not be suitable for continued preclinical or clinical development,
including as a result of being shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to be products that will receive
marketing approval and achieve market acceptance. If we do not successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates that we develop based upon our
technological approach, we will not be able to obtain substantial product revenues in future periods.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that
may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on research programs and product candidates that we identify for specific
indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater
commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our
spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable
products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that
product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole
development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.

Risks Related to Manufacturing

We will need to upgrade and expand our manufacturing facility and augment our manufacturing personnel and processes in order to meet our business
plans. If we fail to do so, we may not have sufficient quantities of our products or product candidates to meet our commercial and clinical trial requirements.

We manufacture ReSure Sealant and our product candidates for use in clinical trials, research and development and commercial efforts at our multi-product
facility located at our corporate headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetts. In order to meet our business plan, which contemplates our scaling up manufacturing
processes to support ReSure Sealant sales, as well as our product candidate development programs and the potential commercialization of these product
candidates, we will need to upgrade and expand our existing manufacturing facility, add manufacturing personnel and ensure that validated processes are
consistently implemented in our facility. The upgrade and expansion of our facility will require additional regulatory approvals. In addition, it will be costly and
time-consuming to expand our facility and recruit necessary additional personnel. If we are unable to expand our manufacturing facility in compliance with
regulatory requirements or to hire additional necessary manufacturing personnel, we may encounter delays or additional costs in achieving our research,
development and commercialization objectives, including in obtaining regulatory approvals of our product candidates and meeting customer demand for ReSure
Sealant, which could materially damage our business and financial position.

We must comply with federal, state and foreign regulations, including quality assurance standards applicable to medical device and drug manufacturers,
such as cGMP, which is enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program and by similar regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions where we do
business. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation. Following an
inspection by the FDA in March 2015, for example, we received an FDA Form 483 containing an inspectional observation relating to inadequate procedures for
documenting follow-up information pertinent to the investigation of complaints and for evaluation of complaints for adverse event reporting. We submitted our
response, which was accepted by the FDA, and updated our procedures. In addition, in February 2016, as part of the
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ongoing review of our NDA for DEXTENZA, the FDA conducted a pre-NDA approval inspection of our manufacturing operations. As a result of this inspection,
we received an FDA Form 483 containing inspectional observations focused on process controls, analytical testing and physical security procedures related to
manufacture of our drug product for stability and commercial production purposes. We addressed some observations before the inspection was closed and
responded to the FDA with a corrective action plan to complete the inspection process. In July 2016, we received a CRL from the FDA regarding our NDA for
DEXTENZA. The concerns raised in the CRL pertain to the deficiencies in manufacturing processes raised in the February Form 483 letter. More recently, we
received a letter from the FDA New England District Office, or District Office, providing additional details pertaining to the manufacturing facility inspection
observations. The FDA District Office letter stated that the corrective actions included in our prior responses as a whole appear to adequately address the ten
inspectional observations raised in the Form 483 letter we received in February 2016 from the FDA, with one exception which relates to the proposed process for
identity testing of an incoming inert gas components used in our manufacturing process. The FDA District Letter also requested evidence (e.g., a final report)
when the planned migration of analytical testing from manual to an automatic integration is complete, which is anticipated during the third quarter of 2016. There
were no other issues identified in the FDA District Letter. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities at any time also may implement new standards, or
change their interpretation and enforcement of existing standards for manufacture, packaging or testing of our products. Any failure to comply with applicable
regulations may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, product seizure or recall, imposition of a consent decree, or withdrawal of product
approval, and would limit the availability of ReSure Sealant and our product candidates that we manufacture. The satisfactory resolution of the manufacturing
deficiencies raised in the CRL is required before our NDA for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain can be approved.

Any manufacturing defect or error discovered after products have been produced and distributed also could result in significant consequences, including
costly recall procedures, re-stocking costs, damage to our reputation and potential for product liability claims.

If our sole clinical manufacturing facility is damaged or destroyed or production at this facility is otherwise interrupted, our business and prospects
would be negatively affected.

If the manufacturing facility at our corporate headquarters or the equipment in it is damaged or destroyed, we may not be able to quickly or inexpensively
replace our manufacturing capacity or replace it at all. In the event of a temporary or protracted loss of this facility or equipment, we might not be able to transfer
manufacturing to a third party. Even if we could transfer manufacturing to a third party, the shift would likely be expensive and time-consuming, particularly
since the new facility would need to comply with the necessary regulatory requirements and we would need FDA approval before selling any products
manufactured at that facility. Such an event could delay our clinical trials or reduce our product sales.

Currently, we maintain insurance coverage against damage to our property and equipment in the amount of up to $7.7 million and to cover business
interruption and research and development restoration expenses in the amount of up to $2.8 million. However, our insurance coverage may not reimburse us, or
may not be sufficient to reimburse us, for any expenses or losses we may suffer. We may be unable to meet our requirements for ReSure Sealant or any of our
product candidates if there were a catastrophic event or failure of our current manufacturing facility or processes.

We expect to continue to contract with third parties for at least some aspects of the production of our products and product candidates. This increases the risk
that we will not have sufficient quantities of our products or product candidates or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair
our development or commercialization efforts.

We currently rely on third parties for some aspects of the production of ReSure Sealant and our product candidates for commercialization and preclinical
testing and clinical trials, including supply of active pharmaceutical ingredient drug substance, PEG, the molecule that forms the basis of our hydrogels, and other
raw materials and for sterilization of the finished product. In addition, while we believe that our existing manufacturing facility, or additional facilities that we
will be able to build, will be sufficient to meet our requirements for manufacturing ReSure Sealant and any of our product candidates for which we obtain
marketing approval, we may in the future need to rely on third-party manufacturers for some aspects of the manufacture of our products or product candidates.

We do not have any long term supply agreements in place for the clinical or commercial supply of any drug substances or raw materials for ReSure Sealant
or any of our product candidates. We purchase drug substance and raw materials, including the chemical constituents for our hydrogel, from independent
suppliers on a purchase order basis. Any performance failure or refusal to supply drug substance or raw materials on the part of our existing or future suppliers
could delay clinical development, marketing approval or commercialization of our products. If our current suppliers do not perform as we expect, we may be
required to replace one or more of these suppliers. In particular, we depend on a sole source supplier for the supply of our PEG. This sole source supplier may be
unwilling or unable to supply PEG to us reliably, continuously and at the levels we anticipate or are required by the market. Although we believe that there are a
number of potential long term replacements to our suppliers, including our PEG supplier, we may incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any
such replacements.
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Reliance on third parties for aspects of the supply of our products and product candidates entails additional risks, including:
 

 •  reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
 

 •  the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how;
 

 •  the possible breach of an agreement by the third party; and
 

 •  the possible termination or nonrenewal of an agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us.

Third-party suppliers or manufacturers may not be able to comply with quality assurance standards, cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements
outside the United States. Our failure, or the failure of our third parties, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us,
including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product
candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products and
product candidates.

Our potential future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates may adversely affect our future profit margins and our ability to
commercialize any products that receive regulatory approval on a timely and competitive basis.

Risks Related to Commercialization

Even though ReSure Sealant has received marketing approval from the FDA and even if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, any of
these products may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community necessary
for commercial success, and the market opportunity for these products may be smaller than we estimate.

ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates that receives marketing approval may fail to gain market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party
payors and others in the medical community. We commercially launched ReSure Sealant in the first quarter of 2014 and cannot yet accurately predict whether it
will it will gain market acceptance and become commercially successful. For example, we previously commenced commercialization in Europe of an earlier
version of ReSure Sealant that was approved and marketed as an ocular bandage. We recognized $0.1 million of revenue from the commercialization of this
product through 2012. However, we ceased our commercialization of the product in 2012 to focus on the ongoing clinical development of ReSure Sealant
pursuant to FDA requirements. If our products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenue and we may not
become profitable.

The degree of market acceptance of ReSure Sealant or any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will depend on a number of factors,
including:
 

 •  the efficacy and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments;
 

 •  our ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices, particularly in light of the lower cost of alternative treatments;
 

 •  the clinical indications and product labelling for which the product is approved;
 

 •  the convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments, including the intracanalicular depot retention rate for our
intracanalicular depot product candidates;

 

 •  the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;
 

 •  the strength of our marketing and distribution support;
 

 •  timing of market introduction of competitive products;
 

 •  the availability of third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement and, for ReSure Sealant, the lack of separate reimbursement when used as part
of a cataract surgery procedure;

 

 •  the prevalence and severity of any side effects; and
 

 •  any restrictions on the use of our products together with other medications.

For example, because we do not plan to conduct any clinical trials comparing the effectiveness of DEXTENZA directly to currently approved alternative
treatments for either post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain or allergic conjunctivitis, it is possible that the market acceptance of DEXTENZA, if it is
approved for marketing, could be less than if we had conducted such trials. Although market research we have commissioned indicates that a majority of
ophthalmologists believe DEXTENZA could become a new standard of care due to its potential ability to improve patient compliance with limited toxicity
concerns, market acceptance for DEXTENZA could be substantially less than such research indicates and we may not be able to achieve the market share we
anticipate.
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Our assessment of the potential market opportunity for ReSure Sealant and our product candidates is based on industry and market data that we obtained
from industry publications and research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies
generally indicate that their information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of
such information. While we believe these industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have not independently verified such
data. If the actual market for ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates is smaller than we expect, our product revenue may be limited and it may be more
difficult for us to achieve or maintain profitability.

If we are unable to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, we may not be successful in commercializing ReSure
Sealant or any product candidates if and when they are approved.

We have limited experience in the sale, marketing and distribution of drug and device products. To achieve commercial success for ReSure Sealant and any
product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval, we will need to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, either
ourselves or through collaborations or other arrangements with third parties. We sell ReSure Sealant through a network of independent medical device distributors
across the United States. We may determine to build a direct sales force to sell DEXTENZA, if approved for marketing and may initially use a contract sales
organization to staff a dedicated team of sales representatives. We may also consider co-promotional arrangements with larger ophthalmology companies. We
expect that a direct sales force will be required to effectively market and sell OTX-TP, if approved for marketing. Because we do not plan to determine whether to
seek regulatory approval for any of our product candidates outside of the United States until after we receive regulatory approval for the applicable product
candidate in the United States, at this time we cannot be certain when, if ever, we will recognize revenue from commercialization of our product candidates in any
international markets. If we decide to commercialize our products outside of the United States, we expect to utilize a variety of types of collaboration, distribution
and other marketing arrangements with one or more third parties to commercialize any product of ours that receives marketing approval. These may include
independent distributors, pharmaceutical companies or our own direct sales organization.

There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and with entering into arrangements with third parties
to perform these services. We may not be successful in entering into arrangements with third parties to sell, market and distribute our products or may be unable
to do so on terms that are most beneficial to us. We likely will have little control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary
resources and attention to market, sell and distribute our products effectively. Our product revenues and our profitability, if any, under third-party collaboration,
distribution or other marketing arrangements may also be lower than if we were to sell, market and distribute a product ourselves. On the other hand, recruiting
and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of any product candidate for which we
recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these
commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.

Other factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize products on our own include:
 

 •  our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;
 

 •  the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to use or prescribe our products;
 

 •  the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with
more extensive product lines; and

 

 •  unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization.

If we do not establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be
successful in commercializing ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new drug and device products is highly competitive. We face competition with respect to our product
candidates and ReSure Sealant, and will face competition with respect to any other product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the
future, from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and
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biotechnology companies worldwide. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research
organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and
commercialization.

Our product candidates target markets that are already served by a variety of competing products based on a number of active pharmaceutical ingredients.
Many of these existing products have achieved widespread acceptance among physicians, patients and payors for the treatment of ophthalmic diseases and
conditions. In addition, many of these products are available on a generic basis, and our product candidates may not demonstrate sufficient additional clinical
benefits to physicians, patients or payors to justify a higher price compared to generic products. In many cases, insurers or other third-party payors, particularly
Medicare, seek to encourage the use of generic products. Given that we are developing products based on FDA-approved therapeutic agents, our product
candidates, if approved, will face competition from generic and branded versions of existing drugs based on the same active pharmaceutical ingredients that are
administered in a different manner, typically through eye drops.

Because the active pharmaceutical ingredients in our product candidates are available on a generic basis, or are soon to be available on a generic basis,
competitors will be able to offer and sell products with the same active pharmaceutical ingredient as our products so long as these competitors do not infringe the
patents that we license. For example, our licensed patents related to our intracanalicular depot product candidates largely relate to the hydrogel composition of the
intracanalicular depots and certain drug-release features of the depots. As such, if a third party were able to design around the formulation and process patents that
we license and create a different formulation using a different production process not covered by our licensed patents or patent applications, we would likely be
unable to prevent that third party from manufacturing and marketing its product.

Other companies have advanced into Phase 3 clinical development biodegradable, sustained-release product candidates that could compete with our
intracanalicular depot product candidates. ReSure Sealant is the first and only surgical sealant approved for ophthalmic use in the United States, but will compete
with sutures as an alternative method for closing ophthalmic wounds. Multiple companies are exploring in early stage development alternative means to deliver
anti-VEGF and TKI products in a sustained-release fashion to the back of the eye.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have
fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than our products. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval
for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are
able to enter the market.

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and
expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved
products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a
smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and other early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management
personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our
programs.

ReSure Sealant and any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party
coverage or reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives, which could harm our business.

Our ability to commercialize ReSure Sealant or any product candidates that we may develop successfully will depend, in part, on the extent to which
coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from government healthcare programs, private health insurers,
managed care plans and other organizations. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations,
decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost
containment. Government authorities and third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular
medications. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug and device companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are
challenging the prices charged for medical products. Coverage and reimbursement may not be available for ReSure Sealant or any other product that we
commercialize and, even if they are available, the level of reimbursement may not be satisfactory.

Inadequate reimbursement may adversely affect the demand for, or the price of, ReSure Sealant or any product candidate for which we obtain marketing
approval. Obtaining and maintaining adequate reimbursement for our products may be difficult. We may be required to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic
studies to justify coverage and reimbursement or the level of reimbursement relative to other therapies. If coverage and adequate reimbursement are not available
or reimbursement is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize ReSure Sealant or any product candidates for which we
obtain marketing approval.
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There may be significant delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs and devices, and coverage may be more limited than
the indications for which the drug is approved by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. Moreover, eligibility for coverage and
reimbursement does not imply that a drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and
distribution expenses. Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent.
Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for
lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates
required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where
they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their
own reimbursement policies. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for
any FDA-approved products that we develop would compromise our ability to generate revenues and become profitable.

The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drug and device products vary widely from country to
country. Current and future legislation may significantly change the approval requirements in ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in
obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins
after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing
governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product in a particular country, but then be
subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to
generate from the sale of the product in that country. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical
trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our
investment in one or more product candidates, even if our product candidates obtain marketing approval.

ReSure Sealant or any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval in the United States or in other countries may not be considered
medically reasonable and necessary for a specific indication, may not be considered cost-effective by third-party payors, coverage and an adequate level of
reimbursement may not be available, and reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely affect our ability to sell our product candidates profitably.
ReSure Sealant is not separately reimbursed when used as part of a cataract surgery procedure, which could limit the degree of market acceptance of this product
by surgeons. In addition, while DEXTENZA may be considered a post-surgical product in the same fashion as eye drops, if it receives marketing approval, it may
instead be categorized as an intra-operative product. If DEXTENZA is categorized as an intra-operative product, it will not be subject to separate reimbursement,
which could likewise limit its market acceptance.

We expect to apply for a transitional pass-through reimbursement status from the CMS for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain,
subject to the approval of the NDA we filed with the FDA for this indication. We expect pass-through status would remain in effect for up to three years
depending on when we apply for and receive this reimbursement status. We expect to submit to the CMS for a standard J code for DEXTENZA for the treatment
of other indications, including allergic conjunctivitis, as well as for our OTX-TP product candidate, if our clinical trials are successful and if our NDA filings and
NDA supplements are approved by the FDA. There are no assurances that we will be successful in obtaining and retaining reimbursement for our product
candidate.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any products that we develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the use of our product candidates that we develop in human clinical trials. We face an even
greater risk for any products we develop and commercially sell, including ReSure Sealant. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our
product candidates or products caused injuries, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
 

 •  decreased demand for any product candidates or products that we develop;
 

 •  injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;
 

 •  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
 

 •  significant costs to defend the related litigation;
 

 •  substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
 

 •  loss of revenue;
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 •  reduced time and attention of our management to pursue our business strategy; and
 

 •  the inability to commercialize any products that we develop.

We currently hold $10.0 million in product liability insurance coverage in the aggregate, with a per incident limit of $10.0 million, which may not be
adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We will need to increase our insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials and our sales of ReSure
Sealant and any other product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. We will need to further increase our insurance coverage if we commence
commercialization of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able
to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

If we are unable to train, maintain and expand our network of independent distributors, we may not be able to successfully commercialize ReSure Sealant or
any other product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.

We commercially launched ReSure Sealant in the first quarter of 2014 and sell the product through a network of independent medical device distributors
across the United States. As a result, our revenues are directly dependent upon the sales and marketing efforts of these independent distributors. As ReSure
Sealant is a newly marketed product, we will continue to expend significant time and resources to train the independent distributors to be credible and persuasive
in convincing physicians and hospitals to use ReSure Sealant. In addition, we also must train our independent distributors to ensure that a consistent and
appropriate message about ReSure Sealant is delivered to our potential customers. We believe that, if approved for marketing, DEXTENZA could be
commercialized by the same independent network of distributors that sell ReSure Sealant.

Our relationships with our distributors are non-exclusive, and our distributors will simultaneously sell products on behalf of third parties, including
products that may compete directly or indirectly with our products or product candidates. If our independent distributors fail to devote sufficient time to the sale
of ReSure Sealant, or if they otherwise fail to adequately promote, market and sell ReSure Sealant, our sales could decrease. We face significant challenges and
risks in managing our geographically dispersed distribution network and retaining the individuals who make up that network. If a substantial number of our
independent distributors, or any significant independent distributor, were to cease to do business with us within a short period of time, our sales could be
adversely affected. In such a situation, we may need to seek alternative independent distributors. Because of the competition for their services, we may be unable
to recruit additional qualified independent distributors to work with us. We may also not be able to enter into agreements with them on favorable or commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. Failure to retain qualified independent distributors would prevent us from successfully commercializing ReSure Sealant or any other
product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval and intend to distribute through qualified independent distributors.

We may enter into collaborations with third parties for the commercialization of ReSure Sealant or the development or commercialization of our product
candidates. If our collaborations are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of these product candidates.

We expect to utilize a variety of types of collaboration, distribution and other marketing arrangements with third parties to commercialize ReSure Sealant
or any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval in markets outside the United States. We also may enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform these services in the United States if we do not establish our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities in the United States for our
product candidates or if we determine that such third-party arrangements are otherwise beneficial. We also may seek third-party collaborators for development
and commercialization of other product candidates. Our likely collaborators for any sales, marketing, distribution, development, licensing or broader
collaboration arrangements include large and mid-size pharmaceutical companies, regional and national pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies.
Other than the distributors we use to sell ReSure Sealant, we are not currently party to any such arrangement. Our ability to generate revenues from these
arrangements will depend on our collaborators’ abilities and efforts to successfully perform the functions assigned to them in these arrangements.

Collaborations that we enter into may pose a number of risks, including the following:
 

 •  collaborators have significant discretion in determining the amount and timing of efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;
 

 •  collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;
 

 
•  collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates that receive marketing approval or may elect not to

continue or renew development or commercialization programs based on results of clinical trials or other studies, changes in the collaborators’
strategic focus or available funding, or external factors, such as an acquisition, that divert resources or create competing priorities;
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 •  collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate,
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

 

 
•  collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or product

candidates if the collaborators believe that competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms
that are more economically attractive than ours;

 

 •  product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or
products, which may cause collaborators to cease to devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates;

 

 •  a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not commit
sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such product or products;

 

 

•  disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development,
might cause delays or termination of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities
for us with respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would divert management attention and resources,
be time-consuming and expensive;

 

 •  collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite
litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

 

 •  collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability; and
 

 •  collaborations may be terminated for the convenience of the collaborator and, if terminated, we could be required to raise additional capital to pursue
further development or commercialization of the applicable product candidates.

Collaboration agreements may not lead to development or commercialization of product candidates in the most efficient manner, or at all. If any
collaborations that we enter into do not result in the successful development and commercialization of products or if one of our collaborators terminates its
agreement with us, we may not receive any future research funding or milestone or royalty payments under the collaboration. If we do not receive the funding we
expect under these agreements, our development of our product candidates could be delayed and we may need additional resources to develop our product
candidates. All of the risks relating to product development, regulatory approval and commercialization described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also
apply to the activities of our collaborators.

Additionally, subject to its contractual obligations to us, if a collaborator of ours were to be involved in a business combination, it might deemphasize or
terminate the development or commercialization of any product candidate licensed to it by us. If one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we
may find it more difficult to attract new collaborators and our perception in the business and financial communities could be harmed.

If we are not able to establish additional collaborations, we may have to alter our development and commercialization plans and our business could be
adversely affected.

For some of our product candidates, we may decide to collaborate with pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies for the development
and potential commercialization of those product candidates. We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive
agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the
proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or results of clinical trials, the
likelihood of approval by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States, the potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and
complexities of manufacturing and delivering such product candidate to patients, the potential of competing products, the existence of uncertainty with respect to
our ownership of technology, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of the challenge, and industry and market
conditions generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available to collaborate
on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate. We may also be restricted under future license
agreements from entering into agreements on certain terms with potential collaborators. Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and
document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a
reduced number of potential future collaborators.

For example, we are conducting preclinical testing of protein-based ani-VEGF compounds in collaboration with several pharmaceutical companies to
explore the feasibility of delivering their drugs using our intravitreal depot. We are exploring broader collaborations for the development and potential
commercialization of our intravitreal depot technology in combination with protein-based anti-VEGF drugs for the treatment of back-of-the-eye diseases and
conditions.
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If we are unable to reach agreements with suitable collaborators on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we may have to curtail the development of
a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay its potential commercialization or reduce
the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we
elect to fund and undertake development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional expertise and additional capital, which
may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we fail to enter into collaborations and do not have sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the
necessary development and commercialization activities, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market or continue to
develop our product platform.

Although the majority of our clinical development is administered and managed by our own employees, we have relied, and may continue to rely, on third
parties for certain aspects of our clinical development, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the
completion of such trials.

Our employees have administered and managed most of our clinical development work, including our clinical trials for ReSure Sealant and our clinical
trials for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular inflammation and pain. However, we have relied and may continue to rely on third parties, such as
contract research organizations, or CROs, to conduct future clinical trials of OTX-MP, as well as our pilot studies of OTX-TP in Singapore and South Africa for
the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension. If we deem necessary, we may engage third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management organizations,
medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct or assist in our clinical trials or other clinical development work. If we are unable to enter into an
agreement with a CRO or other service provider when required, our product development activities would be delayed.

Our reliance on third parties for research and development activities reduces our control over these activities but does not relieve us of our responsibilities.
For example, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for
the trial. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as good clinical practices for conducting, recording and reporting the
results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of trial participants are
protected. We are also required to register ongoing clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database,
ClinicalTrials.gov, within specified timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions. If we engage third parties
and they do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements
or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or
may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may be unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products, or the scope of the patent protection obtained may not be
sufficiently broad, such that our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to
successfully commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

Our success depends in large part on our and our licensor’s ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with
respect to our proprietary technology and products. We and our licensor have sought to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United
States and abroad related to our novel technologies and product candidates. Some of our licensed patents that we believe are integral to our hydrogel technology
platform have terms that extend through at least 2024. However, other broader patents within our licensed patent portfolio expire between 2017 and 2019. Given
the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before
or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our licensed patent portfolio would be less effective in excluding others from commercializing
products similar or identical to ours. The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not have filed or prosecuted and may not be
able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify
patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection.

In some circumstances, we do not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to enforce or maintain the
patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. In particular, the license agreement that we have entered into with Incept, LLC, or Incept, an
intellectual property holding company, which covers all of the patent rights and a significant portion of the technology for ReSure Sealant and our product
candidates, provides that, with limited exceptions, Incept has sole control and responsibility for ongoing prosecution for the patents covered by the license
agreement. In addition, although we have a right under the Incept license to bring suit against third parties who infringe our licensed patents in our field, other
Incept licensees may also have the right to enforce our licensed patents in their own respective fields without our oversight or control. Those other
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licensees may choose to enforce our licensed patents in a way that harms our interest, for example, by advocating for claim interpretations or agreeing on
invalidity positions that conflict with our positions or our interest. For example, Integra LifeSciences Holdings Corporation, or Integra, another licensee of Incept,
has filed suit against HyperBranch Medical Technology, Inc. alleging infringement of several patents which we also license. This litigation could result in one or
more of the patents which both we and Integra license being invalidated or rendered unenforceable. We also have no right to control the defense of any of our
licensed patents if their validity or scope is challenged before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, European Patent Office, or other patent office or
tribunal. Instead, we would essentially rely on our licensor to defend such challenges, and it may not do so in a way that would best protect our interests.
Therefore, our licensed patents and applications may not be prosecuted, enforced, defended or maintained in a manner consistent with the best interests of our
business. If Incept fails to prosecute, enforce or maintain such patents, or loses rights to those patents, our licensed patent portfolio may be reduced or eliminated.

The patent position of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual
questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our
licensor’s patent rights are highly uncertain. Our licensor’s pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our
technology or products or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. In addition, the laws of foreign
countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. For example, unlike patent law in the United States, European patent law
precludes the patentability of methods of treatment of the human body and imposes substantial restrictions on the scope of claims it will grant if broader than
specifically disclosed embodiments. Moreover, we have no patent protection and likely will never obtain patent protection for ReSure Sealant outside the United
States and Canada. We have only two issued patents outside of the United States for two of our three intracanalicular depot product candidates, and these expire
by 2019. We have three licensed patent families in Europe and certain other parts of the world, but these families consist only of patent applications outside of the
United States and have no issued or allowed patents. Patents might not be issued and we may never obtain any patent protection or may only obtain substantially
limited patent protection outside of the United States with respect to our products.

Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other
jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we or our
licensor were the first to make the inventions claimed in our licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our licensors were the first to file for
patent protection of such inventions. Databases for patents and publications, and methods for searching them, are inherently limited so it is not practical to review
and know the full scope of all issued and pending patent applications. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our
licensed patent rights are uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or products, in
whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. In particular, during prosecution of any patent
application, the issuance of any patents based on the application may depend upon our ability to generate additional preclinical or clinical data that support the
patentability of our proposed claims. We may not be able to generate sufficient additional data on a timely basis, or at all. Moreover, changes in either the patent
laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent
protection.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or
defense of our issued patents. The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, includes a number of significant changes to United States patent
law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The USPTO recently developed new
regulations and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith
Act, and in particular, the first to file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013. The first to file provisions limit the rights of an inventor to patent an
invention if not the first to file an application for patenting that invention, even if such invention was the first invention. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any,
impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties
and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. For example, the Leahy-Smith Act
provides a new administrative tribunal known as the Patent Trial and Appeals Board, or PTAB, that provides a venue for companies to challenge the validity of
competitor patents at a cost that is much lower than district court litigation and on timelines that are much faster. Although it is not clear what, if any, long term
impact the PTAB proceedings will have on the operation of our business, the initial results of patent challenge proceedings before the PTAB since its inception in
2013 have resulted in the invalidation of many U.S. patent claims. The availability of the PTAB as a lower-cost, faster and potentially more potent tribunal for
challenging patents could therefore increase the likelihood that our own licensed patents will be challenged, thereby increasing the uncertainties and costs of
maintaining and enforcing them. Moreover, if such challenges occur, as indicated above, we have no right to control the defense. Instead, we would essentially
rely on our licensor to consider our suggestions and to defend such challenges, with the possibility that it may not do so in a way that best protects our interests.
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We may be subject to a third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in other contested proceedings such as
opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review, post-grant review or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of
others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to
commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize
products without infringing third-party patent rights. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is
threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future products.

In the United States, the FDA does not prohibit physicians from prescribing an approved product for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling.
Although use of a product directed by off-label prescriptions may infringe our method-of-treatment patents, the practice is common across medical specialties,
particularly in the United States, and such infringement is difficult to detect, prevent or prosecute. In addition, patents that cover methods of use for a medical
device cannot be enforced against the party that uses the device, but rather only against the party that makes them. Such indirect enforcement is more difficult to
achieve.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our licensed patents may be challenged in the courts
or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held
unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or
limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review
of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our licensed
patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

Because the active pharmaceutical ingredients in our product candidates are available on a generic basis, or are soon to be available on a generic basis,
competitors will be able to offer and sell products with the same active pharmaceutical ingredient as our products so long as these competitors do not infringe any
patents that we license. Our licensed patents largely relate to the hydrogel composition of our intracanalicular depots and the drug-release design scheme of our
depots. As such, if a third party were able to design around the formulation and process patents that we license and create a different formulation using a different
production process not covered by our licensed patents or patent applications, we would likely be unable to prevent that third party from manufacturing and
marketing its product.

If we are not able to obtain patent term extension in the United States under the Hatch-Waxman Act and in foreign countries under similar legislation,
thereby potentially extending the term of our marketing exclusivity for our product candidates, our business may be impaired.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one of the U.S. patents covering each of such
product candidates or the use thereof may be eligible for up to five years of patent term restoration under the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act allows
a maximum of one patent to be extended per FDA-approved product. Patent term extension also may be available in certain foreign countries upon regulatory
approval of our product candidates. Nevertheless, we may not be granted patent term extension either in the United States or in any foreign country because of,
for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable
requirements. Moreover, the term of extension, as well as the scope of patent protection during any such extension, afforded by the governmental authority could
be less than we request.

Further, our license from Incept does not provide us with the right to control decisions by Incept or its other licensees on Orange Book listings or patent
term extension decisions under the Hatch-Waxman Act. Thus, if one of our important licensed patents is eligible for a patent term extension under the Hatch-
Waxman Act, and it covers a product of another Incept licensee in addition to our own product candidate, we may not be able to obtain that extension if the other
licensee seeks and obtains that extension first.

If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we will
have the right to exclusively market our product may be shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent
expiration sooner, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our licensed patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and
unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our licensed patents or other intellectual property. As a result, to counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required
to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. Under the terms of our license agreement with Incept, we have the right to initiate suit
against third parties who we believe infringe on the patents subject to the license. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to
assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is
invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the patent’s claims narrowly or refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at
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issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents
at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property
litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain and
could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our ReSure Sealant and product candidates and use our
proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. There is considerable intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology,
medical device, and pharmaceutical industries. We may become party to, or threatened with, infringement litigation claims regarding our products and
technology, including claims from competitors or from non-practicing entities that have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patent portfolio
may have no deterrent effect. Moreover, we may become party to future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding our licensed patent portfolio or the patents
of third parties. Such proceedings could also include contested post-grant proceedings such as oppositions, inter partes review, reexamination, interference or
derivation proceedings before the USPTO or foreign patent offices. The legal threshold for initiating litigation or contested proceedings is low, so that even
lawsuits or proceedings with a low probability of success might be initiated and require significant resources to defend. Litigation and contested proceedings can
also be expensive and time-consuming, and our adversaries in these proceedings may have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to prosecuting
these legal actions than we or our licensor can. The risks of being involved in such litigation and proceedings may increase as our product candidates near
commercialization and as we gain the greater visibility associated with being a public company. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on
existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future. We may not be aware of all such intellectual property rights potentially relating to our product
candidates and their uses. Thus, we do not know with certainty that ReSure Sealant or any of our product candidates, or our commercialization thereof, does not
and will not infringe or otherwise violate any third party’s intellectual property.

We are aware of a family of U.S. patent applications and issued patents that expired in approximately December 2015 and which have claims that ReSure
Sealant could be considered as having infringed. We believe that the claims of this patent family are subject to a claim of invalidity. We are also aware of a U.S.
patent with an expiration in 2020 with claims directed to formulations of hydrogels and which could be alleged to cover the hydrogel formulations used in our
product candidates OTX-TP and OTX-MP. Based on the specifications and file history of that patent, we believe its claims should be construed with a scope that
does not cover our product candidates. We also believe that such claims, if and to the extent they were asserted against our product candidates, would be subject
to a claim of invalidity.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue developing
and marketing our products and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we
were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. We could be forced,
including by court order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including
treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent and could be forced to indemnify our customers or collaborators. A finding
of infringement could also result in an injunction that prevents us from commercializing our product candidates or forces us to cease some of our business
operations. In addition, we may be forced to redesign our product candidates, seek new regulatory approvals and indemnify third parties pursuant to contractual
agreements. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our
business.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our intellectual property licenses and funding arrangements with third parties, we could lose rights that are
important to our business.

Our license agreement with Incept, under which we license all of our patent rights and a significant portion of the technology for ReSure Sealant and our
product candidates, imposes royalty and other financial obligations and other substantial performance obligations on us. We also may enter into additional
licensing and funding arrangements with third parties that may impose diligence, development and commercialization timelines and milestone payment, royalty,
insurance and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with our obligations under current or future license and collaboration agreements, our counterparties
may have the right to terminate these agreements, in which event we might not be able to develop, manufacture or market any product that is covered by these
agreements or may face other penalties under the agreements. Such an occurrence could diminish the value of our product. Termination of these agreements or
reduction or elimination of our rights under these agreements may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated agreements with less favorable terms, or
cause us to lose our rights under these agreements, including our rights to important intellectual property or technology.
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Under the terms of our license agreement with Incept, we have agreed to assign to Incept our rights in any patent application filed at any time in any
country for which one or more inventors are under an obligation of assignment to us. These assigned patent applications and any resulting patents are included
within the specified patents owned or controlled by Incept to which we receive a license under the agreement. Incept has retained rights to practice the patents and
technology licensed to us under the agreement for all purposes other than for researching, designing, developing, manufacturing and commercializing products
that are delivered to or around the human eye for diagnostic, therapeutic or prophylactic purposes relating to ophthalmic diseases or conditions. As a result,
termination of our agreement with Incept, based on our failure to comply with this or any other obligation under the agreement, would cause us to lose our rights
to important intellectual property or technology upon which our business depends. Additionally, the field limit of the license and the requirement that we assign to
Incept our rights in any patent application restricts our ability to expand our business outside of ophthalmology.

We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated their intellectual property, or claiming ownership of
what we regard as our own intellectual property.

Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology, medical device or pharmaceutical companies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work
for us, we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary
information, of any such employee’s former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims.

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the development of intellectual property to execute
agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who in fact develops intellectual
property that we regard as our own. Our and their assignment agreements may not be self-executing or may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims
against third parties, or defend claims they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property.

If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or
personnel. Even if we are successful in prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to
management.

Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.

Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur significant expenses, and
could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a
substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the
resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to
conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively
than we can because of their greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could
compromise our ability to compete in the marketplace.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for our technology, products and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how,
technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure
and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract
manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees
and consultants. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and
we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult,
expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to
protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent
them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or
independently developed by a competitor, our competitive position would be harmed.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Marketing of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain and may
prevent us from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. If we or any future collaborator of ours is not able to
obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, we or they will not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our ability
to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

The activities associated with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, including design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy,
recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory
agencies in the United States and by the EMA and similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. Failure to obtain marketing approval for a product
candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product candidate. We have only received approval to market ReSure Sealant in the United States, and have
not received approval to market any of our product candidates or to market ReSure Sealant in any jurisdiction outside the United States. We may determine to
seek a CE Certificate of Conformity, which demonstrates compliance with relevant requirements and provides approval to commercialize ReSure Sealant in the
European Union. If we are unable to obtain a CE Certificate of Conformity for ReSure Sealant or any of our other product candidates for which we seek
European regulatory approval, we will be prohibited from commercializing such product or products in the European Union and other places which require the
CE Certificate of Conformity. In such a case, the potential market to commercialize our products may be significantly smaller than we currently estimate.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive and may take many years, especially if additional clinical
trials are required, if approval is obtained at all. Securing marketing approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting
information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and purity. Securing marketing approval also
requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory authorities. The
FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities may determine that our product candidates are not safe or effective, are only moderately effective or have
undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. In
addition, while we have had general discussions with the FDA concerning the design of some of our clinical trials, we have not discussed with the FDA the
specifics of the regulatory pathways for our product candidates.

As part of the ongoing review of the NDA for DEXTENZA for post-surgical ocular pain, the FDA has completed inspections of three sites from our two
completed Phase 3 clinical trials for compliance with the study protocol and Good Clinical Practices. During the first of these inspections, the FDA identified
storage temperature excursions for the investigational product that is labeled to be stored in a refrigerated condition between two degrees and eight degrees
Celsius. We also had previously addressed a minor temperature deviation report during the conduct of the Phase 3 trials and communicated a response to the trial
sites. In addition, while investigating the report stemming from the FDA inspection, several more noteworthy temperature excursions were found to have
occurred that had not been fully reported. Because of the limited nature of the temperature excursions and historical product testing, including testing on product
stored at elevated temperatures, we believe it is unlikely that drug product performance was significantly impacted. We have also implemented a corrective action
plan to address clinical compliance and prevent recurrence in other clinical studies. However, if the FDA determines as part of its review of our NDA that the
temperature excursions and associated protocol deviations compromised any of the results from our completed Phase 3 clinical trials, the FDA may request
additional site specific data analyses or even exclude certain study subjects from sites in which the temperature excursions were determined to be significant in
duration before considering approval of the NDA.

Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in
regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. The FDA, the EMA and regulatory
authorities in other countries have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data is
insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and
clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Any marketing approval we or any future collaborator of ours ultimately
obtains may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable.

Accordingly, if we or any future collaborator of ours experiences delays in obtaining approval or if we or they fail to obtain approval of our product
candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.

Failure to obtain marketing approval in foreign jurisdictions would prevent our product candidates from being marketed abroad.

In order to market and sell ReSure Sealant or our product candidates in the European Union and many other jurisdictions, we or our third-party
collaborators must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among
countries and can involve additional testing. The time required to obtain approval
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may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all of the risks
associated with obtaining FDA approval. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be approved for reimbursement
before the product can be sold in that country. We or our collaborators may not obtain approvals from regulatory authorities outside the United States on a timely
basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one regulatory
authority outside the United States does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions or by the FDA. However, a failure or
delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in other countries. We may not be able to file for
marketing approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in any market.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, the terms of approvals, ongoing regulations and post-
marketing restrictions for our products may limit how we manufacture and market our products, which could materially impair our ability to generate
revenue.

Once marketing approval has been granted, an approved product and its manufacturer and marketer are subject to ongoing review and extensive regulation.
We, and any collaborators we may have in the future, must therefore comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any of our products for
which we or our collaborators obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to drug products and medical devices are subject to a variety
of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in the product’s approved labeling. Thus, if any of our product candidates receives
marketing approval, the accompanying label may limit the approved use of our product, which could limit sales of the product.

The FDA required two post-approval studies as a condition for approval of our premarket approval application, or PMA application, for ReSure Sealant.
The first post-approval study, identified as the Clinical PAS, is to confirm that ReSure Sealant can be used safely by physicians in a standard cataract surgery
practice and to confirm the incidence of the most prevalent adverse ocular events identified in our pivotal study of ReSure Sealant in eyes treated with ReSure
Sealant. The FDA has approved the protocol for the Clinical PAS, and we initiated enrollment in December 2014. We have completed enrollment in the Clinical
PAS and submitted the final study report to the FDA in June 2016. The second post-approval study, identified as the Device Exposure Registry, is intended to link
to the Medicare database to ascertain if patients are diagnosed or treated for endophthalmitis within 30 days following cataract surgery and application of ReSure
Sealant. In December 2015, the CMS denied our application for a tracking or research code for ReSure Sealant commercial use. In cooperation with the FDA, we
have identified another option for conducting this registry study while maintaining the objective for linking ReSure Sealant use to the Medicare database through
a partnership with a third party. In July 2016, the FDA approved the Device Exposure Registry protocol, which should allow us to complete the study in one to
two years. We are required to provide periodic reports to the FDA on the progress of each post-approval study until it is completed. Following review of the
results from these studies, or if we are unable to complete the Devise Exposure Registry, any concerns raised by the FDA could lead to modifications in product
labeling, the approved indication for use or negative publicity impacting our commercialization efforts.

In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA requirements, including
ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMPs applicable to drug manufacturers or quality assurance standards applicable to
medical device manufacturers, which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records
and documentation and reporting requirements. We, any contract manufacturers we may engage in the future, our future collaborators and their contract
manufacturers will also be subject to other regulatory requirements, including submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports,
registration and listing requirements, requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians, recordkeeping, and costly post-marketing studies or
clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product such as the requirement to implement a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy.

Accordingly, assuming we, or any future collaborators, receive marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates, we, and any current or future
collaborators, and our and their contract manufacturers will continue to expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including
manufacturing, production, product surveillance and quality control. If we, and any future collaborators, are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory
requirements, we, and any future collaborators, could have the marketing approvals for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or any current
or future collaborators’, ability to market any products could be limited, which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability. Further, the
cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.
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We may be subject to substantial penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products.

Violations of the FDCA relating to the promotion or manufacturing of drug products or medical devices may lead to investigations by the FDA,
Department of Justice, or DOJ, and state Attorneys General alleging violations of the FDCA, federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, as well as state
consumer protection laws. In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products, manufacturers or
manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:
 

 •  restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;
 

 •  restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;
 

 •  restrictions on product distribution or use of a product;
 

 •  requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;
 

 •  warning letters or untitled letters;
 

 •  withdrawal of the products from the market;
 

 •  refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
 

 •  recall of products;
 

 •  fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;
 

 •  suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;
 

 •  refusal to permit the import or export of our products;
 

 •  product seizure or detention;
 

 •  injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties;
 

 •  damage to relationships with any potential collaborators;
 

 •  unfavorable press coverage and damage to our reputation; or
 

 •  litigation involving patients using our products.

Non-compliance with European Union requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements related to the development
of products for the pediatric population, can also result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, failure to comply with the European Union’s requirements
regarding the protection of personal information can also lead to significant penalties and sanctions.

Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will be subject, directly or indirectly, to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and
abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which, in the event of a violation, could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual
damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription and use of ReSure Sealant and any
other product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors may
expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and
relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state
healthcare laws and regulations include the following:
 

 

•  the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase,
order or recommendation or arranging of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare
and Medicaid;

 

 

•  the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or
entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal healthcare
program or making a false statement or record material to payment of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money
to the federal government, with potential liability including mandatory treble damages and significant per-claim penalties, currently set at $5,500 to
$11,000 per false claim;

 

 •  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to
defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;
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•  HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its implementing regulations, also imposes

obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable
health information;

 

 •  the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires applicable manufacturers of covered products to report payments and other transfers of value
to physicians and teaching hospitals, with data collection beginning in August 2013; and

 

 
•  analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and transparency statutes, may apply to sales or

marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private
insurers.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require product manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers
of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information
in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment
or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our financial results. We are developing and implementing a corporate compliance program designed to
ensure that we will market and sell any future products that we successfully develop from our product candidates in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, but we cannot guarantee that this program will protect us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be
in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights,
those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial
costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law
involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other
governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment,
exclusion of products from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If
any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they
may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us and any future collaborators to obtain marketing approval of our other product
candidates and affect the prices we, or they, may obtain.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the
healthcare system that could, among other things, prevent or delay marketing approval of our other product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities
and affect our ability, or the ability of any collaborators, to profitably sell any products for which we, or they, obtain marketing approval. We expect that current
laws, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward
pressure on the price that we, or any collaborators, may receive for any approved products.

For example, in March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and
Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively the PPACA. Among the provisions of the PPACA of potential importance to our business and our
product candidates are the following:
 

 •  an annual, non-deductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription products and biologic agents;
 

 •  an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;
 

 •  a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for products that are inhaled,
infused, instilled, implanted or injected;

 

 •  expansion of healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the civil False Claims Act and the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, new government
investigative powers and enhanced penalties for noncompliance;

 

 
•  a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices

of applicable brand products to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient products to be
covered under Medicare Part D;

 
55



Table of Contents

 •  extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations;
 

 •  expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs;
 

 •  expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program;
 

 •  new requirements to report certain financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals;
 

 •  a new requirement to annually report product samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians;
 

 •  a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along
with funding for such research;

 

 •  a new Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, which has authority to recommend certain changes to the Medicare program to reduce
expenditures by the program that could result in reduced payments for prescription products; and

 

 •  established the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation within CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery models.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the PPACA was enacted. These changes include the Budget Control Act of 2011, which,
among other things, led to aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year that started in 2013 and, due to subsequent
legislation, will continue until 2025. In addition, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers
and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. These new laws may result in
additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding and otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for any of our product candidates for which
regulatory approval is obtained.

We expect that the PPACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in additional reductions in Medicare
and other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and in additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for
any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private
payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or
commercialize our products. Moreover, legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and
promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations,
guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be. In addition,
increased scrutiny by the United States Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us and
any collaborators to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.

Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.

In some countries, such as the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control and access.
In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we, or any current or future collaborators, may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-
effectiveness of our product to other available therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at
unsatisfactory levels, our business could be materially harmed.

Laws and regulations governing any international operations we may have in the future may preclude us from developing, manufacturing and selling certain
products outside of the United States and require us to develop and implement costly compliance programs.

If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we must dedicate additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in each
jurisdiction in which we plan to operate. The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing
payment or offering of anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or
decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities
are listed in the United States to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect
all transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for
international operations.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA presents
particular challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated
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by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign officials. Certain payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and
other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or the sharing with certain non-U.S.
nationals, of information classified for national security purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. If we expand our
presence outside of the United States, it will require us to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude us from
developing, manufacturing, or selling certain products and product candidates outside of the United States, which could limit our growth potential and increase
our development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties and suspension or
debarment from government contracting. The Securities and Exchange Commission also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for
violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees could include intentional failures to comply with FDA
regulations, to provide accurate information to the FDA, to comply with manufacturing standards we have established, to comply with federal and state health-
care fraud and abuse laws and regulations, to report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales,
marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing
and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission,
customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course
of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is
not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling
unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in
compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights,
those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

If we or any third-party manufacturers we engage in the future fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could
become subject to fines or penalties or incur significant costs.

We and any third-party manufacturers we may engage in the future are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations,
including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. From time to time and
in the future, our operations may involve the use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological materials, and produce hazardous waste products. We
generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials.
In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could
exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties for failure to comply with such laws and
regulations.

Although we maintain general liability insurance as well as workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to
injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not
maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological,
hazardous or radioactive materials.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current
or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result
in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Further, with respect to the operations of any future third-party contract manufacturers, it is possible that if they fail to operate in compliance with
applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or properly dispose of wastes associated with our products, we could be held liable for any
resulting damages, suffer reputational harm or experience a disruption in the manufacture and supply of our product candidates or products.
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Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the research and development, clinical and business development expertise of Amar Sawhney, Ph.D., our President and Chief
Executive Officer, as well as the other principal members of our management, scientific and clinical team. Although we have entered into employment
agreements with our executive officers, each of them may terminate their employment with us at any time. We maintain “key person” insurance for Dr. Sawhney,
but we do not have any such insurance for any of our other executives or other employees.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel will also be critical to our success. The loss of the
services of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives and
seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may
take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully
develop, gain regulatory approval of and commercialize products. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain
or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel.
We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants
and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants
and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit
their availability to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growth strategy will be limited.

We expect to expand our development, regulatory and manufacturing capabilities and potentially implement sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the areas of drug development,
clinical, regulatory affairs, manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution. To manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and
improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our
limited financial resources and our limited experience in managing such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our
operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel. The expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and
business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, if they choose to act together, have the ability to control all matters submitted to
stockholders for approval.

Our executive officers, directors and stockholders who own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock, in the aggregate, own a large portion of our
capital stock. As a result, if these stockholders were to choose to act together, they would be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval,
as well as our management and affairs. For example, these persons, if they choose to act together, would control the election of directors and approval of any
merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

This concentration of voting power may:
 

 •  delay, defer or prevent a change in control;
 

 •  entrench our management and the board of directors; or
 

 •  delay or prevent a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us on terms that other stockholders may desire.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of our
company that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of
our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate
or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our
board of directors. Among other things, these provisions:
 

 •  provide for a classified board of directors such that only one of three classes of directors is elected each year;
 

58



Table of Contents

 •  allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;
 

 •  limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from our board of directors;
 

 •  provide for advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our board of
directors;

 

 •  require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent;
 

 •  limit who may call stockholder meetings;
 

 
•  authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that would

work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of
directors; and

 

 •  require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal specified
provisions of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

Our shares of common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on July 25, 2014. Given the limited trading history of our common stock, there
is a risk that an active trading market for our shares will not be sustained, which could put downward pressure on the market price of our common stock and
thereby affect the ability of our stockholders to sell their shares.

The price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for holders of our common stock.

Our stock price may be volatile. The stock market in general and the market for smaller biopharmaceutical companies in particular have experienced
extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, our stockholders may not be
able to sell their common stock at or above the price at which they purchased it. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors,
including:
 

 •  our success in commercializing ReSure Sealant and any product candidates, including potentially DEXTENZA, for which we obtain marketing
approval;

 

 •  the outcome of our NDA filing for DEXTENZA for the treatment of post-surgical ocular pain;
 

 •  the success of competitive products or technologies;
 

 •  results of clinical trials of our product candidates;
 

 •  results of clinical trials of product candidates of our competitors;
 

 •  regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;
 

 •  developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights;
 

 •  the recruitment or departure of key scientific or management personnel;
 

 •  the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs;
 

 
•  the results of our efforts to discover, develop, acquire or in-license additional products, product candidates or technologies for the treatment of

ophthalmic diseases or conditions, the costs of commercializing any such products and the costs of development of any such product candidates or
technologies;

 

 •  actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts;
 

 •  variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;
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 •  the ability to secure third party reimbursement for our product candidates;
 

 •  changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;
 

 •  market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
 

 •  general economic, industry and market conditions; and
 

 •  the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against
that company. We also may face securities class-action litigation if we cannot obtain regulatory approvals for or if we otherwise fail to commercialize
DEXTENZA, OTX-TP or our other product candidates or if our commercial launch of ReSure Sealant is unsuccessful. Such litigation, if instituted against us,
could cause us to incur substantial costs to defend such claims and divert management’s attention and resources.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.

Persons who were our stockholders prior to our initial public offering continue to hold a substantial number of shares of our common stock. If such persons
sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

In addition, shares of common stock that are either subject to outstanding options or reserved for future issuance under our stock incentive plans will
become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules and Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and, in any event, we have filed a registration statement permitting shares of common stock issued on exercise of options to
be freely sold in the public market. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading
price of our common stock could decline.

Certain holders of our common stock have rights, subject to specified conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or, along
with certain holders of shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants issued to lenders, to include their shares in registration statements that we
may file for ourselves or other stockholders. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common
stock.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common
stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, and may remain an emerging
growth company until December 31, 2019, provided that, if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any
June 30 before that time or if we have annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more in any fiscal year, we would cease to be an emerging growth company as of
December 31 of the applicable year. We also would cease to be an emerging growth company if we issue more than $1 billion of non-convertible debt over a
three-year period. As an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to
other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include:
 

 •  not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting;
 

 •  not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory
audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;

 

 •  reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and
 

 •  exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved.

We expect to continue to take advantage of some or all of the available exemptions. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less
attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

In addition, the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or
revised accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to delay such adoption of new or revised accounting standards, and, as a result, we will
comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.
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We incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is now required to devote substantial time to new
compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that
we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing
requirements of The NASDAQ Global Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including
establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel devote a
substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations have increased our legal and financial compliance costs and will
make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

For as long as we remain an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies as described in the preceding risk factor.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal
control over financial reporting. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal
control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed
period, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this
regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the
adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are
functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there
is a risk that we will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by
Section 404. If we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, it could result in an adverse reaction in the financial
markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be our
stockholders’ sole source of gain.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the growth
and development of our business. In addition, the terms of our credit facility and any future debt agreements that we may enter into, may preclude us from paying
dividends without the lenders’ consent or at all. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not sell any shares of our common stock, shares of our preferred stock or warrants to purchase shares of our stock, or grant any stock options or
restricted stock awards, during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Act, and that have not otherwise been described in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Purchase of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our registered equity securities during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On July 30, 2014, we closed our initial public offering of 5,000,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $13.00 per share for an
aggregate public offering price of $65.0 million. In August 2014, the underwriters in our initial public offering exercised their over-allotment option to purchase
an additional 750,000 shares of our common stock. The over-allotment shares had an aggregate public offering price of $9.75 million. The offer and sale of all of
the shares in the offering were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196932), which was declared
effective by the SEC on July 24, 2014.

We received aggregate net proceeds from the offering, including in connection with the exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, of
approximately $66.4 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses payable by us. As of June 30, 2016, we have
used all of the approximately $66.4 million of net proceeds from the offering as follows: $41.0 million for research and development costs, $6.1 million for sales
and marketing costs, $13.5 million for general and administrative purposes, $3.7 million for capital spending, and $2.1 million to pay interest expense. We have
not used any of the net proceeds from the offering to make payments, directly or indirectly, to any director or officer of ours or any of their associates, to any
person owning 10 percent or more of our common stock, or to any affiliate of ours.

 
Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

  OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.

Date: August 9, 2016   By: /s/ W. Bradford Smith
   W. Bradford Smith
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Exhibit
Number   Description of Exhibit

  10.1†*   Lease Agreement dated June 17, 2016 between the WS NF 15 Crosby Drive, LLC and the Registrant

  10.2*
  

First Amendment dated June 20, 2016 to Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement among MidCap Funding III Trust, Silicon Valley
Bank, Flexpoint MCLS SPV LLC and the Registrant

  31.1*
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  31.2*
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  32.1*
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

  32.2*
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Database

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
 
* Filed herewith.
 

† Confidential treatment requested as to portions of the exhibit. Confidential materials omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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Exhibit 10.1

Confidential Materials omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Double asterisks denote omissions.

 

LEASE

WS NV 15 CROSBY DRIVE, LLC,

Landlord,

and

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.,

Tenant
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TRIPLE NET OFFICE LEASE

REFERENCE PAGES
 
BUILDING:   15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, Massachusetts

LANDLORD:   WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

LANDLORD’S ADDRESS:

  

WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC
c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC
120 Water Street, Third Floor
Boston, MA 02109
Attn: Erika E. Clarke, Vice President of Asset Management

WIRE INSTRUCTIONS AND/OR ADDRESS FOR RENT PAYMENT:

  

CB Richard Ellis N.E. Partners, LP
33 Arch Street
28th Floor
Boston, MA 02110

LEASE REFERENCE DATE:   As of May 31, 2016

TENANT:   Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., a Delaware corporation

TENANT’S NOTICE ADDRESS:   

(a) Prior to Commencement Date:   34 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA 01730

(b) As of Commencement Date:   15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA 01730

PREMISES ADDRESS:   15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA 01730

PREMISES RENTABLE AREA:
  

Approximately 70,712 sq. ft. consisting of the entire Building shown on
Exhibit A (the “Premises”)

CONSTRUCTION PERIOD ACCESS DATE:   October 1, 2016

COMMENCEMENT DATE:   February 1, 2017

RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE:   August 1, 2017

TERM OF LEASE:
  

Ten (10) years and six (6) months, beginning on the Commencement Date
and ending on the Termination Date.

TERMINATION DATE:   July 31, 2027, subject to the extension options set forth in Exhibit E.
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ANNUAL RENT AND MONTHLY INSTALLMENT OF RENT (Article 3):   
 

Period   
Annual Rent Per

Square Foot  

  

Annual Rent  

  Monthly
Installment

of Rent  From   Through       
October 1, 2016   January 31, 2017   $ 0.00    $ 0.00    $ 0.00  
February 1, 2017   July 31, 2017   $ 0.00    $ 0.00    $ 0.00  
August 1, 2017   January 31, 2018   $ 16.50    $1,166,748.00    $ 97,229.00  
February 1, 2018   January 31, 2019   $ 17.00    $1,202,104.00    $100,175.33  
February 1, 2019   January 31, 2020   $ 17.50    $1,237,460.00    $103,121.67  
February 1, 2020   January 31, 2021   $ 18.00    $1,272,816.00    $106,068.00  
February 1, 2021   January 31, 2022   $ 18.50    $1,308,172.00    $109,014.33  
February 1, 2022   January 31, 2023   $ 19.00    $1,343,528.00    $111,960.67  
February 1, 2023   January 31, 2024   $ 19.50    $1,378,884.00    $114,907.00  
February 1, 2024   January 31, 2025   $ 20.00    $1,414,240.00    $117,853.33  
February 1, 2025   January 31, 2026   $ 20.50    $1,449,596.00    $120,799.67  
February 1, 2026   January 31, 2027   $ 21.00    $1,484,952.00    $123,746.00  
February 1, 2027   July 31, 2027   $ 21.50    $1,520,308.00    $126,692.33  

 
TENANT’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE:   100%

SECURITY DEPOSIT:   $1,500,000.00 (See Article 5)

ASSIGNMENT/SUBLETTING FEE:   $2,500.00

REAL ESTATE BROKER DUE COMMISSION:   Cushman & Wakefield
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The Reference Pages information is incorporated into and made a part of the Lease. In the event of any conflict between any Reference Pages information
and the Lease, the Lease shall control. This Lease includes Exhibits A through H, all of which are made a part of this Lease.
 
LANDLORD:   TENANT:

WS NV 15 CROSBY DRIVE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company   

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC., a Delaware corporation

By:  /s/ Scott R. Tully   By:  /s/ W. Bradford Smith
Name: Scott R. Tully   Name:  Bradford Smith
Title:  Manager   Title:  CFO

Dated: June 17, 2016   Dated:  June 15, 2016
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LEASE

By this Lease Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord the Premises in the Building as set forth and described on the Reference
Pages. The Premises is depicted on the plan attached hereto as Exhibit A, and the Building is also depicted on Exhibit A. The Reference Pages, including all
terms defined thereon, are incorporated as part of this Lease.

 
1. USE AND RESTRICTIONS ON USE.

1.1 The Premises are to be used solely for general office purposes and drug product and medical device research and development and manufacturing as
permitted by governmental laws, ordinances and regulations applicable to the Premises and for no other purpose. Tenant shall not allow the Premises to be used
for any improper, immoral, unlawful, or objectionable purpose, or commit any waste. Tenant shall not do, permit or suffer in, on, or about the Premises the sale of
any alcoholic liquor without the written consent of Landlord first obtained. Tenant shall comply with all governmental laws, ordinances and regulations applicable
to the use of the Premises and its occupancy and shall promptly comply with all governmental orders and directions for the correction, prevention and abatement
of any violations in the Building or appurtenant land, caused or permitted by, or resulting from the use by, Tenant, or in or upon, or in connection with, the
Premises, all at Tenant’s sole expense. Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done on or about the Premises or bring or keep anything into the Premises
which will in any way increase the rate of, invalidate or prevent the procuring of any insurance protecting against loss or damage to the Building or any of its
contents by fire or other casualty or against liability for damage to property or injury to persons in or about the Building or any part thereof. Subject to force
majeure, Tenant shall have access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week.

1.2 Tenant shall not, and shall not direct, suffer or permit any of its agents, contractors, employees, licensees or invitees (collectively, the “Tenant Entities”)
to at any time handle, use, manufacture, store or dispose of in or about the Premises or the Building any flammables, explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous
wastes or materials, toxic wastes or materials, or other similar substances, petroleum products or derivatives or any substance subject to regulation by or under
any federal, state and local laws and ordinances relating to the protection of the environment or the keeping, use or disposition of environmentally hazardous
materials, substances, or wastes (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”), except in full compliance with all laws and ordinances presently in effect or hereafter
adopted, all amendments to any of them, and all rules and regulations issued pursuant to any of such laws or ordinances (collectively, “Environmental Laws”), nor
shall Tenant suffer or permit the Premises or the Building and appurtenant land or allow the environment to become contaminated with any Hazardous
Materials. It is acknowledged that Tenant uses certain Hazardous Materials including chemicals and flammable and/or combustible substances in its business
operations as set forth on Exhibit F. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may handle, store, use or dispose of products containing small quantities of Hazardous
Materials (such as aerosol cans containing insecticides, toner for copiers, paints, paint remover and the like) to the extent customary and necessary for the use of
the Premises for general office purposes; provided that Tenant shall always handle, store, use and dispose of any such Hazardous Materials in a safe and lawful
manner and never allow such Hazardous Materials to contaminate the Premises, Building and appurtenant land or the environment. Tenant shall protect, defend,
indemnify and hold each and all of the Landlord Entities (as defined in Article 31) harmless from and against any and all loss, claims, liability or costs (including
court costs and attorney’s fees) incurred by reason of any actual failure of Tenant or any Tenant Entity to fully comply with all applicable Environmental Laws, or
by reason of any actual or asserted failure of Tenant to keep, observe, or perform any provision of this Section 1.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord at its
sole cost and expense shall remove any actionable levels of Hazardous Materials which are discovered during Tenant’s initial build-out of the Premises, but
excluding the removal of any Hazardous Materials present in or on the “Items To Remain” (as such term is defined in Exhibit B). Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible for the costs or expenses incurred in connection with the removal or remediation of any Hazardous Material
that is not in compliance with applicable law on the Commencement Date and which is located in, on or under the Premises prior to the Construction Access
Period Date and was not brought on to the Premises by Tenant.

1.3 Tenant and the Tenant Entities will be entitled to the use of the parking facilities serving the Building, subject to Landlord’s reasonable rules and
regulations regarding such use.



2. TERM.

2.1 The Term of this Lease shall begin on the Commencement Date shown on the Reference Pages and shall terminate on the Termination Date, unless
sooner terminated by the provisions of this Lease. Subject to the provisions of the next sentence, Tenant hereby accepts the Premises in the AS IS, WHERE IS
condition existing as of the date of this Lease, subject to all applicable zoning, municipal, county and state laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, restrictions
of record, and requirements in effect during the Term of the Lease, or any part of the Term of the Lease, regulating the Premises, and without representation,
warranty or covenant by Landlord, express or implied, as to the condition, habitability or safety of the Premises, the suitability or fitness thereof for their intended
purposes, or any other matter. Landlord shall tender possession of the Premises with all the work, if any, to be performed by Landlord pursuant to Exhibit B to
this Lease substantially completed. Tenant shall deliver a punch list of items not completed within thirty (30) days after Landlord tenders possession of the
Premises and Landlord agrees to proceed with due diligence to perform its obligations regarding such items.

2.2 Tenant agrees that in the event of the inability of Landlord to deliver possession of the Premises for any reason (other than for reasons caused by Tenant
or if due to fire or other casualty) within thirty (30) days of the Construction Period Access Date, Tenant shall be entitled to a Rent credit equal to one (1) day
Rent for each day of delay thereafter during the first thirty (30) days and two (2) days Rent for each day of delay thereafter. In addition, the Commencement Date
and the Rent Commencement Date shall be delayed by the number of days after the Construction Period Access Date to the date of delivery of the Premises to
Tenant, and the Termination Date and Annual Rent Schedule shall be adjusted accordingly. No such failure to give possession on the Construction Period Access
Date shall affect the obligations of Tenant under this Lease, except as provided herein. If current tenant of the Premises shall fail to timely vacate the Premises,
Landlord will diligently proceed to cause it to vacate, including by institution of summary process proceedings.

On the Construction Period Access Date and continuing until the Commencement Date, Tenant shall have the right to enter the Premises for purposes of
performing the “Work” (as such term is described in Exhibit B); provided that such entry and performance of the Work shall be subject to all the provisions of
this Lease (other than the payment of Annual Rent, Expenses and Taxes), including, without limitation, Tenant’s compliance with the insurance requirements of
Article 11. Such early entry shall not advance the Termination Date. Tenant shall have no obligation to pay for the costs of any electricity, gas, HVAC and other
utilities consumed in the Premises prior to the Commencement Date.

 
3. RENT.

3.1 Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord the Annual Rent in effect from time to time by paying the Monthly
Installment of Annual Rent then in effect in advance on or before the first (1st) day of each full calendar month during the Term, except that the first (1st) full
month’s rent shall be paid upon the execution of this Lease. The Monthly Installment of Annual Rent in effect at any time shall be one-twelfth (1/12) of the
Annual Rent in effect at such time. Rent for any period during the Term which is less than a full month shall be a prorated portion of the Monthly Installment of
Annual Rent based upon the number of days in such month. Said rent shall be paid to Landlord, without deduction or offset and without notice or demand, (a) by
wire pursuant to the wire instructions, as set forth on the Reference Pages, or (b) at the Address for Payment, as set forth on the Reference Pages, or to such other
person or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing. If an “Event of Default” (as hereinafter defined) occurs, Landlord may
require by notice to Tenant that all subsequent rent payments be made by an automatic payment from Tenant’s bank account to Landlord’s account, without cost
to Landlord. Tenant must implement such automatic payment system prior to the next scheduled rent payment or within ten (10) days after Landlord’s notice,
whichever is later. Unless specified in this Lease to the contrary, all amounts and sums payable by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Lease shall be deemed
additional rent.

3.2 Tenant recognizes that late payment of any rent or other sum due under this Lease will result in administrative expense to Landlord, the extent of which
additional expense is extremely difficult and economically impractical to ascertain. Tenant therefore agrees that if rent or any other sum is not paid when due and
payable pursuant to this Lease, a late charge shall be imposed in an amount equal to the greater of (a) Two Hundred Dollars ($200.00) or (b) two percent (2%) of
the unpaid amount. The amount of the late charge to be paid by Tenant shall
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be reassessed and added to Tenant’s obligation for each successive month until paid. The provisions of this Section 3.2 in no way relieve Tenant of the obligation
to pay rent or other payments on or before the date on which they are due, nor do the terms of this Section 3.2 in any way affect Landlord’s remedies pursuant to
Article 19 of this Lease in the event said rent or other payment is unpaid after date due. In addition, any amount owed by Tenant to Landlord which is not paid
within ten (10) days when due shall bear interest at the lesser of six percent (6%) per annum above the prime rate, as published by the Wall Street Journal from
time to time, or the maximum rate of interest permitted to be contracted for by law (such lesser rate, the “Default Rate”). However, interest shall not be payable
on late charges to be paid by Tenant under this Lease. The payment of interest on such amounts shall not excuse or cure any default by Tenant under this Lease.

Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the foregoing covenants of Tenant are independent covenants and Tenant shall have no right to withhold or
abate any payment of Annual Rent, additional rent or any other payment, or to set off any amount against Annual Rent, additional rent or any other payment then
due and payable, or to terminate this Lease, because of any breach or alleged breach by Landlord of this Lease or because of the condition of the Premises. Tenant
hereby acknowledges and agrees that it has been represented by counsel of its choice and has participated fully in the negotiation of this Lease, that Tenant
understands that the remedies available to Tenant in the event of a default by Landlord may be more limited than those that would otherwise be available to
Tenant under the common law in the absence of certain provisions of this Lease, and that the so called “dependent covenants” rule as developed under the
common law (including, without limitation, the statement of such rule as set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Property, Section 7.1) shall not apply to this
Lease or to the relationship of landlord and tenant created hereunder.

 
4. RENT ADJUSTMENTS.

4.1 For the purpose of this Article 4, the following terms are defined as follows:

4.1.1 Lease Year: Each fiscal year (as determined by Landlord from time to time and which may be a different year for Expenses and Taxes) falling
partly or wholly within the Term.

4.1.2 Expenses: All costs of operation, maintenance, repair, replacement and management of the Building and the parking and other common areas,
as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including the following costs by way of illustration, but not limitation: water and
sewer charges; insurance charges of or relating to all insurance policies and endorsements deemed by Landlord to be reasonably necessary or desirable and
relating in any manner to the protection, preservation, or operation of the Building or any part of either thereof; costs of cleaning, repairing, replacing and
maintaining the exterior areas, including parking and landscaping (but excluding exterior sewer and utility line maintenance, repair and replacement); window
cleaning costs; snow and ice removal costs from the exterior areas and from the roof of the Building; labor costs; costs and expenses of managing the Building
including a reasonable management fee not to exceed 3% of Annual Rent; air conditioning maintenance, repair and replacement costs (subject to the last
grammatical paragraph of this Section 4.1.2); elevator maintenance fees and supplies; material costs; parking area maintenance, repair and replacement (subject to
the last grammatical paragraph of this Section 4.1.2); licenses, permits and inspection fees; wages and salaries; employee benefits and payroll taxes; accounting
and legal fees; any sales, use or service taxes incurred in connection therewith. In addition, Landlord shall be entitled to recover, as additional rent (which, along
with any other capital expenditures constituting Expenses, Landlord may either include in Expenses or cause to be billed to Tenant along with Expenses and
Taxes but as a separate item), (a) the cost of all capital expenditures which are required under any governmental laws, regulations or ordinances which were not
applicable to the Building as of the date hereof, and (b) capital expenditures which are intended to reduce Expenses, but all allowable capital expenditures shall be
amortized over the reasonable life of such expenditures in accordance with such reasonable life and amortization schedules as shall be determined by Landlord in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, with interest on the unamortized amount at one percent (1%) in excess of the Wall Street Journal prime
lending rate announced from time to time. In no event shall Expenses charged to Tenant exceed actual expenses incurred by Landlord.
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Expenses shall not include the items set forth in the following paragraph or listed below:
 

 1. leasing commissions, fees and costs, advertising and promotional expenses and other costs incurred in procuring tenants or in selling the Building;
 

 2. legal fees or other expenses incurred in connection with enforcing leases with tenants in the Building;
 

 3. costs of renovating or otherwise improving or decorating space for any tenant or other occupant of the Building, including Tenant, or relocating any
tenant;

 

 4. financing costs including interest and principal amortization of debts and the costs of providing the same;
 

 5. depreciation or amortization, except as provided above;
 

 6. rental on ground leases or other underlying leases and the costs of providing the same;
 

 7. wages, bonuses, other compensation, and fringe benefits including, but not limited to insurance plans and tax qualified benefit plans of employees
above the grade of building manager;

 

 

8. any liabilities, costs or expenses associated with or incurred in connection with the removal, enclosure, encapsulation or other handling of Hazardous
Materials other than for de minimis environmental activities and the cost of defending against claims in regard to the existence or release of
Hazardous Materials at the Building (except with respect to those costs for which Tenant is otherwise responsible pursuant to the express terms of
this Lease);

 

 9. costs of any items for which Landlord is or is entitled to be paid or reimbursed by insurance;
 

 10. charges for electricity, water, or other utilities, services or goods and applicable taxes for which Tenant or any other tenant, occupant, person or other
party is obligated to reimburse Landlord separately (i.e., not through the payment of Expenses) or to pay to third parties;

 

 11. the cost of installing, operating and maintaining any specialty service, such as a cafeteria, observatory, broadcasting facilities, child or daycare;
 

 12. cost of any work or services performed for any facility other than the Building;
 

 13. any cost representing an amount paid to a person firm, corporation or other entity related to Landlord that is materially in excess of the amount which
would have been paid in the absence of such relationship;

 

 14. except as expressly provided in this Section 4.1.2, the cost of any item that, under generally accepted accounting principles, are properly classified as
capital expenses;

 

 15. lease payments for rental equipment (other than for equipment properly charged as an Expense);
 

 16. late fees or charges incurred by Landlord due to late payment of expenses, except to the extent attributable to Tenant’s actions or inactions;
 

 17. cost of acquiring, securing, cleaning or maintaining sculptures, paintings and other works of art;
 

 18. real estate taxes (the payment for which by Tenant is provided for below separately in Section 4.1.3 and the sections following such Section 4.1.3) or
taxes on Landlord’s business (such as income, excess profits, franchise, capital stock, estate, inheritance, etc.);

 

 19. charitable or political contributions;
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 20. reserve funds;
 

 21. all other items for which another party compensates or pays so that Landlord shall not recover any item of cost more than once;
 

 22. any cost associated with operating as an on or off-site management office for the Building, except to the extent included in the management fee
permitted hereby;

 

 23. Landlord’s general overhead and any other expenses not directly attributable to the operation and management of the Building (e.g. the activities of
Landlord’s officers and executives or professional development expenditures), except to the extent included in the management fee permitted hereby;

 

 24. costs and expenses incurred in connection with compliance with or contesting or settlement of any claimed violation of law or requirements of law,
except to the extent attributable to Tenant’s actions or inactions;

 

 25. costs of mitigation or impact fees or subsidies (however characterized), imposed or incurred prior to the date of the Lease; and
 

 26. costs related to public transportation, transit or vanpools, except to the extent that Tenant shall elect to participate in the service to which such costs
relate.

Notwithstanding the above provisions of this Section 4.1.2, during the five (5) year period beginning on the Commencement Date, Expenses shall not
include the cost of any capital expenditure repair or replacement of (i) the roof of the Building, (ii) any rooftop HVAC unit or (iii) the parking area serving the
Building. After such five (5) year period, the cost of any capital repair or replacement of (i) the roof of the Building, (ii) any rooftop HVAC unit or (iii) the
parking area serving the Building may be included in Expenses and amortized in the manner provided above.

4.1.3 Taxes: Real estate taxes and any other taxes, charges and assessments which are levied with respect to the Building or the land appurtenant to
the Building, or with respect to any improvements, fixtures and equipment or other property of Landlord, real or personal, located in the Building and used in
connection with the operation of the Building and said land, any payments to any ground lessor in reimbursement of tax payments made by such lessor; and all
fees, expenses and costs incurred by Landlord in investigating, protesting, contesting or in any way seeking to reduce or avoid increase in any assessments, levies
or the tax rate pertaining to any Taxes to be paid by Landlord in any Lease Year. Taxes shall not include any corporate franchise, or estate, inheritance or net
income tax, or tax imposed upon any transfer by Landlord of its interest in this Lease or the Building or any taxes to be paid by Tenant pursuant to Article 28.

4.2 From and after the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay as additional rent for each Lease Year Expenses and Taxes incurred for such Lease
Year.

4.3 The annual determination of Expenses shall be made by Landlord, and shall be binding upon Landlord and Tenant, subject to the provisions of this
Section 4.3. During the Term, Tenant may review, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, the books and records supporting such determination in an office of
Landlord, or Landlord’s agent, during normal business hours, upon giving Landlord fifteen (15) days advance written notice within ninety (90) days after receipt
of such determination, but in no event more often than once in any one (1) year period, subject to execution of a confidentiality agreement acceptable to Landlord,
and provided that Tenant may utilize an independent accountant or other service to perform such review who is not compensated on a contingency basis and is
also subject to such confidentiality agreement. If after such review, it is determined that Expenses had been overstated by more than five percent (5%), Landlord
shall reimburse Tenant for the reasonable costs of such review.
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4.4 Prior to the actual determination thereof for a Lease Year, Landlord may from time to time estimate Tenant’s liability for Expenses and/or Taxes under
Section 4.2, Article 6 and Article 28 for the Lease Year or portion thereof. Landlord will give Tenant written notification of the amount of such estimate and
Tenant agrees that it will pay, by increase of its Monthly Installments of Rent due in such Lease Year, additional rent in the amount of such estimate. Any such
increased rate of Monthly Installments of Rent pursuant to this Section 4.4 shall remain in effect until further written notification to Tenant pursuant hereto.

4.5 When the above mentioned actual determination of Tenant’s liability for Expenses and/or Taxes is made for any Lease Year and when Tenant is so
notified in writing, then:

4.5.1 If the total additional rent Tenant actually paid pursuant to Section 4.3 on account of Expenses and/or Taxes for the Lease Year is less than
Tenant’s liability for Expenses and/or Taxes, then Tenant shall pay such deficiency to Landlord as additional rent in one lump sum within thirty (30) days of
receipt of Landlord’s bill therefor; and

4.5.2 If the total additional rent Tenant actually paid pursuant to Section 4.3 on account of Expenses and/or Taxes for the Lease Year is more than
Tenant’s liability for Expenses and/or Taxes, then Landlord shall credit the difference against the then next due payments to be made by Tenant under this Article
4, or, if the Lease has terminated, refund the difference in cash.

4.6 Tenant’s liability for Expenses and Taxes for the Lease Year in which the Rent Commencement Date and/or Termination Date, as applicable, occurs
shall be prorated based upon a three hundred sixty-five (365) day year.

 
5. SECURITY DEPOSIT.

As security for Tenant’s faithful performance of Tenant’s obligations hereunder, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, upon the execution of this Lease by
Tenant, a clean, irrevocable letter of credit in the face amount of the Security Deposit, issued to Landlord as the sole beneficiary (the “Letter of Credit”). The
Letter of Credit shall have a stated duration of and shall be effective for at least one (1) year with provision for automatic successive annual one-year extensions
during the Term and for sixty (60) days thereafter. Tenant shall keep the Letter of Credit in force throughout the Term and for sixty (60) days after the expiration
date or the earlier termination of the Term. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a renewal Letter of Credit no later than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date of
any Letter of Credit issued under this Section 5, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may draw the entire amount of the expiring Letter of Credit and hold the
proceeds in cash as the Security Deposit, as hereinafter provided, but in that event, Tenant shall, upon demand, provide Landlord with a new Letter of Credit,
meeting the requirements of this Lease as the Security Deposit, in lieu of such cash, and upon receipt of such replacement Letter of Credit, Landlord shall
promptly return such cash Security Deposit to Tenant. The Letter of Credit shall be issued by a commercial bank satisfactory to and approved by Landlord.

If Tenant fails to pay Annual Rent or other charges due hereunder, or otherwise defaults with respect to any provision of this Lease beyond any applicable
notice and cure periods, Landlord may (but shall have no obligation to) use all or any portion of the Letter of Credit for the payment of any Monthly Installment
of Annual Rent or other charge due hereunder, to pay any other sum to which Landlord may become obligated by reason of Tenant’s default, or to compensate
Landlord for any loss or damage which Landlord may suffer thereby. If Landlord so uses or applies all or any portion of the Letter of Credit, Tenant shall within
ten (10) business days after written demand therefor, restore the Letter of Credit to the initial face amount thereof. Provided there is not an ongoing Tenant Event
of Default under the terms of this Lease, the Letter of Credit, or so much thereof as shall not then have been applied by Landlord, shall be returned without
payment of interest or other amount for its use, to Tenant (or, at Landlord’s option, to the last assignee, if any, of Tenant’s interest hereunder) within forty-five
(45) days after the expiration of the Term hereof, and after Tenant has vacated and delivered the Premises as required hereunder. No trust relationship is created
herein between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the Letter of Credit. Tenant acknowledges that the Letter of Credit is not an advance payment of any kind or a
measure of or limit on Landlord’s damages in the event of Tenant’s default. Any application of the Letter of Credit by Landlord shall be without prejudice to any
other right or remedy. If Landlord conveys Landlord’s interest under this Lease, the Letter of Credit, or any part thereof not previously applied, may be turned
over by Landlord to Landlord’s grantee, and, if so
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turned over, Tenant agrees to look solely to such grantee for proper application of the Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of this Section 5, and the
return thereof in accordance herewith (and if required, Tenant shall cooperate as necessary to transfer the Letter of Credit to such grantee). The holder of a
mortgage shall not be responsible to Tenant for the return or application of any the Letter of Credit, whether or not it succeeds to the position of Landlord
hereunder, unless the Letter of Credit shall have been received in hand by such holder.

Provided no Event of Default has occurred at any time, if Tenant is publically held and if its most recently Form 10Q filed with the SEC shows (or if
Tenant is not publically held or if its most recently Form 10Q with the SEC fails to show such financial criteria, upon receipt by Landlord of Tenant’s written
request therefor and presentation to Landlord by Tenant of a written certification from Tenant’s Chief Financial Officer as to) Tenant’s satisfaction of the
following financial criteria, the Security Deposit shall be subject to reductions as follows:

(a) As of the third (3rd) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, the Security Deposit may be reduced to $1,100,000, provided Tenant
shall have both (i) a tangible net worth of at least $75,000,000.00 and (ii) a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of at least 5.0 to 1.0 as of the
end of its then most recent fiscal quarter;

(b) As of the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, the Security Deposit may be reduced to $700,000, provided Tenant shall
have both (i) a tangible net worth of at least $75,000,000.00 and (ii) a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of at least 5.0 to 1.0 as of the end of
its then most recent fiscal quarter; and

(c) As of the ninth (9th) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, the Security Deposit may be reduced to $300,000, provided Tenant shall
have both (i) a tangible net worth of at least $75,000,000.00 and (ii) a ratio of current assets to current liabilities to at least 5.0 to 1.0 as of the end of
its then most recent fiscal quarter.

In order to effectuate the Security Deposit reductions, Tenant shall cause the Issuing Bank to issue a clean original replacement Letter of Credit in the
amount of the reduced Security Deposit or an amendment to the original Letter of credit reflecting such reduced Security Deposit. If applicable,
contemporaneously with delivery of such replacement Letter of Credit, Landlord shall return the prior Letter of Credit to Tenant or the Issuing Bank.

 
6. ALTERATIONS.

6.1 Except for those specifically provided for in Exhibit B to this Lease, Tenant shall not make or suffer to be made any alterations, additions, or
improvements, including, but not limited to, the attachment of any fixtures or equipment in, on, or to the Premises or any part thereof or the making of any
improvements as required by Article 7, without the prior written consent of Landlord which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed. When applying for such consent, Tenant shall, if requested by Landlord, furnish complete plans and specifications for such alterations, additions and
improvements. Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approves of the requested alterations, additions or improvements within ten (10) Business Days after
Tenant’s submission of specifications and plans if so required. If Landlord disapproves of such plans or specifications, then Landlord shall notify Tenant thereof
specifying in reasonable detail the reasons for such disapproval. Landlord shall specifically identify any alteration or improvement which Landlord requires
Tenant to remove at the end of the Term. Failure of Landlord to provide its written approval or disapproval with comments within such time period shall be a
deemed approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord’s consent shall not be required with respect to alterations which (i) are not structural in nature, (ii) are
not visible from the exterior of the Building, (iii) do not affect or require modification of the Building’s electrical, mechanical, plumbing, HVAC or other systems,
and (iv) in the aggregate do not cost more than $50,000.00 to complete.

6.2 In the event Landlord consents to the making of any such alteration, addition or improvement by Tenant, the same shall be made by using either
Landlord’s contractor or a contractor reasonably approved by Landlord, in either event at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Except for the work contemplated by
Exhibit B, Landlord may charge Tenant for third-party costs actually incurred by Landlord in connection with the proposed work and the design thereof, with all
such amounts being due ten (10) days after Landlord’s demand.
 

7



6.3 All alterations, additions or improvements proposed by Tenant shall be constructed in accordance with all government laws, ordinances, rules and
regulations, using Building standard materials where applicable, and Tenant shall, prior to construction, provide the additional insurance required under Article 11
in such case, and also all such assurances to Landlord as Landlord shall reasonably require to assure payment of the costs thereof, including but not limited to,
notices of non-responsibility, waivers of lien, surety company performance bonds and funded construction escrows and to protect Landlord and the Building and
appurtenant land against any loss from any mechanic’s, materialmen’s or other liens. Tenant shall pay in addition to any sums due pursuant to Article 4, any
increase in real estate taxes attributable to any such alteration, addition or improvement for so long, during the Term, as such increase is ascertainable; at
Landlord’s election said sums shall be paid in the same way as sums due under Article 4.

6.4 Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 6, Tenant may install a liquid nitrogen tank, an oxygen tank and a generator in such locations near
the Building as shall be approved by Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Tenant shall provide such insurance with
respect to the same as Landlord shall reasonably require.

 
7. REPAIR.

7.1 Landlord shall have no obligation to alter, remodel, improve, repair, decorate or paint the Premises, except for any work specified in Exhibit B attached
to this Lease. By taking possession of the Premises, Tenant accepts them as being in good order, condition and repair and in the condition in which Landlord is
obligated to deliver them, except as set forth in the punch list to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.1. It is hereby understood and agreed that no representations
respecting the condition of the Premises or the Building have been made by Landlord to Tenant, except as specifically set forth in this Lease.

7.2 Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, keep and maintain all parts of the Premises and the Building which Landlord is not required to repair and
maintain (in the case of the systems referred to in Section 7.3, which Landlord has not elected to maintain) in good condition and repair, promptly making all
necessary repairs and replacements, whether ordinary or extraordinary, with materials and workmanship of the same character, kind and quality as the original
(including, but not limited to, repair, maintenance and replacement of all fixtures installed by Tenant, water heaters serving the Premises, windows, glass and
plate glass, doors, exterior stairs, skylights, any special office entries, interior walls and finish work, floors and floor coverings, heating and air conditioning
systems (“HVAC Systems”) serving the Premises, electrical systems and fixtures serving the Premises, sprinkler systems serving the Premises, dock boards (if
any), truck doors, dock bumpers (if any), plumbing and fixtures so that the same are all in good working order and repair, and performance of regular removal of
trash and debris). Tenant as part of its obligations hereunder shall keep the Premises in a clean and sanitary condition. Tenant shall keep all such parts of the
Premises from deterioration due to ordinary wear and from falling temporarily out of repair.

7.3 Landlord shall maintain and repair in good condition the exterior walls (exclusive of glass and doors and exclusive of the interior surfaces of the
exterior walls, all of which Tenant shall maintain and repair); roof; foundation; structural supports of the Building promptly making all necessary repairs and
replacements,; and, to the extent that Landlord shall elect from time to time by written notice to Tenant, the Building and Premises heating, plumbing, electrical,
air-conditioning, and mechanical systems. Landlord shall maintain and repair the exterior areas, including exterior sewer and exterior utility lines and the parking
areas for the Building, and shall clean and provide snow-plowing for the parking areas and access driveways and walkways for the Building. Landlord shall not
be liable for any failure to make any such repairs or to perform any maintenance unless such failure shall persist for an unreasonable time after written notice of
the need of such repairs or maintenance is given to Landlord by Tenant.

7.4 Except as provided herein and in Article 22, there shall be no abatement of rent and no liability of Landlord by reason of any injury to or interference
with Tenant’s business arising from the making of any repairs, alterations or improvements in or to any portion of the Building or the Premises or to fixtures,
appurtenances and equipment in the Building. Except to the extent, if any, prohibited by law, Tenant waives the right to make repairs at Landlord’s expense under
any law, statute or ordinance now or hereafter in effect.
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7.5 Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, enter into a regularly scheduled preventative maintenance/service contracts with maintenance contractors
approved by Landlord for servicing all HVAC Systems and equipment serving the Premises which Landlord has not elected to maintain under Section 7.3 and for
servicing all elevators in the Building (and copies thereof shall be furnished to Landlord) so that the same are equipped to operate and function in good working
order twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week. The service contract must include all services suggested by the equipment manufacturer in the
operation/maintenance manual and must become effective within ten (10) days of the date Tenant takes possession of the Premises. Should Tenant fail to do so,
Landlord may, upon notice to Tenant, enter into such a maintenance/service contract on behalf of Tenant or perform the work and in either case, charge Tenant the
cost thereof along with a reasonable amount of Landlord’s overhead.

7.6 Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, in connection with Landlord’s performance of any duties or obligations under this Lease,
including, without limitation, any actions arising under Section 7.3 (the foregoing Landlord’s activities, “Landlord’s Actions”), Landlord shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to minimize interference with ingress and egress to, and the operations of Tenant in, the Premises. In the event any of Landlord’s Actions
(excepting those that arise from force majeure events) results in material interference with ingress and egress to, or Tenant’s operations in, the Premises whereby
Tenant is unable to use all or a portion of the Premises in Tenant’s reasonable business judgment by reason of such interference for more than five (5) business
days after Tenant gives Landlord notice of such interference, then the Base Rent payable hereunder shall be abated proportionately commencing as of sixth (6th)
business day after such notice until such interference shall cease or Tenant is able to use the entire Premises for business in the ordinary course, whichever first
occurs.

 
8. LIENS.

Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Building and appurtenant land and Tenant’s leasehold interest in the Premises free from any liens arising out of any
services, work or materials performed, furnished, or contracted for by Tenant, or obligations incurred by Tenant. In the event that Tenant fails, within ten (10)
days following the imposition of any such lien, to cause the same to be released of record (such failure to constitute an Event of Default), Landlord shall have the
right to cause the same to be released by such means as it shall deem proper, including payment of the claim giving rise to such lien. All such sums paid by
Landlord and all expenses incurred by it in connection therewith shall be payable to it by Tenant within five (5) days of Landlord’s demand.

 
9. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

9.1 Tenant shall not have the right to assign, mortgage or pledge this Lease or to sublet the whole or any part of the Premises whether voluntarily or by
operation of law, or permit the use or occupancy of the Premises by anyone other than Tenant, and shall not make, suffer or permit such assignment, mortgage,
pledge, subleasing or occupancy without the prior written consent of Landlord, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld (provided, however, that with
respect to any mortgage, pledge or assignment of the Lease given as security for any debt, Landlord’s consent may be withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion), and
said restrictions shall be binding upon any and all assignees of the Lease and subtenants of the Premises. In the event Tenant desires to sublet, or permit such
occupancy of, the Premises, or any portion thereof, or assign, mortgage or pledge this Lease, Tenant shall give written notice thereof to Landlord at least thirty
(30) days but no more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the proposed commencement date of such subletting or assignment, which notice shall set
forth the name of the proposed subtenant or assignee, the relevant terms of any sublease or assignment and copies of financial reports and other relevant financial
information of the proposed subtenant or assignee.

9.2 Notwithstanding any assignment or subletting, permitted or otherwise, Tenant shall at all times remain directly, primarily and fully responsible and
liable for the payment of the rent specified in this Lease and for compliance with all of its other obligations under the terms, provisions and covenants of this
Lease, in the case of an assignment, jointly and severally with the assignee. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, if the Premises or any part of them are
then assigned or sublet, Landlord, in addition to any other remedies provided in this Lease or provided by law, may, at its option, collect directly from such
assignee or subtenant all rents due and becoming due to Tenant under such assignment or sublease and apply such rent against any sums due to Landlord from
Tenant under this Lease, and no such collection shall be construed to constitute a novation or release of Tenant from the further performance of Tenant’s
obligations under this Lease. No consent by Landlord hereunder shall be deemed a waiver or release of the obligation to obtain Landlord’s consent to any future
matter requiring its consent hereunder.
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9.3 In the event that Tenant sells, sublets, assigns or transfers this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as additional rent an amount equal to fifty percent
(50%) of any Increased Rent (as defined below), when and as such Increased Rent is received by Tenant. As used in this Section, “Increased Rent” shall mean the
excess of (a) all rent and other consideration which Tenant is entitled to receive by reason of any sale, sublease, assignment or other transfer of this Lease, over
(b) the sum of (i) the rent otherwise payable by Tenant under this Lease at such time and (ii) the reasonable costs incurred by Tenant for leasing commissions and
tenant improvements in connection with such sublease, assignment or other transfer. For purposes of the foregoing, any consideration received by Tenant in form
other than cash shall be valued at its fair market value as determined by Landlord in good faith.

9.4 Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, it shall be considered reasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent to any assignment of this Lease or
sublease of any portion of the Premises if an Event of Default then exists or the proposed assignee or sublessee is an entity: (a) with which Landlord is already in
negotiation; (b) is already an occupant of the Building unless Landlord is unable to provide the amount of space required by such occupant; (c) is a governmental
agency; (d) is incompatible with the character of occupancy of the Building; (e) with which the payment for the sublease or assignment is determined in whole or
in part based upon its net income or profits; or (f) would subject the Premises to a use which would: (i) violate any exclusive right granted to another tenant of the
Building; (ii) require any addition to or modification of the Premises or the Building in order to comply with building code or other governmental requirements;
or (iii) involve a violation of Section 1.2. Tenant expressly agrees that for the purposes of any statutory or other requirement of reasonableness on the part of
Landlord, Landlord’s refusal to consent to any assignment or sublease for any of the reasons described in this Section 9.4, shall be conclusively deemed to be
reasonable.

9.5 Upon any request to assign or sublet, Tenant will pay to Landlord the Assignment/Subletting Fee, regardless of whether Landlord shall consent to,
refuse consent, or determine that Landlord’s consent is not required for, such assignment, pledge or sublease. Any purported sale, assignment, mortgage, transfer
of this Lease or subletting which does not comply with the provisions of this Article 9 shall be void.

9.6 Notwithstanding the above, but only after reasonable prior notice to Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to assign this Lease or sublet the Premises in
whole or in part to (A) an entity controlled by, in control of, or under common control with, Tenant or (B) a successor entity resulting from an acquisition, merger,
spin off or consolidation (such successor entity under this subclause (B) shall be referred to herein as a “Successor Entity”) without the need to obtain Landlord’s
consent so long, in the case of a Successor Entity, such Successor Entity shall have a tangible net worth as of the date of such assignment or sublease at least
equal to or greater than the tangible net worth of Tenant as of the date of this Lease.

 
10. INDEMNIFICATION.

None of the Landlord Entities shall be liable and Tenant hereby waives all claims against them for any damage to any property or any injury to any person
in or about the Premises or the Building by or from any cause whatsoever (including without limiting the foregoing, rain or water leakage of any character from
the roof, windows, walls, basement, pipes, plumbing works or appliances, the Building not being in good condition or repair, gas, fire, oil, electricity or theft),
except to the extent due to the negligence or willful misconduct of a Landlord Entity or prohibited by applicable law. Tenant shall protect, indemnify and hold the
Landlord Entities harmless from and against any and all loss, claims, liability or costs (including court costs and attorney’s fees) incurred by reason of (a) any
damage to any property (including but not limited to property of any Landlord Entity) or any injury (including but not limited to death) to any person occurring
in, on or about the Premises or the Building to the extent that such injury or damage shall be caused by or arise from any actual act, neglect, fault, or omission by
or of Tenant or any Tenant Entity to meet any standards imposed by any duty with respect to the injury or damage; (b) the conduct or management of any work or
thing whatsoever done by the Tenant in or about the Premises or from transactions of the Tenant concerning the Premises; (c) Tenant’s failure to comply with any
and all governmental laws, ordinances and regulations applicable to the condition or use of the Premises or its occupancy; or (d) any breach or default on the part
of Tenant in the performance of any covenant or agreement on the part of the Tenant to be performed pursuant to this Lease. The provisions of this Article shall
survive the termination of this Lease with respect to any claims or liability accruing prior to such termination.
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11. INSURANCE.

11.1 Tenant shall keep in force throughout the Term: (a) a Commercial General Liability insurance policy or policies on a per occurrence and per location
basis to protect the Landlord Entities against any liability to the public or to any invitee of Tenant or a Landlord Entity incidental to the use of or resulting from
any accident occurring in or upon the Premises with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and not less than $2,000,000 in the annual aggregate, or
such larger amount as Landlord may prudently require from time to time, covering bodily injury, property damage liability, personal injury/advertising liability,
independent contractors and blanket contractual liability and $2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate; (b) Business Auto Liability covering owned,
non-owned and hired vehicles with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per accident; (c) Worker’s Compensation Insurance including a waiver of subrogation in
favor of Landlord and with limits as required by statute with Employers Liability and limits of $500,000 each accident, $500,000 disease policy limit, $500,000
disease—each employee; (d) Umbrella / Excess liability policy providing coverage over and above applicable underlying Commercial General Liability, Business
Auto and Workers Compensation/Employers Liability policies with coverage not more restrictive than the underlying liability with limits acceptable to manager
or owner, but at a minimum $5,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate; (e) All Risk or Special Form coverage protecting against loss of or damage to the
Building and Tenant’s alterations, additions, improvements, carpeting, floor coverings, panelings, decorations, fixtures, inventory and other business personal
property situated in or about the Premises to the full replacement value of the property so insured; and (f) Business Interruption Insurance with limit of liability
representing loss of at least approximately twelve (12) months of income.

11.2 The aforesaid policies shall (a) be provided at Tenant’s expense; (b) name the Landlord Entities as additional insureds (General Liability) and loss
payee (Property—Special Form); (c) shall be primary and non-contributory with regard to any other insurance that may be available to Landlord Entities and
Landlord’s property manager; (d) be issued by an insurance company with a minimum Best’s rating of “A-:VII” during the Term; and (e) provide that said
insurance shall not be canceled unless thirty (30) days prior written notice (ten days for non-payment of premium) shall have been given to Landlord; a certificate
of Liability insurance on ACORD Form 25 and a certificate of Property insurance on ACORD form 28 shall be delivered to Landlord by Tenant upon the
Commencement Date and at least thirty (30) days prior to each renewal of said insurance.

11.3 In addition to any insurance required of Tenant, Tenant shall secure, pay for and maintain or cause Tenant’s Contractors and Sub-Contractors to secure,
pay for and maintain during the continuance of construction and fixturing or work thereafter within the Building or Premises, insurance at a minimum equal to
above terms and limits of liability required by Tenant, including additional insured status provided to Landlord and Landlord’s property manager on a primary and
non-contributory basis.

11.4 Landlord shall maintain property insurance for the Building’s replacement value (excluding property required to be insured by Tenant, it being agreed
that Landlord shall have no obligation to provide insurance for such property), less a commercially-reasonable deductible if Landlord so chooses. Landlord may,
but is not obligated to, maintain such other insurance and additional coverages as it may deem necessary. Tenant shall pay the cost of all insurance carried by
Landlord, as set forth in Section 4. The foregoing insurance policies and any other insurance carried by Landlord shall be for the sole benefit of Landlord and
under Landlord’s sole control, and Tenant shall have no right or claim to any proceeds thereof or any other rights thereunder.

 
12. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.

Tenant and Landlord hereby mutually waive their respective rights of recovery against each other for any loss insured by fire, extended coverage, All Risks
or other property damage insurance now or hereafter existing for the benefit of the respective party and this waiver shall apply regardless of whether the damaged
property is insured. Each party shall obtain any special endorsements required by their insurer to evidence compliance with the aforementioned waiver.
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13. SERVICES AND UTILITIES.

13.1 Subject to the other provisions of this Lease, Landlord agrees to furnish to the Premises, subject to the rules and regulations of the Building prescribed
from time to time, water and sewer services suitable for Tenant’s permitted use of the Premises. Tenant shall, upon demand from time to time, reimburse Landlord
for all water and sewer charges for the Premises, at the rates charged for such services by the local public utility or agency, as the case may be, furnishing the
same. Landlord shall not be liable for, and Tenant shall not be entitled to, any abatement or reduction of rental by reason of Landlord’s failure to furnish any of
the water or sewer services. Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to remedy any interruption in the furnishing of such water and sewer services.

13.2 Beginning on the Commencement Date, Tenant (and not Landlord) shall be responsible for furnishing all gas, electricity, telephone and other utility
services (other than water and sewer services), cleaning, janitorial and trash removal services to the Premises. Tenant shall also furnish all electric light bulbs,
tubes and ballasts, battery packs for emergency lighting and fire extinguishers. All such gas, electricity, HVAC, telephone and other utility services shall be
separately metered and Tenant shall pay all charges therefor, together with any taxes, penalties, surcharges, maintenance charges or the like pertaining thereto,
directly to the provider of such services. For any period of the Term during which any such services are not separately metered to Tenant, Tenant shall pay such
proportion of all charges jointly metered with other premises in the Building as determined by Landlord, in its reasonable discretion. Any such charges paid by
Landlord and assessed against Tenant shall be immediately payable to Landlord on demand and shall be additional rent hereunder. Tenant agrees that its electrical
demand requirements shall not adversely affect the Building’s electrical system and will not exceed the maximum from time to time permitted under applicable
laws, and to repair at Tenant’s sole cost any damage caused to the electrical system caused by Tenant’s failure to observe this requirement.

 
14. HOLDING OVER.

Tenant shall pay Landlord for each day Tenant retains possession of the Premises or part of them after termination of this Lease by lapse of time or
otherwise at the rate (“Holdover Rate”) which shall be One Hundred Fifty percent (150%) of the Annual Rent for the last period prior to the date of such
termination plus all Rent Adjustments under Article 4, prorated on a daily basis, and also pay all damages sustained by Landlord by reason of such retention. If
Landlord gives notice to Tenant of Landlord’s election to such effect, such holding over shall constitute renewal of this Lease for a period from month to month at
the Holdover Rate, but if the Landlord does not so elect, no such renewal shall result notwithstanding acceptance by Landlord of any sums due hereunder after
such termination; and instead, a tenancy at sufferance at the Holdover Rate shall be deemed to have been created. In any event, no provision of this Article 14
shall be deemed to waive Landlord’s right of reentry or any other right under this Lease or at law.

 
15. SUBORDINATION.

This Lease shall be subject and subordinate at all times to ground or underlying leases and to the lien of any mortgages or deeds of trust now or hereafter
placed on, against or affecting the Building, Landlord’s interest or estate in the Building, or any ground or underlying lease, provided the holder thereof shall
enter into a non-disturbance agreement with Tenant in such holder’s standard form and provided, however, that if the lessor, mortgagee, trustee, or holder of any
such mortgage or deed of trust elects to have Tenant’s interest in this Lease be superior to any such instrument, then, by notice to Tenant, this Lease shall be
deemed superior, whether this Lease was executed before or after said instrument. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant covenants and agrees to execute and
deliver within ten (10) days of Landlord’s written request such further instruments evidencing such subordination or superiority of this Lease as may be required
by Landlord. Landlord to obtain and provide to Tenant prior to the Construction Period Access Date a non-disturbance agreement from any existing mortgage or
lien holder substantially in the form attached as Exhibit G.

 
16. RULES AND REGULATIONS.

Tenant shall faithfully observe and comply with all the rules and regulations as set forth in Exhibit D to this Lease and all reasonable and non-
discriminatory modifications of and additions to them from time to time put into effect by Landlord. Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the non-
performance by any other tenant or occupant of the Building of any such rules and regulations.
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17. REENTRY BY LANDLORD.

17.1 Landlord reserves and shall at all times have the right to re-enter the Premises at reasonable times upon advance notice (except in the event of
emergency) to inspect the same, to show said Premises to prospective purchasers during the last twelve (12) months of the Term if Tenant has not exercised its
option to extend, mortgagees or tenants, and to alter, improve or repair the Premises and any portion of the Building, without abatement of rent, and may for that
purpose erect, use and maintain scaffolding, pipes, conduits and other necessary structures and open any wall, ceiling or floor in and through the Building and
Premises where reasonably required by the character of the work to be performed, provided entrance to the Premises shall not be blocked thereby, and further
provided that the business of Tenant shall not be interfered with unreasonably. Landlord shall have the right at any time to change the name, number or
designation by which the Building is commonly known. In the event that Landlord damages any portion of any wall or wall covering, ceiling, or floor or floor
covering within the Premises, Landlord shall repair or replace the damaged portion to match the original as nearly as commercially reasonable but shall not be
required to repair or replace more than the portion actually damaged. Tenant hereby waives any claim for damages for any injury or inconvenience to or
interference with Tenant’s business, any loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises, and any other loss occasioned by any action of Landlord
authorized by this Article 17.

17.2 For each of the aforesaid purposes, Landlord shall at all times have and retain a key and such other applicable items, such as access cards, with which
to unlock all of the doors in the Premises, excluding Tenant’s vaults and safes or special security areas (designated in advance), and Landlord shall have the right
to use any and all means which Landlord may deem proper to open said doors in an emergency to obtain entry to any portion of the Premises. As to any portion to
which access cannot be had by means of a key or keys, or such other applicable items, in Landlord’s possession, Landlord after reasonable advance notice to
Tenant is authorized to gain access by such means as Landlord shall elect and the cost of repairing any damage occurring in doing so shall be borne by Tenant and
paid to Landlord within five (5) days of Landlord’s demand.

 
18. DEFAULT.

18.1 Except as otherwise provided in Article 20, the following events shall be deemed to be “Events of Default” under this Lease:

18.1.1 Tenant shall fail to pay when due any sum of money becoming due to be paid to Landlord under this Lease, whether such sum be any
installment of the rent reserved by this Lease, any other amount treated as additional rent under this Lease, or any other payment or reimbursement to Landlord
required by this Lease, whether or not treated as additional rent under this Lease, and such failure shall continue for a period of seven (7) days after written notice
that such payment was not made when due, but if any two (2) such notices shall be given, for the twelve (12) month period commencing with the date of such
notice, the failure to pay within seven (7) days after due any additional sum of money becoming due to be paid to Landlord under this Lease during such period
shall be an Event of Default, without notice.

18.1.2 Tenant shall fail to comply with any term, provision or covenant of this Lease which is not provided for in another Section of this Article and
shall not cure such failure within thirty (30) days (provided, however, that such thirty (30) day cure period shall not apply to any such failure that involves a
hazardous or emergency condition) after written notice of such failure to Tenant provided, however, that such failure shall not be an event of default if such
failure could not reasonably be cured during such twenty (20) day period, Tenant has commenced the cure within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter is
diligently pursuing such cure to completion, but the total aggregate cure period shall not exceed ninety (90) days.

18.1.3 Tenant shall fail to vacate the Premises immediately upon termination of this Lease, by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon termination of
Tenant’s right to possession only.
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18.1.4 Tenant shall become insolvent, admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, file a petition in bankruptcy or a
petition to take advantage of any insolvency statute, make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, make a transfer in fraud of creditors, apply for or consent to
the appointment of a receiver of itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, or file a petition or answer seeking reorganization or arrangement
under the federal bankruptcy laws, as now in effect or hereafter amended, or any other applicable law or statute of the United States or any state thereof.

18.1.5 A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree adjudicating Tenant bankrupt, or appointing a receiver of Tenant, or
of the whole or any substantial part of its property, without the consent of Tenant, or approving a petition filed against Tenant seeking reorganization or
arrangement of Tenant under the bankruptcy laws of the United States, as now in effect or hereafter amended, or any state thereof, and such order, judgment or
decree shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within sixty (60) days from the date of entry thereof.

 
19. REMEDIES.

19.1 Except as otherwise provided in Article 20, upon the occurrence of any of the Events of Default described or referred to in Article 18, Landlord shall
have the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies without any notice or demand whatsoever, concurrently or consecutively and not
alternatively:

19.1.1 Landlord may, at its election, by notice to Tenant, terminate this Lease or terminate Tenant’s right to possession only, without terminating the
Lease.

19.1.2 Upon any termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon any termination of Tenant’s right to possession without
termination of the Lease, Tenant shall surrender possession and vacate the Premises immediately, and deliver possession thereof to Landlord, and Tenant hereby
grants to Landlord full and free license to enter into and upon the Premises in such event and to repossess Landlord of the Premises as of Landlord’s former estate
and to expel or remove Tenant and any others who may be occupying or be within the Premises and to remove Tenant’s signs and other evidence of tenancy and
all other property of Tenant therefrom without being deemed in any manner guilty of trespass, eviction or forcible entry or detainer, and without incurring any
liability for any damage resulting therefrom, Tenant waiving any right to claim damages for such re-entry and expulsion, and without relinquishing Landlord’s
right to rent or any other right given to Landlord under this Lease or by operation of law.

19.1.3 Upon any termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, Landlord shall be entitled to recover as damages, all rent,
including any amounts treated as additional rent under this Lease, and other sums due and payable by Tenant on the date of termination, plus as liquidated
damages and not as a penalty, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the then present value (using a discount rate equal to the then prime rate as published by the Wall
Street Journal, the “Discount Rate”) of the rent reserved in this Lease for the residue of the stated Term of this Lease including any amounts treated as additional
rent under this Lease and all other sums provided in this Lease to be paid by Tenant, minus the present value (calculated using the Discount Rate) of the fair rental
value of the Premises for such residue; (b) the value of the time and expense necessary to obtain a replacement tenant or tenants, and the estimated expenses
described in Section 19.1.4 relating to recovery of the Premises, preparation for reletting and for reletting itself; (c) the cost of performing any other covenants
which would have otherwise been performed by Tenant; and (d) the value of any free or reduced rent provided for in this Lease and the unamortized cost of any
brokerage or other commissions and the unamortized cost of alterations, if any, paid by Landlord pursuant to, or in connection with, this Lease.

19.1.4 Upon any termination of Tenant’s right to possession only without termination of the Lease (except as set forth in Section 19.1.4.3):

19.1.4.1 Neither such termination of Tenant’s right to possession nor Landlord’s taking and holding possession thereof as provided in
Section 19.1.2 shall terminate the Lease or release Tenant, in whole or in part, from any obligation, including Tenant’s obligation to pay the rent, including any
amounts treated as additional rent, under this Lease for the full Term, and if Landlord so elects Tenant shall continue to pay to Landlord the entire amount of the
rent as and when it becomes due, including any amounts treated as additional rent under this Lease, for the remainder of the Term plus any other sums provided in
this Lease to be paid by Tenant for the remainder of the Term.
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19.1.4.2 Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to relet the Premises or portions thereof. Landlord and Tenant agree that
nevertheless Landlord shall at most be required to use only the same efforts Landlord then uses to lease premises in the Building generally and that in any case
that Landlord shall not be required to give any preference or priority to the showing or leasing of the Premises or portions thereof over any other space that
Landlord may be leasing or have available and may place a suitable prospective tenant in any such other space regardless of when such other space becomes
available and that Landlord shall have the right to relet the Premises for a greater or lesser term than that remaining under this Lease, the right to relet only a
portion of the Premises, or a portion of the Premises or the entire Premises as a part of a larger area, and the right to change the character or use of the
Premises. In connection with or in preparation for any reletting, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, make repairs, alterations and additions in or to the
Premises and redecorate the same to the extent Landlord deems necessary or desirable, and Tenant shall pay the cost thereof, together with Landlord’s expenses of
reletting, including, without limitation, any commission incurred by Landlord, within five (5) days of Landlord’s demand. Landlord shall not be required to
observe any instruction given by Tenant about any reletting or accept any tenant offered by Tenant unless such offered tenant has a credit-worthiness acceptable to
Landlord and leases the entire Premises upon terms and conditions including a rate of rent (after giving effect to all expenditures by Landlord for tenant
improvements, broker’s commissions and other leasing costs) all no less favorable to Landlord than as called for in this Lease, nor shall Landlord be required to
make or permit any assignment or sublease for more than the current term or which Landlord would not be required to permit under the provisions of Article 9.

19.1.4.3 In the event that Landlord (i) terminates the Tenant’s right to possession without terminating the Lease or (ii) terminates the Lease
and elects as its remedy to proceed under this Section 19.1.4.3 in lieu of the remedy set forth in Section 19.1.3 above (provided that at any time thereafter,
Landlord may elect to proceed under Section 19.1.3 above), Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand the full amount of all rent, including any amounts treated
as additional rent under this Lease and other sums reserved in this Lease for the remaining Term, together with the costs of repairs, alterations, additions,
redecorating and Landlord’s expenses of reletting and the collection of the rent accruing therefrom (including reasonable attorney’s fees and broker’s
commissions), as the same shall then be due or become due from time to time, less only such consideration as Landlord may have received from any reletting of
the Premises, and Tenant agrees that Landlord may file suits from time to time to recover any sums falling due under this Article 19 as they become due. Any
proceeds of reletting by Landlord in excess of the amount then owed by Tenant to Landlord from time to time shall be credited against Tenant’s future obligations
under this Lease but shall not otherwise be refunded to Tenant or inure to Tenant’s benefit.

19.2 Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Landlord may (but shall not be obligated to) cure such default at Tenant’s sole expense. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, enter into and upon the Premises if Landlord determines in its sole discretion that Tenant is
not maintaining, repairing or replacing anything for which Tenant is responsible under this Lease or to otherwise effect compliance with Tenant’s obligations
under this Lease and correct the same, without being deemed in any manner guilty of trespass, eviction or forcible entry and detainer and without incurring any
liability for any damage or interruption of Tenant’s business resulting therefrom and Tenant agrees to reimburse Landlord within five (5) days of Landlord’s
demand as additional rent, for any expenses which Landlord may incur in thus effecting compliance with Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, plus interest from
the date of expenditure by Landlord at the Default Rate.

19.3 If, on account of any breach or default by Tenant in Tenant’s obligations under the terms and conditions of this Lease, it shall become necessary or
appropriate for Landlord to employ or consult with an attorney or collection agency concerning or to enforce or defend any of Landlord’s rights or remedies
arising under this Lease or to collect any sums due from Tenant, Tenant agrees to pay all costs and fees so incurred by Landlord, including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. TENANT EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO: (A) TRIAL BY JURY; AND (B) SERVICE OF ANY NOTICE
REQUIRED BY ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE LAW OR ORDINANCE APPLICABLE TO LANDLORDS OR TENANTS BUT NOT REQUIRED BY
THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE.
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19.4 Pursuit of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude pursuit of any of the other remedies provided in this Lease or any other remedies provided
by law (all such remedies being cumulative), nor shall pursuit of any remedy provided in this Lease constitute a forfeiture or waiver of any rent due to Landlord
under this Lease or of any damages accruing to Landlord by reason of the violation of any of the terms, provisions and covenants contained in this Lease.

19.5 No act or thing done by Landlord or its agents during the Term shall be deemed a termination of this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the
Premises, and no agreement to terminate this Lease or accept a surrender of said Premises shall be valid, unless in writing signed by Landlord. No waiver by
Landlord of any violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions and covenants contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of
any other violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions and covenants contained in this Lease. Landlord’s acceptance of the payment of rental or other
payments after the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not be construed as a waiver of such Event of Default, unless Landlord so notifies Tenant in
writing. Forbearance by Landlord in enforcing one or more of the remedies provided in this Lease upon an Event of Default shall not be deemed or construed to
constitute a waiver of such Event of Default or of Landlord’s right to enforce any such remedies with respect to such Event of Default or any subsequent Event of
Default.

19.6 Any and all property which may be removed from the Premises by Landlord pursuant to the authority of this Lease or of law, to which Tenant is or
may be entitled, may be handled, removed and/or stored, as the case may be, by or at the direction of Landlord but at the risk, cost and expense of Tenant, and
Landlord shall in no event be responsible for the value, preservation or safekeeping thereof. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand, any and all expenses
incurred in such removal and all storage charges against such property so long as the same shall be in Landlord’s possession or under Landlord’s control. Any
such property of Tenant not retaken by Tenant from storage within thirty (30) days after removal from the Premises shall, at Landlord’s option, be deemed
conveyed by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease as by a bill of sale without further payment or credit by Landlord to Tenant.

 
20. TENANT’S BANKRUPTCY OR INSOLVENCY.

20.1 If at any time and for so long as Tenant shall be subjected to the provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code or other law of the United States or
any state thereof for the protection of debtors as in effect at such time (each a “Debtor’s Law”):

20.1.1 Tenant, Tenant as debtor-in-possession, and any trustee or receiver of Tenant’s assets (each a “Tenant’s Representative”) shall have no greater
right to assume or assign this Lease or any interest in this Lease, or to sublease any of the Premises than accorded to Tenant in Article 9, except to the extent
Landlord shall be required to permit such assumption, assignment or sublease by the provisions of such Debtor’s Law. Without limitation of the generality of the
foregoing, any right of any Tenant’s Representative to assume or assign this Lease or to sublease any of the Premises shall be subject to the conditions that:

20.1.1.1 Such Debtor’s Law shall provide to Tenant’s Representative a right of assumption of this Lease which Tenant’s Representative shall
have timely exercised and Tenant’s Representative shall have fully cured any default of Tenant under this Lease.

20.1.1.2 Tenant’s Representative or the proposed assignee, as the case shall be, shall have deposited with Landlord as security for the timely
payment of rent an amount equal to the larger of: (a) three (3) months’ rent and other monetary charges accruing under this Lease; and (b) any sum specified in
Article 5; and shall have provided Landlord with adequate other assurance of the future performance of the obligations of the Tenant under this Lease. Without
limitation, such assurances shall include, at least, in the case of assumption of this Lease, demonstration to the satisfaction of the Landlord that Tenant’s
Representative has and will continue to have sufficient unencumbered assets after the payment of all secured obligations and administrative expenses to assure
Landlord that Tenant’s Representative will have sufficient funds to fulfill the obligations of Tenant under this Lease; and, in the case of assignment, submission of
current financial statements of the proposed assignee, audited by an independent certified public accountant reasonably acceptable to Landlord and showing a net
worth and working capital in amounts determined by Landlord to be sufficient to assure the future performance by such assignee of all of the Tenant’s obligations
under this Lease.
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20.1.1.3 The assumption or any contemplated assignment of this Lease or subleasing any part of the Premises, as shall be the case, will not
breach any provision in any other lease, mortgage, financing agreement or other agreement by which Landlord is bound.

20.1.1.4 Landlord shall have, or would have had absent the Debtor’s Law, no right under Article 9 to refuse consent to the proposed
assignment or sublease by reason of the identity or nature of the proposed assignee or sublessee or the proposed use of the Premises concerned.

 
21. QUIET ENJOYMENT.

Landlord represents and warrants that it has full right and authority to enter into this Lease and that Tenant, while paying the rental and performing its other
covenants and agreements contained in this Lease, shall peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Premises for the Term without hindrance or molestation
from all persons or entities lawfully claiming by or through Landlord subject to the terms and provisions of this Lease. Landlord shall not be liable for any
interference or disturbance by other tenants or third persons (other than parties claiming by or through Landlord), nor shall Tenant be released from any of the
obligations of this Lease because of such interference or disturbance.

 
22. CASUALTY.

22.1 In the event the Premises or the Building are damaged by fire or other cause and in Landlord’s reasonable estimation such damage can be materially
restored within one hundred eighty (180) days, Landlord shall forthwith repair the Premises and Building to substantially the same condition as before the
casualty and this Lease shall remain in full force and effect, except that Tenant shall be entitled to a proportionate abatement in rent from the date of such
damage. Such abatement of rent shall be made pro rata in accordance with the extent to which the damage and the making of such repairs shall interfere with the
use and occupancy by Tenant of the Premises from time to time. Within forty-five (45) days from the date of such damage, Landlord shall notify Tenant, in
writing, of Landlord’s reasonable estimation of the length of time within which material restoration can be made, and Landlord’s determination shall be binding
on Tenant. For purposes of this Lease, the Building or Premises shall be deemed “materially restored” if they are in such condition as would not prevent or
materially interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises for the purpose for which it was being used immediately before such damage.

22.2 If such repairs cannot, in Landlord’s reasonable estimation, be made within one hundred eighty (180) days, Landlord and Tenant shall each have the
option of giving the other, at any time within ninety (90) days after such damage, notice terminating this Lease as of the date of such damage. In the event of the
giving of such notice, this Lease shall expire and all interest of the Tenant in the Premises shall terminate as of the date of such damage as if such date had been
originally fixed in this Lease for the expiration of the Term. In the event that neither Landlord nor Tenant exercises its option to terminate this Lease, then
Landlord shall repair or restore such damage, this Lease continuing in full force and effect, and the rent hereunder shall be proportionately abated as provided in
Section 22.1.

22.3 Landlord shall not be required to repair or replace any damage or loss by or from fire or other cause to any panelings, decorations, partitions,
additions, railings, ceilings, floor coverings, office fixtures or any other property or improvements installed on the Premises by, or belonging to, Tenant, provided
that Landlord may require Tenant to pay to Landlord Tenant’s insurance proceeds therefor, and Landlord may use such proceeds to restore the same.

22.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article: (a) Landlord shall not have any obligation whatsoever to repair, reconstruct, or
restore the Premises when the damages resulting from any casualty covered by the provisions of this Article 22 occur during the last twelve (12) months of the
Term or of any extension thereof, but if Landlord determines not to repair such damages Landlord shall notify Tenant and if such damages shall render any
material portion of the Premises untenantable Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord within fifteen (15) days after receipt of
Landlord’s notice; and (b) in the event the holder of any indebtedness secured by a mortgage or deed of trust covering the Premises or Building requires that any
insurance proceeds be applied to such indebtedness, then Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease by delivering written notice of termination to
Tenant within fifteen (15) days after such requirement is made by any such holder, whereupon this Lease shall end on the date of such damage as if the date of
such damage were the date originally fixed in this Lease for the expiration of the Term.
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22.5 In the event of any damage or destruction to the Building or Premises by any peril covered by the provisions of this Article 22, it shall be Tenant’s
responsibility to properly secure the Premises and upon notice from Landlord to remove forthwith, at its sole cost and expense, such portion of all of the property
belonging to Tenant or its licensees from such portion or all of the Building or Premises as Landlord shall request and is reasonably necessary to undertake
Landlord’s repair.

 
23. EMINENT DOMAIN.

If all or any substantial part of the Premises shall be taken or appropriated by any public or quasi-public authority under the power of eminent domain, or
conveyance in lieu of such appropriation, either party to this Lease shall have the right, at its option, of giving the other, at any time within thirty (30) days after
such taking, notice terminating this Lease, except that Tenant may only terminate this Lease by reason of taking or appropriation, if such taking or appropriation
shall be so substantial as to materially interfere with Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises. If neither party to this Lease shall so elect to terminate this
Lease, the rental thereafter to be paid shall be adjusted on a fair and equitable basis under the circumstances. In addition to the rights of Landlord above, if any
substantial part of the Building shall be taken or appropriated by any public or quasi-public authority under the power of eminent domain or conveyance in lieu
thereof, and regardless of whether the Premises or any part thereof are so taken or appropriated, Landlord shall have the right, at its sole option, to terminate this
Lease. Landlord shall be entitled to any and all income, rent, award, or any interest whatsoever in or upon any such sum, which may be paid or made in
connection with any such public or quasi-public use or purpose, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord any interest it may have in or claim to all or any part of
such sums, other than any separate award which may be made with respect to Tenant’s trade fixtures and moving expenses; Tenant shall make no claim for the
value of any unexpired Term.

 
24. SALE BY LANDLORD.

In event of a sale or conveyance by Landlord of the Building, the same shall operate to release Landlord from any future liability upon any of the covenants
or conditions, expressed or implied, contained in this Lease in favor of Tenant, and in such event Tenant agrees to look solely to the responsibility of the successor
in interest of Landlord in and to this Lease. Except as set forth in this Article 24, this Lease shall not be affected by any such sale and Tenant agrees to attorn to
the purchaser or assignee. If any security has been given by Tenant to secure the faithful performance of any of the covenants of this Lease, Landlord may transfer
or deliver said security, as such, to Landlord’s successor in interest and thereupon Landlord shall be discharged from any further liability with regard to said
security.

 
25. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES.

Within ten (10) days following any written request which Landlord may make from time to time, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord or
mortgagee or prospective mortgagee a sworn statement substantially in the form of Exhibit H certifying: (a) the date of commencement of this Lease; (b) the fact
that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications to this Lease, that this Lease is in full force and effect, as modified,
and stating the date and nature of such modifications); (c) the date to which the rent and other sums payable under this Lease have been paid; (d) the fact that
there are no current defaults under this Lease by either Landlord or Tenant except as specified in Tenant’s statement; and (e) such other matters as may be
requested by Landlord. Landlord and Tenant intend that any statement delivered pursuant to this Article 25 may be relied upon by any mortgagee, beneficiary or
purchaser. Tenant irrevocably agrees that if Tenant fails to execute and deliver such certificate within such ten (10) day period Landlord or Landlord’s beneficiary
or agent may execute and deliver such certificate on Tenant’s behalf, and that such certificate shall be fully binding on Tenant.
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26. SURRENDER OF PREMISES.

26.1 Tenant shall arrange to meet Landlord for two (2) joint inspections of the Premises, the first to occur at least thirty (30) days (but no more than sixty
(60) days) before the last day of the Term, and the second to occur not later than forty-eight (48) hours after Tenant has vacated the Premises. In the event of
Tenant’s failure to arrange such joint inspections and/or participate in either such inspection, Landlord’s inspection at or after Tenant’s vacating the Premises shall
be conclusively deemed correct for purposes of determining Tenant’s responsibility for repairs and restoration.

26.2 On or before the date that Tenant, and anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant, vacates the Premises, and immediately prior to the time that
Tenant delivers the Premises to Landlord, Tenant shall, to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord:
 

 (i) Decommission all laboratory space in and about the Leased Premises, including without limitation, in accordance with applicable laws and
best practices for similarly used laboratory space, and to the satisfaction of Landlord and any governmental authority involved in the closure;

 

 (ii) Terminate all licenses, permits, registrations and consents obtained by Tenant for the use or storage of Hazardous Materials at the Premises;
 

 (iii) Remove from the Premises and dispose of all Hazardous Materials stored in the Premises in compliance with applicable laws (including,
without limitation, all environmental, health and safety laws);

 

 (iv) Decontaminate all surfaces and fixed equipment in the Premises;
 

 (v) Review and remediate and properly dispose of any specific Hazardous Materials that may be associated with any laboratory fixtures used by
Tenant in the Premises; and

 

 

(vi) Provide to Landlord a copy of its most current chemical waste removal manifest and a certification from Tenant executed by an officer of
Tenant that no Hazardous Materials or other potentially dangerous or harmful chemicals brought into the Premises by Tenant or any
“Tenant’s Parties” (as such term is defined in Article 30) from and after the date that Tenant first took occupancy of the Premises remain in
the Premises.

26.3 All alterations, additions, and improvements in, on, or to the Premises made or installed by or for Tenant, including, without limitation, carpeting
(collectively, “Alterations”), shall be and remain the property of Tenant during the Term. Upon the expiration or sooner termination of the Term, all Alterations
shall become a part of the realty and shall belong to Landlord without compensation, and title shall pass to Landlord under this Lease as by a bill of sale. At the
end of the Term or any renewal of the Term or other sooner termination of this Lease, Tenant will peaceably deliver up to Landlord possession of the Premises in
good condition and repair, together with all Alterations by whomsoever made, broom clean and free of all debris, excepting only ordinary wear and tear and
damage by fire or other casualty. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Landlord so elects by notice to Tenant at the time Landlord approves the plans therefor (or if
Landlord’s approval was not obtained or required, by notice to Tenant at least thirty (30) days prior to expiration of the Term) Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense,
remove any Alterations so designated by Landlord and repair any damage caused thereby.

26.4 Tenant must, at Tenant’s sole cost, remove upon termination of this Lease, any and all of Tenant’s furniture, furnishings, equipment, movable
partitions of less than full height from floor to ceiling and other trade fixtures and personal property, as well as all data/telecommunications cabling and wiring
installed by or on behalf of Tenant, whether inside walls, under any raised floor or above any ceiling (collectively, “Personalty”). Personalty not so removed shall
be deemed abandoned by the Tenant and title to the same shall thereupon pass to Landlord under this Lease as by a bill of sale, but Tenant shall remain
responsible for the cost of removal and disposal of such Personalty, as well as any damage caused by such removal.
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26.5 All obligations of Tenant under this Lease not fully performed as of the expiration or earlier termination of the Term shall survive the expiration or
earlier termination of the Term. Any otherwise unused Security Deposit may be credited against the amount payable by Tenant under this Lease.

 
27. NOTICES.

Any notice or document required or permitted to be delivered under this Lease shall be addressed to the intended recipient, by fully prepaid registered or
certified United States Mail return receipt requested, or by reputable independent contract delivery service furnishing a written record of attempted or actual
delivery, and shall be deemed to be delivered when tendered for delivery to the addressee at its address set forth on the Reference Pages, or at such other address
as it has then last specified by written notice delivered in accordance with this Article 27, or if to Tenant at either its aforesaid address or if Tenant has vacated the
Premises then to its last known registered office or home of a general partner or individual owner, whether or not actually accepted or received by the
addressee. Any such notice or document may also be personally delivered if a receipt is signed by and received from, the individual, if any, named in Tenant’s
Notice Address.

 
28. TAXES PAYABLE BY TENANT.

In addition to rent and other charges to be paid by Tenant under this Lease, Tenant shall reimburse to Landlord, upon demand, any and all taxes payable by
Landlord (other than net income taxes) whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the parties to this Lease: (a) upon, allocable to, or measured
by or on the gross or net rent payable under this Lease, including without limitation any gross income tax or excise tax levied by the State, any political
subdivision thereof, or the Federal Government with respect to the receipt of such rent; (b) upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operation,
management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use or occupancy of the Premises or any portion thereof, including any sales, use or service tax imposed as a result
thereof; (c) upon or measured by the Tenant’s gross receipts or payroll or the value of Tenant’s equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal property of
Tenant or leasehold improvements, alterations or additions located in the Premises; or (d) upon this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party
creating or transferring any interest of Tenant in this Lease or the Premises. In addition to the foregoing, Tenant agrees to pay, before delinquency, any and all
taxes levied or assessed against Tenant and which become payable during the term hereof upon Tenant’s equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal
property of Tenant located in the Premises.

 
29. SIGNAGE.

Landlord, at its expense, shall provide a building standard tenant identification sign in the lobby of the Building and on the monument sign near the main
Building entrance. Tenant, at its expense, shall have the exclusive right to maintain one (1) sign on the Crosby Drive side of the Building as long as Tenant shall
occupy at least fifty percent (50%) of the Building; provided that the design, color, size, installation method and exact location of such sign shall be subject to
Landlord’s approval which approval shall not be unreasonably conditioned or delayed. Tenant shall obtain and maintain, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, all
necessary governmental approvals for such sign.

 
30. PARKING.

30.1 Tenant shall at all times abide by and shall cause each of Tenant’s employees, agents, customers, visitors, invitees, licensees, contractors, assignees
and subtenants (collectively, “Tenant’s Parties”) to abide by any rules and regulations (“Rules”) for use of the parking facilities that Landlord reasonably
establishes from time to time, and otherwise agrees to use the parking facilities in a safe and lawful manner. Landlord reserves the right to adopt, modify and
enforce the Rules governing the use of the parking facilities from time to time including any key-card, sticker or other identification or entrance system and hours
of operation. Landlord may refuse to permit any person who violates such Rules to park in the parking facilities, and any violation of the Rules shall subject the
car to removal from the parking facilities.

30.2 Tenant acknowledges that the parking facilities may be closed entirely or in part in order to make repairs or perform maintenance services, or to alter,
modify, re-stripe or renovate the parking facilities, or if required
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by casualty, strike, condemnation, act of God, governmental law or requirement or other reason beyond the operator’s reasonable control. In the event of such
partial or total closure, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to provide adequate alterative parking for Tenant and its employees.

30.3 Tenant acknowledges that to the fullest extent permitted by law, Landlord shall have no liability for any damage to property or other items located in
the parking areas of the Project (including without limitation, any loss or damage to tenant’s automobile or the contents thereof due to theft, vandalism or
accident), nor for any personal injuries or death arising out of the use of the parking facilities by Tenant or any Tenant’s Parties, unless such loss or damage results
from Landlord’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Tenant and Tenant’s Parties each hereby voluntarily releases, discharges, waives and relinquishes any
and all actions or causes of action for personal injury or property damage occurring to Tenant or any of Tenant’s Parties arising as a result of parking in the
parking facilities, or any activities incidental thereto, wherever or however the same may occur, and further agrees that Tenant will not prosecute any claim for
personal injury or property damage against Landlord or any of its officers, agents, servants or employees for any said causes of action and in all events, Tenant
agrees to look first to its insurance carrier and to require that Tenant’s Parties look first to their respective insurance carriers for payment of any losses sustained in
connection with any use of the parking facilities. Tenant hereby waives on behalf of its insurance carriers all rights of subrogation against Landlord or Landlord’s
agents.

 
31. DEFINED TERMS AND HEADINGS.

The Article headings shown in this Lease are for convenience of reference and shall in no way define, increase, limit or describe the scope or intent of any
provision of this Lease. Any indemnification or insurance of Landlord shall apply to and inure to the benefit of all the following “Landlord Entities”, being
Landlord, Landlord’s investment manager, and the trustees, boards of directors, officers, general partners, beneficiaries, stockholders, employees and agents of
each of them. Any option granted to Landlord shall also include or be exercisable by Landlord’s trustee, beneficiary, agents and employees, as the case may be. In
any case where this Lease is signed by more than one person, the obligations under this Lease shall be joint and several. The terms “Tenant” and “Landlord” or
any pronoun used in place thereof shall indicate and include the masculine or feminine, the singular or plural number, individuals, firms or corporations, and their
and each of their respective successors, executors, administrators and permitted assigns, according to the context hereof. The term “rentable area” shall mean the
rentable area of the Premises or the Building as calculated by the Landlord on the basis of the plans and specifications of the Building including a proportionate
share of any common areas. Tenant hereby accepts and agrees to be bound by the figures for the rentable square footage of the Premises and Tenant’s
Proportionate Share shown on the Reference Pages; however, Landlord may adjust either or both figures if there is manifest error, addition or subtraction to the
Building, remeasurement or other circumstance reasonably justifying adjustment. The term “Building” refers to the structure in which the Premises are located
and the common areas (parking lots, sidewalks, landscaping, etc.) appurtenant thereto.

 
32. TENANT’S AUTHORITY.

If Tenant signs as a corporation, partnership, trust or other legal entity each of the persons executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents and warrants
that Tenant has been and is qualified to do business in the state in which the Building is located, that the entity has full right and authority to enter into this Lease,
and that all persons signing on behalf of the entity were authorized to do so by appropriate actions. Tenant agrees to deliver to Landlord, simultaneously with the
delivery of this Lease, a corporate resolution, proof of due authorization by partners, opinion of counsel or other appropriate documentation reasonably acceptable
to Landlord evidencing the due authorization of Tenant to enter into this Lease.

Tenant hereby represents and warrants that neither Tenant, nor any persons or entities holding any legal or beneficial interest whatsoever in Tenant, are (i)
the target of any sanctions program that is established by Executive Order of the President or published by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, U.S. Department
of the Treasury (“OFAC”); (ii) designated by the President or OFAC pursuant to the Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. App. § 5, the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701-06, the Patriot Act, Public Law 107-56, Executive Order 13224 (September 23, 2001) or any Executive
Order of the President issued pursuant to such statutes; or (iii) named on the following list that is published by OFAC: “List of Specially Designated Nationals
and Blocked Persons.” If the foregoing representation is untrue at any time during the Term, an Event of Default will be deemed to have occurred, without the
necessity of notice to Tenant.
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33. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND CREDIT REPORTS.

At Landlord’s request, not more than once annually (except in connection with a proposed sale or financing of the Building), Tenant shall deliver to
Landlord a copy, certified by an officer of Tenant as being a true and correct copy, of Tenant’s most recent audited financial statement, or, if unaudited, certified
by Tenant’s chief financial officer as being true, complete and correct in all material respects.

 
34. COMMISSIONS.

Each of the parties represents and warrants to the other that it has not dealt with any broker or finder in connection with this Lease, except as described on
the Reference Pages. Landlord and Tenant shall each indemnify, defend and hold the other party harmless from and against any and all claims by any real estate
broker or salesman (other than the broker(s) described on the Reference Pages) whom the indemnifying party authorized, retained or employed, or acted by
implication to authorize, retain or employ, to act for the indemnifying party in connection with this Lease.

 
35. TIME AND APPLICABLE LAW.

Time is of the essence of this Lease and all of its provisions. This Lease shall in all respects be governed by the laws of the state in which the Building is
located.

 
36. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

Subject to the provisions of Article 9, the terms, covenants and conditions contained in this Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns of the parties to this Lease.

 
37. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

This Lease, together with its exhibits, contains all agreements of the parties to this Lease and supersedes any previous negotiations. There have been no
representations made by the Landlord or any of its representatives or understandings made between the parties other than those set forth in this Lease and its
exhibits. This Lease may not be modified except by a written instrument duly executed by the parties to this Lease.

 
38. EXAMINATION NOT OPTION.

The parties shall not be bound by this Lease until each has received a copy of this Lease duly executed and delivered by the other. Notwithstanding
anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord may withhold delivery of possession of the Premises from Tenant until such time as Tenant has paid to
Landlord any security deposit required by Article 5, the first month’s rent as set forth in Article 3 and any sum owed pursuant to this Lease.

 
39. RECORDATION.

Tenant shall not record or register this Lease or a short form memorandum hereof without the prior written consent of Landlord, and then shall pay all
charges and taxes incident such recording or registration. Landlord shall sign and deliver a mutually agreeable short form memorandum of lease simultaneously
with the Lease.
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40. LIMITATION OF LANDLORD’S LIABILITY.

Redress for any claim against Landlord under this Lease shall be limited to and enforceable only against and to the extent of Landlord’s interest in the
Building and any proceeds therefrom first arising after the date of a final judgment against Landlord in favor of Tenant.

 
41. COUNTERPARTS.

This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts, including any facsimile or other electronic version of same, each of which shall be deemed an
original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute one agreement. Any facsimile or other electronic signature shall constitute a valid and binding
method for executing this Lease. Executed counterparts of this Lease exchanged by facsimile transmission or other electronic means shall be fully enforceable.

[REMAINDER OF THE PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Landlord under this Lease are not intended to be and shall not be personally binding on, nor shall any resort be had to the private properties of, any of its or
its investment manager’s trustees, directors, officers, partners, beneficiaries, members, stockholders, employees, or agents, and in no case shall Landlord be liable
to Tenant hereunder for any lost profits, damage to business, or any form of special, indirect or consequential damages.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Lease to be duly executed, under seal, by persons hereunto duly authorized, as of the
Lease Reference Date first set forth above in the Reference Pages.
 
LANDLORD:   TENANT:

WS NV 15 CROSBY DRIVE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company   

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC., a Delaware corporation

By:  /s/ Scott R. Tully   By:  /s/ W. Bradford Smith
Name:  Scott R. Tully   Name:  Bradford Smith
Title:  Manager   Title:  CFO

Dated:  June 17, 2016   Dated:  June 15, 2016
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EXHIBIT A –PLAN DEPICTING THE PREMISES AND THE BUILDING

attached to and made a part of Lease bearing the
Lease Reference Date as of May 31, 2016 between
WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, as Landlord and

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., as Tenant

Exhibit A is intended only to show the general outline of the Premises and the location of the Building as of the Lease Reference Date. The depiction of interior
windows, cubicles, modules, furniture and equipment in this Exhibit is for illustrative purposes only, but does not mean that such items exist. Landlord is not
required to provide, install or construct any such items. It does not in any way supersede any of Landlord’s rights set forth in the Lease with respect to
arrangements and/or locations of public parts of the Building and changes in such arrangements and/or locations. It is not to be scaled; any measurements or
distances shown should be taken as approximate.
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EXHIBIT B – INITIAL ALTERATIONS

attached to and made a part of Lease bearing the
Lease Reference Date as of May 31, 2016 between
WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, as Landlord and

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., as Tenant

1. Acceptance of Premises. Tenant accepts the Premises in their “AS-IS” condition on the date that this Lease is entered into except that, on the
Construction Access Period Date, any loose floor tiles in the Building lobby will be repaired, the walk in freezer on the second (2nd) floor of the Building shall be
removed, the roof and foundation shall be in good repair and all existing mechanical (including updating of elevator inspections), electrical, HVAC (including in
the Building lobby), lighting, life safety and plumbing systems will be in good working order, the loading dock garage doors shall be properly functioning and all
code compliance upgrades to the Building required in its current condition and configuration, if any, will have been performed. Additionally, the items set forth on
Exhibit C to this Lease (the “Items To Remain”) shall be delivered to Tenant on the Construction Access Period Date in their then “as is” condition, without any
representation or warranty by Landlord as to their functionality or fitness for operation or otherwise. Without limiting the generality of the immediately preceding
sentence, Landlord shall have no obligation to remove or remediate any Hazardous Materials that may be present in or on any of the Items To Remain.

2. Space Plans.

(a) Preparation and Delivery. Within ninety (90) days after the execution and delivery of this Lease (the “Space Plans Delivery Deadline”), Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord space plans prepared by an architect approved by Landlord (the “Architect”) depicting improvements to be installed in the Premises by
Tenant (the “Space Plans”). Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for up to $7,071.00 in the aggregate for the cost of preparing the Space Plans within thirty (30) days
of Tenant’s presentation to Landlord of an invoice therefor.

(b) Approval Process. Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approves of the submitted Space Plans within seven (7) Business Days after Tenant’s
submission thereof. If Landlord disapproves of such Space Plans, then Landlord shall notify Tenant thereof specifying in reasonable detail the reasons for such
disapproval, in which case Tenant shall, within three (3) Business Days after such notice, revise such Space Plans in accordance with Landlord’s objections and
submit to Landlord for its review and approval. Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing whether it approves of the resubmitted Space Plans within three (3)
Business Days after its receipt thereof. This process shall be repeated until the Space Plans have been finally approved by Landlord and Tenant. Failure of
Landlord to provide its written approval or disapproval with comments within such time period(s) shall be a deemed approval.

3. Working Drawings.

(a) Preparation and Delivery. On or before the tenth (10th) day following the date on which the Space Plans are approved by Landlord and Tenant
(such earlier date is referred to herein as the “Working Drawings Delivery Deadline”), Tenant shall provide to Landlord for its approval final working drawings,
prepared by the Architect, of all improvements that Tenant proposes to install in the Premises; such working drawings shall include the partition layout, ceiling
plan, electrical outlets and switches, telephone outlets, drawings for any modifications to the mechanical and plumbing systems of the Building, and detailed
plans and specifications for the construction of the improvements called for under this Exhibit in accordance with all applicable Laws.

Failure of Landlord to provide its written approval or disapproval with comments within such time period(s) shall be a deemed approval.

(b) Approval Process. Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approves of the submitted working drawings within ten (10) Business Days after
Tenant’s submission thereof. If Landlord disapproves of such working drawings, then Landlord shall notify Tenant thereof specifying in reasonable detail the
reasons for such disapproval, in which case Tenant shall, within ten (10) Business Days after such notice, endeavor to revise such working drawings in
accordance with Landlord’s objections and submit the revised working drawings to Landlord
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for its review and approval. Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing whether it approves of the resubmitted working drawings within ten (10) Business Days after
its receipt thereof. This process shall be repeated until the working drawings have been finally approved by Tenant and Landlord.

(c) Landlord’s Approval; Performance of Work. If any of Tenant’s proposed construction work will affect the Building’s structure or any of the
Building systems, then the working drawings pertaining thereto must be approved by Landlord’s engineer. Landlord’s approval of such working drawings shall
not be unreasonably withheld, provided that (1) they comply with all Laws, (2) the improvements depicted thereon do not adversely affect (in the reasonable
discretion of Landlord) the Building’s structure or the Building systems, or the exterior appearance of the Building, (3) such working drawings are sufficiently
detailed to allow construction of the improvements in a good and workmanlike manner, and (4) the improvements depicted thereon conform to the rules and
regulations promulgated from time to time by Landlord for the construction of tenant improvements (a copy of which has been delivered to Tenant). As used
herein, “Working Drawings” shall mean the final working drawings approved by Landlord, as amended from time to time by any approved changes thereto, and
“Work” shall mean all improvements to be constructed in accordance with and as indicated on the Working Drawings, together with any work required by
governmental authorities to be made to other areas of the Building as a result of the improvements indicated by the Working Drawings. Landlord’s approval of the
Working Drawings shall not be a representation or warranty of Landlord that such drawings are adequate for any use or comply with any Law, but shall merely be
the consent of Landlord thereto. Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, sign the Working Drawings to evidence its review and approval thereof. After the Working
Drawings have been approved, Tenant shall cause the Work to be performed in substantial accordance with the Working Drawings.

4. Construction Work. Upon receipt of the approvals described above, Tenant shall commence and prosecute the Work to completion in accordance with
Section 6 of this Lease.

5. Costs. The entire cost of performing the Work (including design of the Work and preparation of the Working Drawings, costs of construction labor and
materials, additional janitorial services, general tenant signage, related taxes and insurance costs, all of which costs are herein collectively called the “Total
Construction Costs”) shall be paid by Tenant, subject to Section 6 hereof. Landlord will not charge a construction management or similar fee for the Work, but
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for its out-of-pocket expenses in engaging unrelated consultants to review specialized improvements or installations, not to
exceed $2,000 in any one instance or $5,000 in total. There shall be no Tenant charge for utilities, loading docks or elevators during the construction period.

6. Construction Allowance. Landlord shall provide to Tenant a construction allowance not to exceed $2,828,480.00 ($40.00 per rentable square foot in the
Premises) (the “Construction Allowance”) to be applied toward the Total Construction Costs. The Construction Allowance shall be disbursed not more than once
monthly to Tenant or its contractor(s) toward the payment of the Total Construction Costs, if, as, and when the cost of the Work is actually incurred and required
to be paid by Tenant, within thirty (30) days of Tenant’s presentation to Landlord of (a) an AIA disbursement form signed by Architect and certifying as to the
dollar amount of the disbursement requested and the then percentage completion of the Work, (b) paid invoices for the costs of the Work sought to be reimbursed
and (c) partial lien waivers for the costs of the Work sought to be reimbursed (and a full lien waiver in the case of the final disbursement of the Construction
Allowance) from the general contractor and all subcontractors having subcontracts of $10,000 or more. The Construction Allowance must be used on or before
December 31, 2017, or it shall be deemed forfeited with no further obligation by Landlord with respect thereto.

7. Construction Representatives. Landlord’s and Tenant’s representatives for coordination of construction and approval of change orders will be as
follows, provided that either party may change its representative upon written notice to the other:

Landlord’s Representative:

c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC
120 Water Street, Third Floor
Boston, MA 02109
Attn: Erika E. Clarke, Vice President of Asset Management
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Tenant’s Representative:

Jim Fortune, COO, Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.

8. Miscellaneous. To the extent not inconsistent with this Exhibit, Section 6 of this Lease shall govern the performance of the Work and Landlord’s and
Tenant’s respective rights and obligations regarding the improvements installed pursuant thereto.
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EXHIBIT C – LIST OF ITEMS TO REMAIN

Ground level:

Atlas Copco air compressor
Lab gas tank switching system.
Walk in freezer

1st floor

Lobby reception desk
Lab liquid waste PH adjustment system

2nd floor

Material caging
Fitness center lockers
Lab case work/benches attached to the floors or walls
Ventilation hoods that are directly connected to the Lab exhaust system
Lab sinks
Dishwasher in lab
Eyewash / shower systems

Building in General:

Building automation computer/software/License
Video surveillance recording equipment
Access control computer/software/License
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EXHIBIT D – RULES AND REGULATIONS

attached to and made a part of Lease bearing the
Lease Reference Date as of May 31, 2016 between
WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, as Landlord and

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., as Tenant

1. Except as expressly set forth in Section 29 of this Lease, no sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or notice shall be installed or displayed on any part of
the outside or inside of the Building without the prior written consent of Landlord. Landlord shall have the right to remove, at Tenant’s expense and without
notice, any sign installed or displayed in violation of this rule. All approved signs or lettering on doors and walls shall be printed, painted, affixed or inscribed at
Tenant’s expense by a vendor designated or approved by Landlord. In addition, Landlord reserves the right to change from time to time the format of the signs or
lettering and to require previously approved signs or lettering to be appropriately altered.

2. If Landlord objects in writing to any curtains, blinds, shades or screens attached to or hung in or used in connection with any window or door of the Premises
or Building, Tenant shall immediately discontinue such use. No awning shall be permitted on any part of the Premises. Tenant shall not place anything or allow
anything to be placed against or near any glass partitions or doors or windows which may appear unsightly, in the opinion of Landlord, from outside the Premises.

3. Tenant shall not alter any lock or other access device or install a new or additional lock or access device or bolt on any door of its Premises without the prior
written consent of Landlord. Tenant, upon the termination of its tenancy, shall deliver to Landlord the keys or other means of access to all doors.

4. If Tenant requires telephone, data, burglar alarm or similar service, the cost of purchasing, installing and maintaining such service shall be borne solely by
Tenant. No boring or cutting for wires will be allowed without the prior written consent of Landlord. Landlord shall direct electricians as to where and how
telephone, data, and electrical wires are to be introduced or installed. The location of burglar alarms, telephones, call boxes or other office equipment affixed to
the Premises shall be subject to the prior written approval of Landlord.

5. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of its Premises, including mezzanine area, if any, which exceeds the load per square foot that such floor was
designed to carry and that is allowed by law. Heavy objects shall stand on such platforms as determined by Landlord to be necessary to properly distribute the
weight. Landlord will not be responsible for loss of or damage to any such equipment or other property from any cause, and all damage done to the Building by
maintaining or moving such equipment or other property shall be repaired at the expense of Tenant.

6. Tenant shall not install any radio or television antenna, satellite dish, loudspeaker or other device on the roof or exterior walls of the Building without
Landlord’s prior written consent which consent shall be in Landlord’s sole discretion.

7. Intentionally deleted.

8. No cooking shall be done or permitted on the Premises, except that Underwriters’ Laboratory approved microwave ovens, toaster ovens or equipment for
brewing coffee, tea, hot chocolate and similar beverages shall be permitted, provided that such equipment and use is in accordance with all applicable federal,
state and city laws, codes, ordinances, rules and regulations.

9. Tenant shall use due care with any material-handling equipment in the Building. Forklifts which operate on asphalt areas shall only use tires that do not damage
the asphalt.

10. Tenant shall not use the name of the Building or any photograph or other likeness of the Building in connection with or in promoting or advertising Tenant’s
business except that Tenant may include the Building name in Tenant’s address. Landlord shall have the right, exercisable without notice and without liability to
any tenant, to change the name and address of the Building.
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11. All trash and refuse shall be contained in suitable receptacles at locations approved by Landlord. Tenant shall not place in the trash receptacles any personal
trash or material that cannot be disposed of in the ordinary and customary manner of removing such trash without violation of any law or ordinance governing
such disposal.

12. Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation procedures and regulations established by Landlord or any governing authority.

13. Tenant assumes all responsibility for securing and protecting its Premises and its contents including keeping doors locked and other means of entry to the
Premises closed.

14. Intentionally deleted.

15. No person shall go on the roof without Landlord’s permission, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed (which permission may be requested and
granted by e-mail); provided, however, that no such permission shall be required for Tenant’s periodic inspections and maintenance of Tenant’s then existing roof
equipment so long as (i) no roof installations, roof penetrations or roof attachments are made in connection with such inspections and maintenance by Tenant, and
(ii) Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost of any repairs to the roof (if applicable) that are made necessary by such inspections and maintenance by Tenant.

16. Tenant shall not permit any animals, other than seeing-eye dogs, to be brought or kept in or about the Premises or any exterior areas serving the Building.

17. Tenant shall not permit any motor vehicles to be washed or mechanical work or maintenance of motor vehicles to be performed on any portion of the
Premises, the Building or parking lot.

18. These Rules and Regulations are in addition to, and shall not be construed to in any way modify or amend, in whole or in part, the terms, covenants,
agreements and conditions of any lease of any premises in the Building. Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of
any tenant or tenants, and any such waiver by Landlord shall not be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations for any or all tenants.

19. Landlord reserves the right to make such other and reasonable rules and regulations as in its judgment may from time to time be needed for safety and
security, for care and cleanliness of the Building and for the preservation of good order in and about the Building. Tenant agrees to abide by all such rules and
regulations herein stated and any additional rules and regulations which are adopted. Tenant shall be responsible for the observance of all of the foregoing rules
by Tenant’s employees, agents, clients, customers, invitees and guests.

20. Any toilet rooms, toilets, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for which they were constructed and no
foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be thrown into them. The expense of any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting from the violation of this rule
shall be borne by the Tenant who, or whose employees or invitees, shall have caused it.

21. Tenant shall not permit smoking or carrying of lighted cigarettes or cigars in areas reasonably designated by Landlord or any applicable governmental
agencies as non-smoking areas.

22. Any directory of the Building or project of which the Building is a part (“Project Area”), if provided, will be exclusively for the display of the name and
location of tenants only and Landlord reserves the right to exclude any other names.
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23. Canvassing, soliciting, distribution of handbills or any other written material in the Building or Project Area is prohibited and each tenant shall cooperate to
prevent the same. No tenant shall solicit business from other tenants or permit the sale of any goods or merchandise in the Building or Project Area without the
written consent of Landlord.

24. Any equipment belonging to Tenant which causes noise or vibration that may be transmitted to the structure of the Building or to any space therein to such a
degree as to be objectionable to Landlord or to any tenants in the Building (if applicable) shall be placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, on
vibration eliminators or other devices sufficient to eliminate the noise or vibration.

25. Driveways, sidewalks, halls, passages, exits, entrances and stairways (“Access Areas”) shall not be obstructed by tenants or used by tenants for any purpose
other than for ingress to and egress from their respective premises. Access areas are not for the use of the general public and Landlord shall in all cases retain the
right to control and prevent access thereto by all persons whose presence, in the judgment of Landlord, shall be prejudicial to the safety, character, reputation and
interests of the Building or its tenants.

26. Tenant and Tenant’s guests shall park between designated parking lines only and shall not park motor vehicles in those areas designated by Landlord for
loading and unloading. Vehicles in violation of the above shall be subject to being towed at the vehicle owner’s expense. Tenant will from time to time, upon the
request of Landlord, supply Landlord with a list of license plate numbers of vehicles owned or operated by its employees or agents.

27. No trucks, tractors or similar vehicles can be parked anywhere other than in Tenant’s own truck dock area. Tractor-trailers which must be unhooked or parked
with dolly wheels beyond the concrete loading areas must use steel plates or wood blocks under the dolly wheels to prevent damage to the asphalt paving
surfaces. No parking or storing of such trailers will be permitted in the parking areas or on streets adjacent thereto.

28. During periods of loading and unloading, Tenant shall not unreasonably interfere with traffic flow and loading and unloading areas of other tenants (if
applicable). All products, materials or goods must be stored within the Tenant’s Premises and not in any exterior areas, including, but not limited to, exterior dock
platforms, against the exterior of the Building, parking areas and driveway areas. Tenant agrees to keep the exterior of the Premises clean and free of nails, wood,
pallets, packing materials, barrels and any other debris produced from their operation.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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EXHIBIT E

EXTENSION OPTIONS

Provided there is no ongoing Event of Default at the time Tenant exercises its election to extend the Term, and the original Tenant is occupying at least
50% of the Premises at the time of such election, Tenant may extend this Lease for two (2) additional periods of five (5) years each (each an “Extension Term”),
by delivering written notice (the “Extension Notice”) of the exercise thereof to Landlord not earlier than fifteen (15) months nor later than (twelve (12) months
before the expiration of the Term or the first Extension Term, as the case may be. The Base Rent payable for each month during each such Extension Term shall
be the prevailing rental rate (the “Prevailing Rental Rate”) at the commencement of such Extension Term, for renewals of space in the vicinity of Bedford,
Massachusetts of equivalent quality, size, utility and location, with the length of the Extension Term to be taken into account. Within thirty (30) days after receipt
of Tenant’s notice to extend, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant notice of the Prevailing Rental Rate and shall advise Tenant of the required adjustment to Base Rent,
if any, and the other terms and conditions offered. Tenant shall, within twenty (20) days after receipt of Landlord’s notice, notify Landlord in writing whether
Tenant accepts or rejects Landlord’s determination of the Prevailing Rental Rate. If Tenant timely notifies Landlord that Tenant accepts Landlord’s determination
of the Prevailing Rental Rate or if Tenant fails to timely notify Landlord that it rejects such determination by Landlord, then, on or before the commencement date
of such Extension Term, Landlord and Tenant shall execute an amendment to this Lease extending the Term on the same terms provided in this Lease, except as
follows:

(a) Base Rent for the applicable Extension Term shall be adjusted to the Prevailing Rental Rate as determined by Landlord;

(b) Except as provided herein, Tenant shall have no further extension option unless expressly granted by Landlord in writing; and

(c) Landlord shall lease to Tenant the Premises in its then-current condition, and Landlord shall not provide to Tenant any allowances (e.g., moving
allowance, construction allowance, and the like) or other tenant inducements.

If Tenant timely rejects Landlord’s determination of the Prevailing Rental Rate, then the Base Rent payable for each month during the applicable Extension
Term shall be established in the following manner. By not later than the thirtieth (30th) day after the Extension Notice, Landlord and Tenant shall each appoint
one (1) qualified broker (as hereinafter defined) and the two (2) qualified broker so-appointed shall determine the Prevailing Rental Rate within thirty (30) days
following their appointment. As used herein, the term “qualified broker” shall mean any independent commercial real estate broker (a) who is employed by a
brokerage firm of recognized competence in the vicinity of Bedford, Massachusetts area and (b) who has not less than ten (10) years experience in commercial
office leasing similar in general location, type and character as the Premises. If either Landlord or Tenant fails to appoint a qualified broker within said thirty (30)
day period, then the other party shall have the power to appoint the qualified broker for the defaulting party. If said qualified brokers are unable to agree on the
Prevailing Rental Rate within said thirty (30) day period, then they shall jointly appoint a third qualified broker within ten (10) days of the expiration of such
thirty (30) day period. If the first two brokers shall fail to appoint a third broker within such ten (10) day period, either broker may request the President of the
Boston Bar Association to appoint the third qualified broker. Within thirty (30) days after the appointment of the third qualified broker, all three qualified brokers
shall meet and determine the Fair Market Rent. If all three qualified brokers are unable unanimously to agree upon the Prevailing Rental Rate, then the first two
qualified brokers simultaneously shall deliver their final Prevailing Rental Rate numbers to the third qualified broker, and the third qualified broker shall select
the number as the Prevailing Rental Rate that is closest to the Prevailing Rental Rate determined by the third broker, and the Prevailing Rental Rate so-selected
shall be conclusive and binding upon Landlord and Tenant. Each party shall bear the cost of its qualified broker, and the cost of the third qualified broker shall be
borne equally between the parties. Until such time as the Prevailing Rental Rate is so determined, from and after the commencement date of the applicable
Extension Term, Tenant shall pay Base Rent at the average of Landlord’s and Tenant’s brokers’ designations of the Prevailing Rental Rate, with an appropriate
retroactive adjustment once the Prevailing Rental Rate has been finally determined in accordance with this Exhibit E.
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Tenant’s rights under this Exhibit shall terminate if (1) this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises is terminated, (2) Tenant assigns any of its
interest in this Lease other than pursuant to Section 9.6 or sublets more than 50% of the Premises, (3) Tenant fails to timely exercise its option under this Exhibit,
time being of the essence with respect to Tenant’s exercise thereof.
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EXHIBIT F
LIST OF TENANT’S HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

 
Listing of Hazardous Materials
Facility Name:     Ocular Therapeutix, Inc

Facility Address:     36 Crosby Drive, Bedford MA 01730

Date:     2-Jun-16
 

Location of
material in facility
(e.g. building, floor,
room)  

MA Building Code
Table 307 Hazard
Classification (e.g.

Corrosive,
Combustible Liquid,

Toxic, etc.)   Chemical/Material/Waste Name   

Maximum
Quantity

([**])   

Storage
Container
Type (e.g.

[**])  Flash Point 

NFPA 704 Hazard Classification
[Health, Flammability, Reactivity]

(e.g. 1, 2, 3 or 4)

Confidential Materials omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
A total of 8 pages were omitted. [**]
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EXHIBIT G
 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:
 
Belmont Savings Bank
Attn: Tanis A. Meakin
2 Leonard Street
Belmont, MA 02478    
   Space above for Recorder’s Use

SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE
AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT

This Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the      day of             , 2016 by and between
Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., a Delaware corporation with an address of 15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA 01730 (the “Tenant”), WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, a
Massachusetts limited liability company having an address of c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC, 120 Water Street, 3rd Floor, Boston, MA 02109 (the
“Landlord”), and Belmont Savings Bank, a Massachusetts bank having an address of 2 Leonard Street, Belmont, MA 02478 (the “Lender”).

RECITALS

A. The Tenant and Landlord have entered into a certain Lease dated as of May 31, 2016_(the “Lease”) covering certain property located at 15 Crosby
Drive, Bedford, Massachusetts, together with all improvements located thereon and all easements and rights appurtenant thereto (collectively, the “Property”),
which constitutes a portion of the Mortgaged Property encumbered by the Mortgage (as defined below).

B. The Lender is the mortgagee under a certain Mortgage and Security Agreement on or about the date hereof (the “Mortgage”) by the Landlord in favor of
the Lender, which Mortgage is or will be recorded in the Middlesex South County Registry of Deeds, encumbering the Property and recorded prior to the
recording hereof. The Mortgage secures certain obligations to the Lender as more particularly described therein.

C. In connection with the Landlord’s grant of the Mortgage, the Lender has requested that the Tenant enter into a subordination and attornment with respect
to the Lease, and the Tenant has requested that the Lender enter into a non-disturbance agreement with the Tenant with respect to the Lease.

AGREEMENTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants hereinafter contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and in order to induce the Lender to make the Loan to the Landlord, the parties hereto covenant and agree as
follows:

1. Subordination. The Lease, the leasehold estate created thereby, and all rights and privileges of Tenant thereunder shall be subject and subordinate to the
lien of the Mortgage and to any renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions of the Mortgage to the full extent of the obligations now or
hereafter secured by the Mortgage.
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2. Non-Disturbance. So long as Tenant is not in default, beyond any period given to Tenant to cure a default, in the payment of rent or in the performance
of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of the Lease, Tenant’s possession of the Property and Tenant’s rights and privileges under the Lease, including any
extensions or renewals, shall not be diminished or interfered with by the Lender during the term of the Lease or any extensions or renewals. So long as Tenant is
not in default, beyond any period given Tenant to cure such default, in the payment of rent or in the performance of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of
the Lease, the Lender will not join Tenant as a party for the purpose of terminating or otherwise affecting Tenant’s interest under the Lease, in any action of
foreclosure or other proceeding brought by the Lender to enforce any rights arising because of any default under the Mortgage. The Lender may, however, join
Tenant as a party if joinder is necessary under any statute or law to secure the remedies available to the Lender under the Mortgage, but joinder shall be for that
purpose only and not for the purpose of terminating the Lease or affecting Tenant’s right to possession of the Property.

3. Attornment. If the Landlord’s interest is transferred to and owned by Lender or any successor of Lender (the “Acquiring Party”) because of foreclosure
or other proceedings brought by Lender, or by any other manner, and Lender succeeds to Landlord’s interest under the Lease, Tenant shall be bound to the
Acquiring Party, and Acquiring Party shall be bound to Tenant under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the remaining term,
including any extensions or renewals, with the same effect as if Acquiring Party were Landlord under the Lease. Tenant agrees to attorn to Acquiring Party as the
Landlord, with the attornment being effective and self-operable immediately upon Acquiring Party succeeding to the interest of Landlord under the Lease, all
without the execution by the parties of any further instruments. However, Tenant shall not be obligated to pay rent to Acquiring Party until Tenant receives
written notice from Acquiring Party, together with evidence satisfactory to Tenant, demonstrating that Acquiring Party has succeeded to Landlord’s interest under
the Lease and directing where rent should be mailed. The respective rights and obligations of Tenant and Acquiring Party upon attornment, to the extent of the
then-remaining balance of the term of the Lease, shall be the same as in the Lease, which is incorporated by reference in this Agreement. If Acquiring Party
succeeds to Landlord’s interest in the Lease, Acquiring Party shall be bound to Tenant under all the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease, and Tenant
shall, after Acquiring Party’s succession to Landlord’s interest, have the same remedies against Acquiring Party for the breach of any agreement in the Lease that
Tenant might have had against Landlord.
In no event shall the Acquiring Party be:
 

 (a) liable for any act or omission of Landlord, or any predecessor(s) in interest to Landlord in the capacity of Landlord under the Lease, if any (together,
the “Prior Landlord”, which was to have been performed under the Lease;

 

 
(b) bound by the payment of any basic rent, additional rent or any other payments which Tenant might have paid under the Lease for more than one

month in advance to Landlord or Prior Landlord under the Lease, except with respect to estimated payments on account of taxes and operating
expenses to the extent actually paid to Landlord and to the extent provided in the Lease;

 

 (c) bound by any amendment or modification of the Lease made without Lender’s prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed) and not otherwise permitted under the Mortgage and/or the Assignment; and

 

 

(d) bound by any consent by Landlord under the Lease to any assignment of Tenant’s interest in the Lease or any sublease of all or any portion of the
premises under the Lease (the “Leased Premises”) made without Lender’s prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed) provided that consent shall not be required for any assignment of this Lease or subletting of the Leased Premises permitted
under Section 9.6 of the Lease.

4. No Change in Lease and No Prepayment. Landlord and Tenant agree not to change, alter, amend or otherwise modify the Lease without the prior written
consent of Lender, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Any change, alteration, amendment, or other modification to the Lease without
the prior written consent of Lender shall be void as to Lender. Landlord and Tenant Agree that no rent has been prepaid more
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than one (1) month in advance and that, without the prior written consent of the Lender, no rent will be prepaid more than one (1) month in advance. Any such
prepayment made without the Lender’s prior written consent shall be deemed not to be a payment of rent as to the Lender’s rights under the Lease and under this
Agreement and the amount prepaid to Landlord shall remain due and owing in full from the Tenant to Lender despite the prepayment of that rent to the Landlord.

5. Notice of Lease Default. The Tenant hereby covenants and agrees to give the Lender written notice properly specifying wherein the Landlord under the
Lease has failed to perform any of the covenants or obligations of the Landlord under the Lease, simultaneously with the giving of any notice of such default to
the Landlord under the provisions of the Lease. The Tenant agrees that the Lender shall have the right, but not the obligation, within thirty (30) days after receipt
by the Lender of such notice or within such additional time as is reasonably required to correct any such default or is provided for in the Lease, whichever is
longer (except in certain emergency circumstances when any covenant or obligation of the Landlord under the Lease can be performed as soon as reasonably
possible) to correct or remedy, or cause to be corrected or remedies, each such default, provided Lender commences such correction within such thirty (30) day
period and diligently pursues such correction to completion, before the Tenant may take any action under the Lease by reason of such default.

6. Authority. If any party is a corporation, limited liability company, or a partnership, all individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of such
corporation, limited liability company, or partnership represent and warrant that they are authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the
corporation, limited liability company, or partnership and that this Agreement is binding upon such corporation, limited liability company, or partnership.

7. Notices. In this Agreement, wherever it is required or permitted that notice and demand be given by any party to another party, that notice or demand
shall be given in writing and sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by recognized overnight delivery service (such as Federal Express),
in all cases with postage and charges prepaid, addressed as follows:
 

For Landlord:   WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC
  Attn: Erika E. Clarke, Vice President of Asset Management
  c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC
  120 Water Street, 3rd Floor
  Boston, MA 02109

For Tenant:   Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
  Attn: Jim Fortune, COO
  15 Crosby Drive
  Bedford, MA 01730

For Lender:   Belmont Savings Bank
  Attn: Tanis A. Meakin
  2 Leonard Street
  Belmont, MA 02478

All written notices shall be considered effective when received. Any party may change an address given for notice by giving written notice of that change
by certified mail to all other parties.

8. Parties Bound; Interpretation. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective successors and assigns. As
used herein, the term “Tenant” shall include the Tenant and its successors and assigns, and the term “Landlord” shall include the Landlord and its successors and
assigns. The foregoing references to successors and assigns of the Tenant and the Landlord are not intended to and do not constitute consent by the Landlord or
the Lender to any assignment or sublease by Tenant of its interests under the Lease or any consent by the Lender to any assignment by Landlord of its interests
under the Lease. The words “foreclosure” and “foreclosure sale” as used herein shall be deemed to include the acquisition of the Landlord’s estate in the Property
by voluntary deed (or assignment) in lieu of foreclosure, and the words “mortgagee”, “Bank”, and “Lender” shall include the holder of the mortgage herein
specifically named and any of its successors and
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assigns, and anyone who shall have succeeded to Landlord’s interest in the Property by, through or under foreclosure of the Mortgage, including, without
limitation, any purchaser of the Property through foreclosure or any successor or assign thereof. The use of the neuter gender in this Agreement shall be deemed
to include any other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held to include the plural, when the sense requires.

9. Amendments. This Agreement shall not be modified or amended except in writing signed by all parties hereto.

10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with and governed by the law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

11. Miscellaneous. This Agreement may not be modified other than by an agreement in writing signed by the parties or by their respective successors in
interest. If any party commences any action against any other party based on this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney
fees, expenses, and costs of suit. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. The
headings of this Agreement are for reference only and shall not limit or define any meaning of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts, each of which is an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement is the product of arms’ length
negotiation and the provisions of this agreement shall therefore be construed and interpreted without regard to the rule of construction favoring an interpretation
against the drafter of such provisions.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]
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WITNESS the execution hereof under seal on the day and year first above written.
 
WITNESSES    LENDER:

   BELMONT SAVINGS BANK

                                            By   
   Name:  Tanis A. Meakin
   Title:  Senior Vice President

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

                    , ss.,

On this      day of             , 2016, before me personally appeared Tanis A. Meakin, Senior Vice President of Belmont Savings Bank, and proved to me through
satisfactory evidence of identification, which was                     , to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged
to me that she signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose and acknowledged the foregoing to be the free act and deed of Belmont Savings Bank.
 

 
Notary Public
My commission expires:

[see next page for Tenant’s signature]
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WITNESS    TENANT:

   OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.

                                            By   
   Name: 
   Title:  

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

                    , ss.,

On this      day of             , 2016, before me personally appeared                     ,                      of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc., and proved to me through satisfactory
evidence of identification, which was                     , to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that
he signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose, and acknowledged the foregoing to be the free act and deed of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.
 

 
Notary Public
My commission expires:

[see next page for Landlord’s signature]
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 WITNESS   LANDLORD:

   WS NV 15 CROSBY DRIVE, LLC

                                            By:   
   Name: 
   Title:  

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

                    , ss.,

On this      day of             , 2016, before me personally appeared [                    ], as [                    ] of WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC and proved to me through
satisfactory evidence of identification, which was                     , to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged
to me that he signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose, and acknowledged the foregoing to be the free act and deed of WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC.
 

 
Notary Public

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES
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EXHIBIT H

TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
 
TO: Belmont Savings Bank

2 Leonard Street
Belmont, MA 02478
Attn: Tanis A. Meakin

WS NV 15 CROSBY DRIVE, LLC
c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC
120 Water Street, 3rd Floor
Boston, MA 02109
Attn: Erika E. Clarke

 
RE: 15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA

Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Tenant”) certifies that:

1. The undersigned is the Tenant under that certain lease dated             , 2016 (the “Lease”) executed WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company having an address of c/o Novaya Real Estate Ventures, LLC, 120 Water Street, 3rd Floor, Boston, MA 02109 (the “Borrower”) as Landlord and the
undersigned as Tenant.

2. Pursuant to the Lease,

a. Tenant has leased approximately 70,712 square feet of rentable space in the building at 15 Crosby Drive, Bedford, MA (the “Leased Premises”);

b. Tenant has paid to Landlord a security deposit of $1,500,000.00;

c. the expiration date of the Lease (exclusive of unexercised extension options) is                     ;

d. Tenant has two (2) options to extend the term for five (5) years each;

e. Tenant has paid rent through                     ;

f. the next rental payment in the amount of $         is due on the      day of                     ;

g. rental during the respective extension terms is as set forth in the Lease; and

h. no allowances are due to Tenant under the Lease except as follows:                     
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3. The Lease is in full force and effect and there are no amendments, modifications or supplements thereto, whether oral or written, except as follows:
 

                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                              .

4. True, correct and complete copies of the Lease and of all amendments, modifications and supplements thereto are attached hereto.

5. All space and improvements leased by Tenant have been completed and furnished in accordance with the provisions of the Lease, subject to punch list items.

6. Tenant has accepted and is occupying the Leased Premises.

7. To the best knowledge of Tenant, Landlord is not in default in the performance of the terms and provisions of the Lease and no event has occurred which, with
the giving or notice or the passage of time, or both, would result in a default by Landlord under the Lease.

8. To the best knowledge of Tenant, Tenant is not in default under the Lease. Tenant is not in arrears on any rent or other charges payable by Tenant under the
Lease. Tenant has not assigned, transferred or, except as set forth below and permitted under the Lease, hypothecated the Lease or any interest therein or, except
as set forth below and permitted under the Lease, subleased all or any portion of the Leased Premises.
 

                                                                                  
 

                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                              .

9. Tenant has not received any notice of any present violation of any federal, state, county or municipal laws, regulations, ordinances, orders or directives relating
to the use of condition of the Leased Premises or the property of which the Leased Premises is a part.

10. To the best knowledge of Tenant, there are no existing defenses, offsets, liens, claims or credits against rentals payable under the Lease. No free periods of
rental concessions have been granted to Tenant, except as set forth in the Lease.

11. Except as expressly provided in the Lease, and other documents attached hereto, Tenant does not have any right or option to renew or extend the term of the
Lease, to lease other space within the building of which the Leased Premises are a part, nor any preferential right to purchase all or any part of the Leased
Premises.

This Certificate is given to Belmont Savings Bank (the “Lender”) and the Borrower with the understanding that Lender and Borrower and their respective
successors and assigns will rely hereon in connection with Lender’s making a loan secured by a lien on the property of which the Leased Premises constitute a
part.
 

TENANT:

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC., a Delaware corporation
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Dated:                       By:   
  Name: 
  Title:  
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Exhibit 10.2

Execution Version

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED
CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as
of June 20, 2016, by and among OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC., a Delaware corporation, (“Borrower”), MIDCAP FUNDING III TRUST, a Delaware
statutory trust, in its capacity as administrative agent (“Agent”) for the lenders under the Credit Agreement (as defined below) (“Lenders”), and the Lenders.

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agent are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of
December 3, 2015 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized terms used herein have
the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement except as otherwise expressly defined herein), pursuant to which Lenders have agreed to provide to
Borrower certain loans and other extensions of credit in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof;

WHEREAS, Borrower, Agent and Lenders desire to amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement in accordance with, and subject to, the terms
and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the covenants and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Borrower, Lenders and Agent hereby agree as follows:

1. Acknowledgment of Obligations. Borrower hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that all Credit Extensions made prior to the date hereof,
together with interest accrued and accruing thereon, and fees, costs, expenses and other charges owing by Borrower to Agent and Lenders under the Credit
Agreement and the other Financing Documents, are unconditionally owing by Borrower to Agent and Lenders, without offset, defense or counterclaim of any
kind, nature or description whatsoever except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to
or affecting creditor’s rights generally.



2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the conditions to effectiveness
set forth in Section 5 below, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following new definition of Specified SVB Letter of Credit to such
section in appropriate alphabetical sequence:

““Specified SVB Letter of Credit” means letter of credit number SVBSF011096 issued by Silicon Valley Bank for the account of
Borrower and for the benefit of WS NV 15 Crosby Drive, LLC, Borrower’s landlord for its location at 15 Crosby Drive, Bedford,
Massachusetts, in the initial stated amount of $1,500,000 and any renewal thereof or replacement letter of credit issued by Silicon
Valley Bank for the same purpose and for the same or a lesser amount.”

(b) Section 15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (k) of the definition of Permitted Liens contained in such section
and inserting the following in lieu thereof:

“(k) Liens in favor of Silicon Valley Bank on cash and/or securities in connection with the provision by Silicon Valley Bank to
Borrower of cash management services (including, without limitation, merchant services, direct deposit of payroll, business credit cards and
check cashing services) and letters of credit, in an aggregate amount not to exceed (1) at any time while the Specified SVB Letter of Credit
remains outstanding, the lesser of (a) the amount outstanding for such cash management services and letters of credit and (b) the sum of
(i) the then current stated amount of the Specified SVB Letter of Credit plus (ii) Four Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00), and (2) at
any other time, the lesser of (a) the amount outstanding for such cash management services and letters of credit and (b) Four Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00).”

3. No Other Amendments. Except for the amendments set forth and referred to in Section 2, the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents
shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect and Borrower hereby ratifies and reaffirms all of its obligations under the Credit Agreement and the other
Financing Documents as amended by this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to constitute a novation or an accord and
satisfaction of any of Borrower’s Obligations or to modify, affect or impair the perfection or continuity of Agent’s security interests in, security titles to or other
liens, for the benefit of itself and the Lenders, on any Collateral for the Obligations.

4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Agent and Lenders to enter into this Agreement, Borrower does hereby warrant, represent and covenant to
Agent and Lenders that (i) each representation or warranty of Borrower set forth in the Credit Agreement and other Financing Documents are hereby restated and
reaffirmed as true, accurate and complete in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as if such representation or warranty were made on and as of the
date hereof (provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified
by materiality in the text thereof, and provided, further, that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and
complete in all material respects as of such date), (ii) both before and after giving effect to this Agreement, no Default or Event of
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Default has occurred and is continuing and (iii) Borrower has the power and is duly authorized and has obtained all necessary consents and has taken all
necessary actions to enter into, deliver and perform this Agreement and this Agreement is the legal, valid and binding obligation of Borrower enforceable against
Borrower in accordance with its terms.

5. Condition Precedent to Effectiveness of this Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective as of the date (the “Amendment Effective Date”)
upon which:

(a) Borrower shall have reimbursed Agent and Lenders for all fees, costs and expenses presented as of the Amendment Effective Date;

(b) Agent shall notify Borrower in writing that Agent has received one or more counterparts of this Agreement duly executed and delivered by
Borrower, Agent and Lenders, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and Lenders; and

(c) Agent shall have received all other documents and instruments as Agent or any Lender may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate to
effectuate the intent and purpose of this Agreement.

6. Release.

(a) In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Borrower, on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates and Subsidiaries and each of their respective
successors, assigns, and other legal representatives, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably releases, remises and forever discharges
Agent and each Lender and their respective successors and assigns, and their respective present and former shareholders, affiliates, subsidiaries,
divisions, predecessors, directors, officers, attorneys, employees, agents and other representatives (Agent, Lenders and all such other persons being
hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Releasees” and individually as a “Releasee”), of and from all demands, actions, causes of action, suits,
covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, sums of money, accounts, bills, reckonings, damages and any and all other claims,
counterclaims, defenses, rights of set-off, demands and liabilities whatsoever (individually, a “Claim” and collectively, “Claims”) of every name and
nature, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, both at law and in equity, which Borrower or any of its successors, assigns, or other legal
representatives may now or hereafter own, hold, have or claim to have against the Releasees or any of them for, upon, or by reason of any
circumstance, action, cause or thing whatsoever which arises at any time on or prior to the Amendment Effective Date, including, without limitation,
for or on account of, or in relation to, or in any way in connection with the Credit Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents or
transactions thereunder or related thereto.

(b) Borrower understands, acknowledges and agrees that its release set forth above may be pleaded as a full and complete defense and may be
used as a basis for an injunction against any action, suit or other proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted or attempted in breach of the
provisions of such release.
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(c) Borrower agrees that no fact, event, circumstance, evidence or transaction which could now be asserted or which may hereafter be
discovered shall affect in any manner the final, absolute and unconditional nature of the release set forth above.

7. Covenant Not To Sue. Borrower, on behalf of itself and its successors, assigns, and other legal representatives, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and
irrevocably, covenants and agrees with and in favor of each Releasee that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding or otherwise) any
Releasee on the basis of any Claim released, remised and discharged by Borrower pursuant to Section 6 above. If Borrower or any of its successors, assigns or
other legal representatives violates the foregoing covenant, Borrower, for itself and its successors, assigns and legal representatives, agrees to pay, in addition to
such other damages as any Releasee may sustain as a result of such violation, all attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by any Releasee as a result of such violation.

8. Advice of Counsel. Each of the parties represents to each other party hereto that it has discussed this Agreement with its counsel.

9. Severability of Provisions. In case any provision of or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any applicable
jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall
not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts (including by electronic mail (pdf) transmittal of executed signature pages),
each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

11. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL
LAWS OF THE STATE OF MARYLAND APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN SUCH STATE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE
PRINCIPLES THEREOF REGARDING CONFLICTS OF LAWS.

12. Entire Agreement. The Credit Agreement as and when amended through this Agreement embodies the entire agreement between the parties hereto
relating to the subject matter thereof and supersedes all prior agreements, representations and understandings, if any, relating to the subject matter thereof.

13. No Strict Construction, Etc. The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity
or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof
shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement. Time is of the essence for this Agreement.
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14. Costs and Expenses. Borrower absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay or reimburse upon demand for all reasonable fees, costs and expenses
incurred by Agent and the Lenders in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other Financing Documents
or other agreements prepared, negotiated, executed or delivered in connection with this Agreement or transactions contemplated hereby.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank; signature pages follow.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year specified at the
beginning hereof.
 

BORROWER:

OCULAR THERAPEUTIX, INC.

By:  /s/ W. Bradford Smith                 (SEAL)
Name:  Brad Smith
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

[Signatures continued on following page]
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AGENT:

MIDCAP FUNDING III TRUST,
as Agent for Lenders

By: Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager

By: Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner

By:  /s/ Maurice Amsellem                 (SEAL)
Name:  Maurice Amsellem
Title:  Its Authorized Signatory

[Signatures continued on following page]
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LENDERS:

MIDCAP FUNDING III TRUST

By: Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager

By: Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner

By:  /s/ Maurice Amsellem             (SEAL)
Name:  Maurice Amsellem
Title:  Its Authorized Signatory

[Signatures continued on following page]
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SILICON VALLEY BANK

By:  /s/ Clark Hayes                 (SEAL)
Name:  Clark Hayes
Title:  Director, Healthcare and Life Sciences

[Signatures continued on following page]
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SIGNATURE PAGE



FLEXPOINT MCLS SPV LLC

By:  /s/ Daniel Edelman                 (SEAL)
Name:  Daniel Edelman
Title:  Vice President

 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

SIGNATURE PAGE



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 9, 2016   By: /s/ Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D.

   Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D.
   President and Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, W. Bradford Smith, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 9, 2016   By: /s/ W. Bradford Smith

   W. Bradford Smith
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2016 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 9, 2016   By: /s/ Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D.

   Amarpreet Sawhney, Ph.D.
   President and Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ocular Therapeutix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2016 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, W. Bradford Smith, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 9, 2016   By: /s/ W. Bradford Smith

   W. Bradford Smith
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


